pISSN: 2220-7562 eISSN: 2617-9482 CODEN: JBUMB7 Recognized by HEC

JBUMDC

Journal of Bahria University Medical & Dental College

Volume 11 Issue 4, October - December 2021



Bahria University Medical & Dental College Adjacent PNS SHIFA, DHA Phase II, Karachi

JBUMDC
Journal of Bahria University Medical & Dental College
Peer Reviewed Multidisciplinary Quarterly Published Journal
ISSN (print): 2220-7562, ISSN (online): 2617-9482, CODEN: JBUMB7
Recognized by HEC
Online edition is available at URL: https://jbumdc.bahria.edu.pk,
Indexed with Index Medicus for the Eastern Mediterranean Region (IMEMR),
https://vlibrary.emro.who.int/journals/jbumdc-journal-of-bahria-university-medical-and-detal-college/
ROAD Directory of Open Access Scholarly Resources at https://portal.issn.org/resource/ISSN/2617-9482
Pakmedinet at www.pakmedinet.com/jbumdc,
Google Scholar at https://scholar.google.com.pk/,
Crossref at https://doi.org/10.51985/aluu2996
CiteFactor: https://www.citefactor.org/journal/index/27663/journal-of-bahria-university-
medical-and-dental-college#.YNwlqbDiuM8
IJIFACTOR: https://www.ijifactor.com/journaldetails.php?JOURNAL=JIF1318&NAME=Journal%20of%20
Bahria%20University%20Medical%20&%20Dental%20College
Advance Science Index: https://journal-index.org/index.php/asi/article/view/9253
Bahira University DSpace Repository at http://111.68.99.22:8080/xmlui/handle/123456789/6388,
Pakistan Scientific and Technological Information Center (PASTIC) at http://pastic.gov.pk/

Journal of Bahria University Medical & Dental College is an open access journal and is licensed under CC BY-NC 4.0. which permits unrestricted non commercial use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

To view a copy of this license, visit https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0





Correspondence Address:

Editor, JBUMDC, Bahria University Medical & Dental College, Adjacent PNS SHIFA,

DHA Phase II, Karachi Pakistan

- **L** +92-21-35319491-9
- https//jbumdc.bahria.edu.pk
- Seditor.bumdc@bahria.edu.pk
- https://www.facebook.com/jbumdc/, https://www.facebook.com/journal.bumdc.7

Published by: Bahria University Medical & Dental College



JBUMDC

Journal of Bahria University Medical & Dental College Recognized by HEC

Patron-in-Chief Vice Admiral Kaleem Shaukat HI(M) Rector Bahria University

> Associate Editors Shakeel Ahmed

Shama Asghar

Saman Hakeem Khalid Aziz Patron Vice Admiral Khalid Amin (R) HI(M) Director General BUMDC

Editor-in-Chief Ambreen Usmani **Editor** Iqbal Hussain Udaipurwala Managing Editor Kiran Fatima Mehboob Bana

Assistant Editors Ammara Hameed

Members - National

Asad Javaid (BMUH) Farzeen S. Waseem (DIKIOHS) Hina Zafar Raja (CMH Lahore) Hussain Mehdi (JMDC) Jodat Askari (LCMD) M Pervaiz Sandela (LCMD) M Sameer Qureshi (DUHS) M.Khuwaja Hammaduddin (DIKIOHS) Nighat Huda (LNH) Rashina Hoshang Sukia (AKUH) Rozina Nazir (FUCD) Rubina Ghani (JMDC) Salman Matiullah (JMDC) Syed Yawar Ali Abdi (SIOHS) Talib Hussain (WMDC) Tanveer Jilani (AKUH) Tayyaba Saleem (IMDC) Zeba Ahmed (DUHS) Zeba Haque (DUHS)

Members - International

Bugra Ozen (Turkey) Ghulam Mustafa Surti (USA) Gökmen ÖzcgriraN (Turkey) Mukhtiar Baig (KSA) Reem M. N. Alariqi (China) Shazia Iqbal (KSA) Zarrin Seema Siddiqui (Veitnam)

Technical Assistant Mirza Hassan Ahmed

Plagiarism Check Ghulam Ashdar **English Language Advisor** Mirza Uzma Shabbir

Statistician Muhammad Faisal Fahim

JBUMDC Journal of Bahria University Medical & Dental College Volume-11, Issue-4. October - December 2021

CONTENTS

Editorial	
Covid-19: A New Cause for Taste and Smell Dysfunction Iqbal Hussain Udaipurwala	142
Original Articles	
Clinical Effects of Amoxicillin-clavulanate and Calcium Hydroxide as Intracanal Medicament on Inter appointment Pain among Symptomatic Apical Periodontitis Naresh Kumar, Rajesh Kumar, Priya Harjani, Sarang Suresh	144
Post-operative Pain Outcomes of Laparoscopic Ventral Hernia Repair (LVHR): An eight-year experience Shahid Rasul, Hassan Ahmed, Sanum Ali, Surrendar Dawani, Sarah Zahid, Sehrish Hussain, Salman Jafferi, Mansab Ali	148
An Audit of Maternal Mortality at a Tertiary Care Hospital Shazia Naseeb, Piranka Kumari, Iqra Jam, Haleema Yasmin	153
Assessment of Knowledge and Practices of Wearing Medical Masks and Respirators during COVID-19 Pandemic Javaria Saleem, Eelaf Karar, Omer Farooq Choudary, Faiq Munir Shaikh, Rida E Fatima, Farooq Azam Rathore	158
Mirizzi Syndrome- Our Experience in Laparoscopic Era Syed Mukarram Hussain, Asrar Ahmad, Muhammad Awais Mughal, Irum Saleem, Saqib Islam	165
Interest and Attitudes of Medical, Dental Students and Graduates Towards Pursuing Career in Basic Sciences Emal Heer, Sohail Saadat, Omaima Anis Bhatti	168
Outcomes of Gestational Diabetes Mellitus in Pakistani Mothers: An Experience of a Tertiary Care Hospital Samina Naseem Khattak, Abid Hussain Shah, Ayesha Imran, Muhammad Irfan Khattak, Khurram Mansoor, Asma Naveed Memon	174
Anaesthesia Concern in High-Risk Cases Under-Going Ambulatory Laparoscopic Cholecystectomy Muhammad Salman Maqbool, Muhammad Alam, Muhammad Umer Draz, Ayesha Shahid, Shumaila Ashfaq	179
Case Report	
Primary Renal Lymphoma – A Challenging Diagnosis Kanwal Ali, M. Anis Ul Islam, Fahad Mushtaque, Hussain Ahmad, Haroon Sabir Khan, Mahwish Mahboob Bhutta	184
Commentry	
Ameliorate Patient Care and Safety with Technology Nasim Karim	187
Letter to Editor	
Transition from Conventional Teaching to Remote Setting in Health Education Hajra Asghar, Kulsoom Fatima Rizvi	190
Author Index	191
Subject Index	194
Instructions to Author	

Covid-19: A New Cause for Taste and Smell Dysfunction

Iqbal Hussain Udaipurwala

How to cite this Article:

Udaipurwala IH. Covid-19: A New Cause for Taste and Smell Dysfunction. J Bahria Uni Med Dental Coll. 2020;11(4):142-143 DOI: https://doi.org/10.51985/JBUMDC2021071

This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License (http:// creativecommons/org/licences/by-nc/4.0) which permits unrestricted non commercial use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Dysfunction of the sense of smell and taste may have severe impact on quality of life and overall health. Detection of bad smell in the local environment is a warning sign for a person and a good smell is pleasurable in life. Similarly sense of taste is also very important for pleasure and to avoid intake of hazardous meal or drink. Unfortunately, knowledge about the smell and taste dysfunction is very limited and little work has been conducted in this field. There is a long list of disorders and diseases that can affect and disturb olfactory and gustatory functions, ranging from the local to central neurological causes. Virtually any disease of the nose or paranasal sinuses can cause hyposmia or anosmia, the common being chronic rhino-sinusitis, atrophic rhinitis, nasal polypi, allergic rhinitis or neoplasia. The neurological causes may include any pathology that can affect olfactory nerves, olfactory bulb and their central connections or the primary olfactory cortex. A new cause in the list is COVID-19 infection for which medical fraternity is thriving hard to unveil the underlying mechanisms responsible for producing features.

With the recent pandemic of COVID-19, there is an explosion of patients in hospitals with varied symptoms from just fever to multiple organ failure.¹ A typical case of COVID-19 presents with fever and dry cough which may progress to pneumonia.² Majority of the symptoms are related with the upper or lower respiratory tract involvement by the virus. Various studies have been published emphasizing about new and atypical symptoms of COVID-19 related with taste and smell dysfunction.^{3,4} The incidence of olfactory dysfunction have been reported in viral infections like rhinovirus, parainfluenza virus, Epstein-Barr virus and corona virus in the past as well.^{5,6} Though in COVID-19 patients, this smell dysfunction is not related with nasal obstruction and nasal discharge. Cases have been recorded where isolated taste and smell loss is present with no other symptom of COVID-19 like fever, rhinorrhoea, body ache, breathlessness or cough etc.7

The objective assessment of olfactory and gustatory functions are not routinely performed in general health/medical

Iqbal Hussain Udaipurwala Professor, Department of ENT Bahria University Medical and Dental College, Karachi Received: 28. Sep. 2021

Received: 28-Sep-2021 Accepted: 08-Oct-2021 checkup. The clinicians and physicians rely only on selfreporting of the symptom. Many of the patients are even unaware of any dysfunction present in these two special senses. According to one study from Europe, the olfactory and taste dysfunction occurrence in COVID-19 patients is around 85.6% and 88.8% respectively.8 A local study from Pakistan showed association of anosmia in 43.75% and ageusia in 31.25%.⁹ In addition, these smell and taste dysfunction may appear before, during or even after development of other typical symptoms of COVID-19. The present data depicts that the incidence of these two symptoms in European patients is much higher than the rest of the world. As taste and smell loss can be the only and early symptom of COVID-19, it should bear in mind when considering differential diagnosis in such situation. The time period for recovering from these two symptoms also varied from days to weeks to months even after improving all other symptoms.8

The fundamental pathophysiological mechanism for smell and taste dysfunction among COVID-19 patients is still unclear. It is not only related with nasal, oral and olfactory mucosa rather there is involvement of nerves and central nervous system. The viruses are known to effect nerves and central nervous system. The neurological involvement in COVID-19 patients, is broadly classified into symptoms related with the central nervous system and peripheral nervous system. The central nervous system manifestation may include, dizziness, headache, altered consciousness, epilepsy and acute cerebrovascular lesions. The peripheral nervous system manifestations are anosmia, hyposmia, ageusia, hypogeusia, muscular pain and muscle weakness.¹⁰ In animal studies, it has been suggested that SARS-CoV (human angiotensin converting enzyme 2) may go into the central nervous tissues through the olfactory bulb.¹¹ Neurological involvement may occur in about 35% of all COVID-19 patients which may be much higher in patients with severe symptoms. The objective assessment of the smell and taste function through some objective tests are lacking, mainly because of the risk of disease transmission in current pandemic. With proper training and teaching, some of the objective tests like smell identification with UPSIT and chemical gustometry to differentiate taste can be done through telemedicine or through video consultation. Secondly with proper protective measures clinical examination, nasal endoscopy, electrophysiological tests for

smell and taste and laboratory tests can be performed safely to further investigate about etiology, pathophysiology and outcome in these patients.

As far as treatment of smell and taste dysfunction is concerned, there is no specific therapy for it. Use of corticosteroid either systemic or intranasal is also of doubtful value. It may be used to reduce inflammation in the nervous tissue but in turn it can flare up the primary viral infection. Olfactory training is another approach to improve smell dysfunction after COVID-19 infection. A neuroprotective treatment and approaches that can check the invasion of SARS-CoV-2 to the central nervous system are next needed tactics in our fight against COVID-19.¹²

In conclusion, involvement of smell and taste function in COVID-19 may occur in many patients. There is a wide range in incidence from 5% to 98% depending upon the different methodology utilized in geographical region focused in the study. Considering all above facts and figures, following are the suggestions or possible solutions to physicians such as otorhinolaryngologists, pulmonologists who are dealing with COVID-19 patients baring taste and smell dysfunctions.

- 1. Advise for isolation and further investigations even if the patient presents with symptoms of taste and smell dysfunction only.
- 2. Reassure the patient as symptoms are likely to be resolved but recovery period varies greatly.
- 3. Brief the patient about association of COVID-19 virus with different mutations and clinical manifestations
- 4. Formulate a multidisciplinary team comprised of general physician, otolaryngologist, pulmonologist, pathologist, microbiologist etc for quality treatment and management of patients.
- Conduct detailed studies with examination/endoscopic findings, psychophysiological tests and electrophysiological tests of olfactory and gustatory functions.
 - **Authors Contribution:**

Iqbal Hussain Udaipurwala: Substantial contributions to the conception criticaly evaluation of intellectual content, final approval of the version to be published

REFERENCES

 Lee Y, Min P, Lee S, Kim SW. Prevalence and duration of acute loss of smell and taste in COVID-19 patients. J Korean Med Sci. 2020; 35(18): e174. DOI: https://doi.org/10.3346/ jkms.2020.35.e174.

- 2. Yang X, Yu Y, Xu J, Shu H, Xia J, Liu H, et al. Clinical course and outcomes of critically ill patients with SARS-CoV-2 pneumonia in Wuhan, China: a single-centered, retrospective, observational study. Lancet Respir Med 2020; 8(5): S2213-2600(20)30079-5.
- Mullol J, Alobid I, Mariño-Sánchez F, Izquierdo-Domínguez A, Marin C, Klimek Let al. The Loss of Smell and Taste in the COVID-19 Outbreak: a Tale of Many Countries. Curr Allergy Asthma Rep. 2020; 20(10): 61. DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s11882-020-00961-1.
- 4. Vaira LA, Salzano G, Fois AG, Piombino P, De Riu G. Potential pathogenesis of ageusia and anosmia in COVID-19 patients. Int Forum Allergy Rhinol. 2020; 10(9): 1103-1104. doi: 10.1002/alr.22593.
- Suzuki M, Saito K, Min WP, Vladau C, Toida K, Itoh H et al. Identification of viruses in patients with post-viral olfactory dysfunction. Laryngoscope 2007; 117(2): 272–277
- Van Riel D, Verdijk R, Kuiken T. The olfactory nerve: a shortcut for influenza and other viral diseases into the central nervous system. J Pathol. 2015; 235(2):277–287. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1002/path.446
- Hjelmesæth J, Skaare D. Loss of smell or taste as the only symptom of COVID-19. Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen. 2020; 140(7). DOI: https://doi.org/10.4045/tidsskr.20.0287.
- Lechien JR, Chiesa-Estomba CM, De Siati DR, Horoi M, Le Bon SD, Rodriguez A, et al. Olfactory and gustatory dysfunctions as a clinical presentation of mild-to-moderate forms of the coronavirus disease (COVID-19): a multicenter European study. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol. 2020; 277(8): 2251-2261. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s00405-020-05965-1.
- Iqbal M, Khan SW, Khan S, Ahmad W. Prevalence of Anosmia & Ageusia in confirmed COVID-19 patients at teaching hospitals of District Bannu and Swat, Pakistan. Int J Endorsing Health Sci Res. 2021; 9(2): 217-22. DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.29052 /IJEHSR. v9.i2.2021.217-222
- Koyuncu OO, Hogue IB, Enquist LW. Virus infections in the nervous system. Cell Host Microbe, 2013; 13(4): 379–393. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2013.03.010
- Netland J, Meyerholz DK, Moore S, Cassell M, Perlman S. Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus infection causes neuronal death in the absence of encephalitis in mice transgenic for human ACE2. J Virol, 2008; 82(15): 7264–7275. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.00737 -08
- 12. Baig AM, Wasay M. Covid-19 infection; loss of taste, smell, and neurogenic respiratory failure. Pak J Neurological Sci., 2020; 15(1): 1-2.



Clinical Effects of Amoxicillin-clavulanate and Calcium Hydroxide as Intracanal Medicament on Inter appointment Pain among Symptomatic Apical Periodontitis

Naresh Kumar, Rajesh Kumar, Priya Harjani, Sarang Suresh

ABSTRACT

Objective: To compare the clinical effects of Antibiotic amoxicillin-clavulanate and calcium hydroxide on inter appointment pain in cases of Symptomatic Apical Periodontitis.

Methodology: It was a single blind randomized controlled trial study performed in operative Dentistry Department of Liaquat University of Medical and Health Sciences Jamshoro. This study was conducted from 02-Jan-2017 to 27-June-2017. Total n=324 patients with symptomatic apical periodontitis were targeted. Patients were randomly allocated into two groups. Total n=162 patients in group1 treated with Antibiotic amoxicillin-clavulanate and n=162 patients in group 2 of calcium hydroxide. Procedure was performed by single operator. Clinical effect was assessed if pain present or absent after 24 hours and 7 days on recalled visit and was labeled as positive when there was no pain (0-3 on VAS) and as negative when there was pain (4-10 on VAS). Data of the study was analyzed by using the SPSS version 20. Mean and standard deviation was calculated for quantitative variables like age and pre and postoperative pain. Frequency and percentages were calculated for type of tooth. Both groups were compared by using Chi- square test for clinical effect.

Results: The average age of the patients was 39.807.36 years. There were 50% male and 50% female. Clinical effectiveness was significantly high in group 1 than group 2 [79.01% vs. 65.43% p=0.006].

Conclusion: The findings of this study are encouraging that patients in which Amoxicillin-clavulanate was used as intracanal medicament appeared to show a greater decrease in pain levels over the observation period when compared to the control group.

Keywords: Amoxicillin-clavulanate, Calcium Hydroxide, Flareup, Pain, Symptomatic Apical Periodontitis.

How to cite this Article:

Kumar N, Kumar R, Harjani P, Suresh S. Clinical Effects of Amoxicillin-clavulanate and Calcium Hydroxide as Intracanal Medicament on Inter appointment Pain among Symptomatic Apical Periodontitis. J Bahria Uni Med Dental Coll. 2021; 11(4):144-147 DOI: https://doi.org/10.51985/JBUMDC2021047

This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License (http:// creativecommons/org/licences/by-nc/4.0) which permits unrestricted non commercial use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

INTRODUCTION:

Pain due to pulpal pathology has been a main primary objective for the clinician during and after treatment. Main cause of pulpal pathology is different type of microorganism that leads to clinical sign and symptom.¹ Infection spread from pulp to apical area through apical foramen leads to inflammation. Symptomatic apical periodontitis can be defined as inflammation of supporting structures of the tooth

Naresh Kumar Assistant Professor, Department of Operative Dentistry Bhittai Medical & Dental College, Mirpurkhas

Rajesh Kumar

Consultant, Department of Operative Dentistry Liaguat University of Medical & Health Sciences, Jamshoro

Priya Harjani

L

Lecturer, Department of Oral Pathology Shaheed Mohtarma Benazir Bhutto Medical University, Larkana

Sarang Suresh

FCPS Resident, Department of Operative Dentistry, Liaquat University of Medical & Health Sciences, Jamshoro E-Mail: hotchandaniss@hotmail.com

Received: 17-Aug-2021 Accepted: 22-Sep-2021 in area, surrounding the apex of tooth.² Literature suggests that healing is 10-15% less when symptomatic apical periodontitis is present compared to isolated pulpal pathology after root canal treatment.³ Unable to decrease enough bacterial load that is required for perfect healing despite of good chemo mechanical preparation of root canals, due to presence of complex anatomy, canal ramification and cementum erosions.⁴ Therefore, additional antimicrobial local intracanal medication is required to eliminate most of bacteria.⁴⁻⁶ Most commonly used local intracanal medication is calcium hydroxide but it has limited effectiveness in eliminating all micro-organism. According to the study calcium hydroxide has been efficient in removing 81.8% of the intracanal bacteria after 7 days⁸ and the inclusion of other antimicrobials promotes improved disinfection.

The semi-synthetic antibiotic amoxicillin is combined with the lactamase inhibitor clavulanate potassium to form Augmentin. Amoxicillin-clavulanate is a broad-spectrum antibacterial agent that is bactericidal to most Gram-positive and Gram-negative pathogens.⁹ It was first used as a replacement for minocycline in triple antibiotic paste. Antibiotic amoxicillin-clavulanate is 100% effective against common endodontic infections.¹⁰ As an intracanal medicament, amoxicillin-clavulanate paste is helpful in eliminating periapical lesions and encouraging apical closure of an immature tooth with necrotic pulp.¹¹ Antibiotics as an intracanal medicament are crucial in regenerative treatment. Antibiotic combinations such as triple and quadruple antibiotic pastes might raise the risk of bacterial resistance even when used for short periods. Amoxicillin-clavulanate is drug of choice for management of acute peri radicular infection. Although limited research is available on its local application as intracanal medicaments, according to studies, Amoxicillin-clavulanate can eliminate 100% primary and persisted bacteria from canal.¹² Another pilot study was performed in which Amoxicillin-clavulanate was 70% effective in relieving inter appointment pain.¹³ Hence, this study was aimed to compare the clinical effects of Antibiotic amoxicillin-clavulanate and calcium hydroxide on inter appointment pain in cases of symptomatic apical periodontitis.

METHODOLOGY:

It was a single blind randomized controlled trial study performed in operative Dentistry Department of Liaquat University of Medical and Health Sciences Jamshoro. This study was conducted from 02-Jan-2017 to 27-June-2017. Study approval was obtained from institutional review board vide letter LUMHS/FD/0063/20. Total n=324 patients were selected for this study including 162 in each group. The expected population proportions for groups 1 and 2 were 70% and 81.8 percent, respectively, using the WHO sample size calculator with an alpha of 5% and a power of 80. They were divided in two groups 162 patient each with help of lottery method as group A (Amoxicillin-clavulanate 1g) and group B (Calcium Hydroxide). All permanent teeth diagnosed with symptomatic apical periodontitis of either gender, having age from 18 to 50 years were included in this study. Immature and previously endodontically treated or periodontally weakened teeth, allergy to Amoxicillinclavulanate, patient having systematic medical disease or on any analgesic drug were excluded from study. Written informed consent was obtained from all the patients before start of treatment. Before start of treatment preoperative pain score was recorded by using visual analog scale after giving local anesthesia with lignocaine 2%, teeth were isolated with rubber dam. Access opening was done with round bur in high-speed hand piece. Working length was measured on periapical radiograph using ISO K file # 15 .Canal was prepared with rotary protaper file system along with sodium hypochlorite 2.5% . Canal was dried with paper points. . In group A (Amoxicillin-clavulanate paste was prepared by mixing 1g of antibiotic powder with normal saline until creamy mix obtained) and in group B (calcium hydroxide powder mixed with normal saline until creamy paste obtained), then paste was inserted with the help of lentulo spiral up to working length followed by cotton pledged and cavity was sealed with temporary filling (CAVIT). Clinical effect was assessed if pain present or

absent after 24 hours and 7 days on recalled visit.

Clinical effect was labeled as positive when there was no pain (0-3 on VAS) and as negative when there were pains (4-10 on VAS). Data of the study was entered and analyzed by using the SPSS version 20. Mean and standard deviation was calculated for quantitative variables like age and pre and postoperative pain. Frequency and percentages were calculated for type of tooth. Both groups were compared by using Chi- square test for clinical effect.

RESULTS:

Total n=324 patients with symptomatic apical periodontitis were divided into two groups. The average age of the patients was 39.80 ± 7.36 years. Similarly average age and pain score at specific time is shown in table 1. Comparison of the clinical effect of Amoxicillin-clavulanate and calcium hydroxide on inter appointment pain stratified for teeth in table 2. Comparison of the clinical effect of Amoxicillinclavulanate 1g and calcium hydroxide on inter appointment pain in cases of symptomatic apical periodontitis is shown in table 3. Clinical effectiveness was significantly high in group 1 than group 2 [79.01% vs. 65.43% p=0.006].

Table 1: Descriptive Statistics of Age & Pain

Variables	G	roup1 =162	Group 2 n=162	
variables	Mean	Std. Deviation	Mean	Std. Deviation
Age (Years)	39.49	7.405	40.12	7.323
Pre-operative pain score	6.85	.858	6.94	.889
Pain Score After Day 1	2.75	1.366	3.60	1.463
Pain Score After 7 days	1.55	1.549	2.14	1.746

Table 2: Comparison of the Clinical Effect of Amoxicillinclavulanate and Calcium Hydroxide on Inter Appointment Pain Stratified for Teeth

Group		Effective	Not Effective	Total (n=324)
Crown	Molar	39 58.20%)	28 (41.80%)	67
Group	Premolar	43 87.75%)	06 (12.25%)	49
А	Canine	46 (100%)	00	46
Group	Molar	39 (52%)	36 (48%)	75
B	Premolar	18 (72%)	7 (28%)	25
D D	Canine	49 79.03%)	13 (20.97%)	62

Table 3: Comparison of the Clinical Effect of Amoxicillinclavulanate and Calcium Hydroxide on Inter Appointment Pain in Cases of Symptomatic Apical Periodontitis

Group of Study	Effective	Not Effective	Total	P Value
GROUP 01	128(79.01%)	34 (20.9%)	162	.006
GROUP 02	106(65.43%)	56(34.57%)	162	.006
TOTAL	234	90	324	.006

DISCUSSION:

Occurrence of interappointment pain is of very severe intensity during or after completion of procedure is called flareup. It occurs even following standard protocol of treatment^{14,15} due to various factors like persistent microorganism, mechanical and chemical damage by extrusion of material from apical foramen into periapical area results in inflammation.¹⁶ Other factor also modifies inter appointment pain like preoperative pain intensity, age, and gender.¹⁷⁻¹⁹ The frequent leading cause of pain is remaining microorganism that cannot be removed by conventional protocol because these microorganisms reside in area where conventional protocol doesn't have access. But it is suggested that use of antimicrobial intracanal medicament can eliminate these bacteria so that pain can be effectively eliminated.²⁰

The calcium hydroxide is the white odorless powder with pH 12.5-12.8. The high pH of this pure powder form is bacteriostatic. B.W. Herman developed it as a pulp capping agent in 1920. It was then used for intracanal medicaments, endodontic sealers, apexification, and pulpotomies.²¹ The success rate of apical periodontitis patients varied from 67 to 88.97 percent. Trope et al²² found an 80% healing rate with calcium hydroxide in two visits. Friedman et al²³ evaluated 4- to 6-year endodontic treatment results for teeth with apical periodontitis and found a 74% recovery rate. Paredes Vierya et al.²⁴ found that calcium hydroxide-treated teeth had an 88.97 percent success rate.

In present study Amoxicillin-clavulanate used as intracanal medicament to reduce these microorganism as it has broad spectrum anti-microbial effect and used as topical so that systematic effects are avoided. According to present study Amoxicillin-clavulanate found more effective compared to standard calcium hydroxide. Clinical effectiveness of Amoxicillin-clavulanate is 79.01% compared to calcium hydroxide 65.43 with P value .006. Another pilot study had also shown that Amoxicillin-clavulanate is more effective.¹³

Presence of preoperatively pain in experimental group is 6.85 is significantly of severe intensity but that is decreased with time after 24 hours and 1 week time. There was no significant difference found with in age and gender variable. But amoxicillin-clavulanate was found to be 100% effective in eliminate pain in canine teeth, while success in molar is not up to mark, was effective in 39 cases out of 67(58.2%). The reason for not getting promising results in molar teeth is presence of multiple canals, complex morphology, difficult to place intracanal medicament due to curved and narrowed canal. The results of present study are very promising to decrease interappointment pain used as intracanal medicament compared to control group. But effectiveness in molar was not appriciable so larger study is needed in future to evaluate effectiveness of Amoxicillin-clavulanate in molars as intracanal effectiveness.

CONCLUSION:

The findings of this study are encouraging that patients in which amoxicillin-clavulanate was used as intracanal medicament appeared to show a greater decrease in pain levels over the observation period when compared to the control group.

Authors Contribution:

- Naresh Kumar: Conception or design of the work; or the
- acquisition, analysis, or interpretation of data for the work and Final approval of the version to be published
- Rajesh Kumar: Acquisition & analysis of data and Final

Argesti Kunar: Acquisition & analysis of data and Final approval of the version to be published **Priya Harjani**: Interpretation of data and Final approval of the version to be published **Sarang Suresh**: Drafting of the work and Final approval of the version to be published

REFERENCES:

- 1. Schwendicke F, Göstemeyer G. Single-visit or multiple-visit root canal treatment: systematic review, meta-analysis and trial sequential analysis. BMJ Open. 2017;7(2):e013115.
- Wong AWY, Zhang S, Li SKY, Zhu X, Zhang C, Chu CH. 2. Incidence of post-obturation pain after single-visit versus multiple-visit non-surgical endodontic treatments. BMC Oral Health. 2015;15(1). Available from: DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.1186/s12903-015-0082-y
- Karamifar K, Tondari A, Saghiri MA. Endodontic Periapical 3. Lesion: An Overview on the Etiology, Diagnosis and Current Treatment Modalities. Eur Endod J. 2020;5(2):54-67.
- 4. Krause TA, Liewehr FR, Hahn C-L. The antimicrobial effect of MTAD, sodium hypochlorite, doxycycline, and citric acid on Enterococcus faecalis. J Endod. 2007;33(1):28-30.
- Brookes ZLS, Bescos R, Belfield LA, Ali K, Roberts A. Current uses of chlorhexidine for management of oral disease: a narrative review. J Dent. 2020;103:103497.
- 6. Teresa Arias-Moliz M, Ruiz-Linares M, Maria Ferrer-Luque C. Irrigating Solutions in Root Canal Treatment. Endo-Endodontic Pract Today. 2019;13(2):131-46.
- Prada I, Micó-Muñoz P, Giner-Lluesma T, Micó-Martínez P, 7. Muwaquet-Rodríguez S, Albero-Monteagudo A. Update of the therapeutic planning of irrigation and intracanal medication in root canal treatment. A literature review. J Clin Exp Dent. 2019;11(2):e185-93.
- Srikumar GP V, Sekhar KS, Nischith KG. Mixture tetracycline 8. citric acid and detergent - A root canal irrigant. A review. J Oral Biol Craniofacial Res. 2013;3(1):31-5.
- 9. Singla MG, Garg A, Gupta S. MTAD in endodontics: an update review. Oral Surgery, Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endodontology. 2011;112(3):e70-6.
- 10. Boutsioukis C, Arias-Moliz MT. Irrigating Solutions, Devices, and Techniques. In: Endodontic Materials in Clinical Practice. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd; 2021. p. 133-80.
- 11. Azim AA, Azim KA, Abbott P V. Prevalence of inter appointment endodontic flare-ups and host-related factors. Clin Oral Investig. 2017;21(3):889-94.
- 12. Mostafa MEHAA, El-Shrief YAI, Anous WIO, Hassan MW, Salamah FTA, El Boghdadi RM, et al. Postoperative pain following endodontic irrigation using 1.3% versus 5.25% sodium hypochlorite in mandibular molars with necrotic pulps: a randomized double-blind clinical trial. Int Endod J. 2020;53(2):154-66.

Clinical Effects of Amoxicillin-clavulanate and Calcium Hydroxide as Intracanal Medicament on Inter appointment Pain

- Singh RD, Khatter R, Bal RK, Bal CS. Intracanal medications versus placebo in reducing postoperative endodontic pain -A double-blind randomized clinical trial. Braz Dent J. 2013;24(1):25–9.
- Ruparel NB, Austah ON, Diogenes A. Current and Future Views on Disinfection for Regenerative Strategies. In: Duncan HF, Cooper PR, editors. Clinical Approaches in Endodontic Regeneration: Current and Emerging Therapeutic Perspectives. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2019. p. 121–38. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-96848-3_7
- 15. MidhatAbdul Gader Hussein H, Elkhodary S, Mohamed Ahmed G. Influence of Calcium Hydroxide Chlorhexidine Combination Vs. Calcium Hydroxide as Intra Ca-nal Medicaments on Postoperative Flare -Up Following two-Visit Endodontic Retreatment Cases: Single Blinded Randomized Clinical Trial. Acta Sci Dent Sciences. 2019;3(10):117–25.
- Basrani B, Santos JM, Tjäderhane L, Grad H, Gorduysus O, Huang J, et al. Substantive antimicrobial activity in chlorhexidine-treated human root dentin. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2002;94(2):240–5.
- Yoldas O, Topuz A, Isçi AS, Oztunc H. Postoperative pain after endodontic retreatment: single- versus two-visit treatment. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2004;98(4):483–7.
- Southard SR, Drisko CL, Killoy WJ, Cobb CM, Tira DE. The effect of 2% chlorhexidine digluconate irrigation on clinical parameters and the level of Bacteroides gingivalis in periodontal pockets. J Periodontol. 1989;60(6):302—309. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1902/jop.1989.60.6.302

- Mor C, Rotstein I, Friedman S. Incidence of interappointment emergency associated with endodontic therapy. J Endod. 1992;18(10):509—511. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0099-2399(06)81353-1
- Segura-Egea JJ, Cisneros-Cabello R, Llamas-Carreras JM, Velasco-Ortega E. Pain associated with root canal treatment. Int Endod J. 2009;42(7):614–20.
- 21. Harrison JW, Baumgartner CJ, Zielke DR. Analysis of interappointment pain associated with the combined use of endodontic irrigants and medicaments. J Endod. 1981;7(6):272–6.
- 22. Torabinejad M, Shabahang S, Aprecio RM, Kettering JD. The antimicrobial effect of MTAD: an in vitro investigation. J Endod. 2003;29(6):400—403. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1097/00004770-200306000-00005
- 23. Shabahang S, Torabinejad M. Effect of MTAD on Enterococcus faecalis-contaminated root canals of extracted human teeth. J Endod. 2003;29(9):576–9.
- 24. Newberry BM, Shabahang S, Johnson N, Aprecio RM, Torabinejad M. The Antimicrobial Effect of Biopure MTAD on Eight Strains of Enterococcus faecalis: An In Vitro Investigation. J Endod. 2007;33(11):1352–4.
- 25. Davis JM, Maki J, Bahcall JK. An in vitro comparison of the antimicrobial effects of various endodontic medicaments on Enterococcus faecalis. J Endod. 2007;33(5):567–9.



Post-operative Pain Outcomes of Laparoscopic Ventral Hernia Repair (LVHR): An eight-year experience

Shahid Rasul, Hassan Ahmed, Sanum Ali, Surrendar Dawani, Sarah Zahid, Sehrish Hussain, Salman Jafferi, Mansab Ali **ABSTRACT:**

Objective: To evaluate post-operative pain, recovery time and standard of living in patients undergoing LVHR in detail.

Study design and Setting: This prospective cohort study was conducted at a tertiary care hospital of Karachi, Pakistan, after getting approval from the "National Medical Centre Ethical Review Board", from January 2011 to December 2019,

Methodology: Total n= 577 patients undergoing standard LVHR procedure (defect closed with non-absorbable monofilament suture, reinforced with intra-abdominal dual layer mesh, anchored with non-absorbable tacks & sutures). Patient demographics, perioperative & postoperative findings and post-operative pain analysis were investigated and presented as descriptive statistics. Follow-up was carried out at 1st week, 2nd week, 3rd monthly, 6 monthly and 12 monthly post-operative appointments.

Results: During the study period of nine years (January 2011 to December 2019), 577 patients (primary ventral hernia n=232, recurrent ventral hernia n=188 patients, incisional hernia n=157) underwent LVHR. Mean post-operative hospital stay was 1.53 ± 1.8 days. Mean post-operative pain assessment on visual analog scale (VAS) after surgery (0-3days) was reported to be 38.5±29 by 65 patients out of 577 (11.26%), which significantly decreased at the end of 1st week to $27.9 \pm$ 25.6. Only 3 patients (0.51%) reported chronic pain during the span of 3-6 months.

Conclusion: LVHR was associated with considerably less post-operative pain, shorter hospital stay and reduced time of convalescence. It is demonstrated that LVHR to be a safe and superior approach for the repair ventral hernias.

Keywords: Chronic pain, Laparoscopic ventral hernia repair, Post-operative pain, Ventral hernia, Visual analog scale

How to cite this Article:

Rasul S, Ahmed H, Ali S, Dawani S, Zahid S, Hussain S, Jaffri S, Ali M. Post-operative Pain Outcomes of Laparoscopic Ventral Hernia Repair (LVHR): An eight-year experience. J Bahria Uni Med Dental Coll.2021;11(4):148-152.DOI: https://doi.org/10.51985/JBUMDC2021048 This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License (http:// creativecommons/org/licences/by-nc/4.0)

which permits unrestricted non commercial use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited. __________

I

L Shahid Rasul

L

L

L

L

I

L

L

Professor Department of Surgery (Surgical Ward 21, Unit-4) Jinnah Postgraduate Medical Centre, Karachi

L Hassan Ahmed

Post-Fellowship Trainee (Surgical Ward 21, Unit-4) Jinnah Postgraduate Medical Centre, Karachi

Sanum Ali

Assistant Professor, Department of Anatomy Basic Medical Sciences Institute (BMSI), Jinnah Postgraduate Medical Centre, Karachi Email: drdahri@gmail.com

Surrendar Dawani

Assistant Professor (Surgical Ward 21, Unit-4) Jinnah Postgraduate Medical Centre, Karachi

Sarah Zahid

Post Graduate Trainee, Department of Anatomy Basic Medical Sciences Institute (BMSI), Jinnah Postgraduate Medical Centre, Karachi

Sehrish Hussain

Post Graduate Trainee, Department of Anatomy Basic Medical Sciences Institute (BMSI), Jinnah Postgraduate Medical Centre, Karachi

Salman Jafferi

Post-Fellowship Trainee (Surgical Ward 21, Unit-4) Jinnah Postgraduate Medical Centre, Karachi

Mansab Ali

Senior registrar (Surgical Ward 21, Unit-4) Jinnah Postgraduate Medical Centre, Karachi

Received: 20-Aug-2021 Accepted: 28-Sep-2021 -----

INTRODUCTION:

One of the most common pathologies presenting in the surgical clinic is Ventral hernia, appearing as a bulge through an opening in the anterior abdominal wall.¹ Ventral hernia is a broad term and can be categorized as; epigastric, umbilical, paraumbilical, subcostal and Spigelian hernias and others, while incisional hernia is acquired in nature and occur at the site of any previous surgery through abdominal wall musculature.2

Ventral hernias are associated with abdominal discomfort, pain and deformed body image, leading to impaired patient's standard of living by creating hindrance in carrying out routine activities.³ More than 300,000 open ventral hernia repairs (OVHR) are performed in the United States each year for the repair of primary ventral hernia⁴, 2-30 % of them result in the development of incisional hernia, requiring approximately 90,000 repair procedures annually for its correction.5

Laparoscopic ventral hernia repair (LVHR) was introduced by LeBlanc and Booth in early 1990s and now it is being considered as a well-established procedure for the treatment of ventral hernia.⁶ The advantages it has over the conventional open repair include; minimal invasion, reduction in perioperative morbidity, less postoperative pain, reduced need of analgesics, shorter hospital stay and low recurrence rates followed by quick recovery.⁷ It also provides complete exploration of the abdominal cavity, making the parietal and visceral adhesiolysis easier, which is a basic step to maintain the stability of intestinal package and paramount factor in the reduction of the chronic abdominal pain, linked to the open repairs.⁸

In the recent years, attempts to evaluate the outcomes of different ventral hernia repair procedures have increased. LVHR has been extensively compared with OVHR for safety, morbidity and recurrence rates.^{9,10} However, there are only few studies in the literature evaluating incidence of acute & chronic pain and general well-being of patients post LVHR. This study was aimed to evaluate post-operative pain, recovery time and standard of living in patients undergoing LVHR in detail.

METHODOLOGY:

This prospective study was conducted among patients undergoing LVHR to characterize the repair of primary, recurrent and incisional ventral hernias, post-operative pain, period of recovery and standard of living in detail. Operative time, post-operative hospital stay, use of analgesics were also investigated for their potential association with postoperative pain.

After getting approval from the "National Medical Centre Ethical Review Board", this prospective cohort study was conducted from 1st January 2011 to 31st December 2019, at a tertiary care hospital in Karachi, Pakistan. Total 577 patients, ranging from 20 to 60 years of age were included and divided on the basis of etiology and type of hernia into three groups; *Group A* (Primary Ventral Hernia n=232), *Group B* (Recurrent Ventral Hernia n=88) and *Group C* (Incisional Hernia n=157). Patients suffering from strangulated and obstructed hernias were not included.

After taking written and informed consent, all patients underwent detailed clinical history, examination, investigations. General anesthesia fitness evaluation was obtained and standard LVHR was performed on all patients. All surgeries were performed under general anesthesia with patients in a supine position, arms tucked at the sides, urinary and nasogastric catheters placed for decompression. Preoperative prophylactic antibiotics were administered. Pneumoperitoneum was established using Veress needle, followed by insertion of optical port for the exploration of abdominal cavity to visualize the location of hernia defect and distribution of adhesions. Additional two 5mm assisting trocars were inserted under direct vision for the lysis of adhesions and reduction of hernial sac (Figure: I). Defect size was measured and closed with non-absorbable monofilament suture. Appropriately sized intra-abdominal dual layer Mesh (ePTFE & Polypropylene) placed with an overlap of approximately 3-4cm, in all directions. Points of reference were marked on the mesh and corresponding site on abdominal wall, to aid in orientation. Mesh was anchored

with four non-absorbable monofilament transabdominal sutures and was stapled with non-absorbable spiral tacks measuring 5mm. Ports were removed and skin incisions were closed. Postoperative analgesic protocol included Ketorolac (30mg) and Paracetamol (1g) I/V 8 hourly. Follow-up was carried out at 1st week, 2nd week, 3rd monthly, 6 monthly and 12 monthly post-operative appointments.

RESULTS:

During the study period of nine months, 577 patients underwent LVHR. A total of 232 patients (40.2%) for repair of primary ventral hernia, 188 repair of recurrent ventral hernia (15.25%) and 157 incisional hernia (27.20%). The mean age of patients in all groups was 42.07 ± 17.93 years and majority of patients were of female gender (55%), as shown in Table- I. Mean post-operative hospital stay was found to be 1.53 ± 1.8 days. Parameters like operating time, estimated blood loss, analgesia requirement, return to daily activities & work along with complications and recurrence rate can be observed in Table-1. Visual analog scale (VAS) was used on a 100 mm line, for the assessment of postoperative pain in patients after LVHR. Out of 577, 65 patients (11.26%) complained of pain having mean VAS score of 38.5 ± 29.3 , immediately after the surgery (0-3days). They were managed conservatively by I/M and oral doses of Ketorolac or NSAIDs. Out of those 65 patients, 20 (3.46%) reported pain with mean VAS score of 27.9 ± 25.6 by the end of 1st week, depicting a significant reduction in pain. Only 3 out of 65 patients (0.51%) reported chronic pain during the span of 3-6 months (Table: II). They were prescribed oral doses of Ketorolac or NSAIDs.

DISCUSSION:

In the past, surgeons tended to focus on the outcomes of LVHR in terms of recurrence and complications. From a patient's perspective, however, pain and discomfort from the abdominal wall may be more important than the risk for recurrence. The ultimate surgical goal should be to restore or increase the standard of living by limiting the incidence

Figure. 1: Schematic representation of OVHR incision (A) and LVHR ports $\left(B\right)$



B:Laparoscopic Repair Port Placement

Variables	Overall	Primary ventral hernia	Recurrent ventral hernia	Incisional hernia	
Total no: of patients (%)	577 (100)	232 (40.2)	88 (15.25)	157 (27.20)	
Females (%)	317 (55)	162 (69.82)	51 (57.95)	119 (75.79)	
Males (%)	260 (45)	70 (30.17)	37 (42.04)	38 (24.20)	
Age (mean ± std)	42.07 ± 17.93	46.77 ± 13.23	45.82 ± 14.18	49.46 ± 10.54	
BMI (mean ± std)	29 ± 6.4	28 ± 6.2	31.92 ± 6.10	31.06 ± 6.53	
PERIOPERATIVE FINDINGS					
Defect width (cm ²)	8 (3-15)	4.67 (3-8)	5 (4-8)	7.5 (5-15)	
Operative time (min)	100 (80-120)	87 (75-100)	100 (80-120)	110 (90-130)	
Estimated blood loss (ml)	30 (10-50)	25 (10-40)	28 (10-40)	34 (10-60)	
Mesh size (cm ²)	25×20	15×10	20×15	25×20	
POST-OPERATIVE OUTCOMES					
Post-operative hospital stay (days)	1.53 ± 1.8	1.49 ± 1.4	1.32 ± 1.5	2.1 ± 1.2	
Use of analgesics (doses)	4 (2-6)	3 (2-4)	3 (2-4)	3 (2-5)	
Return to daily activities (days)	3.61 (2-5)	2 (1-2)	2 (1-2)	3 (2-4)	
Return to work (days)	7.13 (6-10)	5 (5-7)	5 (5-7)	6.5 (6-10)	
Post-operative complications	15 (2.59%)	2 (0.34%)	4 (0.68%)	9 (1.53%)	
Recurrence	7 (1.21%)	-	2 (0.34%)	5 (0.86%)	

Table 1: Patient Demographics

BMI: Body mass index, std: Standard deviation

Table 2: Post-Operative Pain Analysis on Visual scale (VAS)

Post-operative pain analysis	0-3 days	At 1 week	At 2 weeks	3 months	6 months	12 months
Mean VAS score	38.5 ± 29.3	27.9 ± 25.6	22.4 ± 24.3	8.8 ± 15.3	4.1 ± 6.4	2.7 ± 4.2
No of patients (n=577)	65 (11.26%)	20 (3.46%)	08 (1.38%)	03 (0.51%)	01 (0.17%)	00 (0%)

Interpretation of pain on 100mm Visual analogue scale (VAS): no pain (0-4), mild pain (5-44), moderate pain (45-74) and severe pain (75-100).

of post-operative pain and complications. Chronic abdominal pain (persisting for more than 3-4 months)¹¹ is a serious problem after ventral hernia repair. Nerve injury or entrapment due to extensive adhesiolysis, dissection of the abdominal wall for myofascial structures post OVHR could lead to increased incidence of chronic pain.¹²

With the advent of minimally invasive procedures, such complications can be reduced. The present prospective study demonstrated that LVHR had a significant positive influence on a broad spectrum of recovery parameters. Even though large incision is not used, LVHR may be associated with significant abdominal pain. The incidence of chronic pain after LVHR has been reported to be approximately 1–3 % in literature, affecting the quality of life badly.¹³

Gronnier *et al* reported that after a mean follow-up period of 24.6 ± 9.9 months, 31 patients (28.4%) complained of chronic pain post OVHR, which was predominantly neuropathic in nature.¹⁴ Eker *et al* found association of greater number of patients with post-operative in OVHR group than LVHR group¹⁵, however, our study witnessed an event free recovery by most of patients (table- II). During the span of 72 hours after LVHR, 11.26% of patients experienced post-operative pain which resolved in most of the patients by the end of 2 weeks. Only three patients (0.51%) complained of chronic pain during 3^{rd} monthly appointment, no neuropathic involvement was seen and relief was attained by the administration of opioid analgesics, by the end of 6^{th} month.

Post-operative chronic pain is largely related to fixation of mesh with tacks or sutures. Pain due to fixation is different from that at the port sites. The postoperative pain produced by the fixation techniques could play an important role in deciding between sutures and tacks for mesh fixation.¹⁶ A randomized control trial from Sweden reported persistent post-operative pain in 7.4% of patients with only tacker fixation of mesh.¹⁷ In this study, both tackers and sutures for the fixation of mesh were used and found no incidence of chronic pain with tacker fixation. The observations regarding association of chronic pain with tacker fixation are in alliance with Liot E, and her team who reported no change in the occurrence of chronic pain in group of patients with absorbable tackers, in comparison to non-absorbable

Post-operative Pain Outcomes of Laparoscopic Ventral Hernia Repair (LVHR): An eight-year experience

tackers' group.18

Operating time did not differ significantly between LVHR & OVHR as reported by Thota A, and his team that, laparoscopic repair took at an average of 94.35 minutes, while open mesh repair took 92.65 minutes.¹⁹ The mean duration of surgery in the study subjects undergoing LVHR was 100 ± 20 minutes, however, it slightly increased in cases undergoing LVHR for incisional hernia (110 ± 20 minutes). An Egyptian prospective study reported shorter hospital stay in patients that underwent LVHR $(1.94 \pm 0.67 \text{ days})^{20}$, this was in agreement with our study in which patients were discharged from hospital after 1.53 ± 1.8 days. This could be considered as a valuable outcome owing to the fact that shorter hospital stays are associated with reduced hospital expenditure.

This study witnessed few postoperative complications (2.59%), including seromas which were conservatively managed with antibiotics and no need for drain was required. No intestinal injury or obstruction was observed and no mortality took place, indicating that LVHR is a safe surgical procedure for primary and incisional ventral hernia repair. Moreover, no patients required reoperation for a port site hernia between the time of initial laparoscopic ventral hernia repair and assessment for the study.

An overall large number of patients, effective long-term follow-up, and the specific standardized operative methods are the main strengths of this study; however, our study lacks a comparison to an open surgery group. A substantial portion of patients were referred from other private set-ups and surgeons, which proves that minimally invasive surgical outcomes are much better then open repair.

CONCLUSION:

It is demonstrated from the experience that LVHR to be a safe and superior approach for the repair ventral hernias. It is better in terms of postoperative pain related complications and return to routine activities and work, yielding a good standard of living and patient's satisfaction, post-operatively. Although these results are encouraging, larger, long-term, multicenter studies comparing LVHR and open repair are needed.

Authors Contribution:

- Shahid Rasul: Drafting of the work and Final approval of the version to be published
- Hassan Ahmed: Drafting of the work and Final approval of the version to be published
- Sanum Ali: conception or design of the work; or the acquisition, analysis, or interpretation of data for the work and Final approval I
- of the version to be published Surrendar Dawani: Acquisition & analysis of data and Final approval of the version to be published Sarah Zahid: Acquisition & analysis of data and Final approval
- Т
- of the version to be published Sehrish Hussain: Interpretation of data and Final approval of the version to be published Salman Jafferi: Interpretation of data and Final approval of
- the version to be published Mansab Ali: Drafting of the work and Final approval of the
- version to be published L

REFERENCES:

- Mohamed Yousef A, Mohamed MA, Gaber A, Ahmed MS, 1. Husein HM. Laparoscopic Ventral Hernia Repair: Tow Centre Experience Prospective Comparative Study. OAlib 2018; 5(09):1. DOI: https://doi.org/10.4236/oalib.1104871
- 2. Williams N, O'Connell PR, McCaskie AW editors. Bailey & Love's Short Practice of Surgery. 27th ed. CRC press; 2018. p.1036-1039
- 3. Colavita PD, Tsirline VB, Belyansky I, Walters AL, Lincourt AE, Sing RF, et al. Prospective, long-term comparison of quality of life in laparoscopic versus open ventral hernia repair. Ann Surg 2012; 256(5):714-23. DOI: https://doi.org/ SLA.0b013e3182734130.
- Kroese LF, Gillion JF, Jeekel J, Lange JF, Kleinrensink GJ, 4. Members HC. Identification of risk factors for 30-day postoperative complications in patients undergoing primary ventral hernia repair: a prospective cohort study of 2,374 patients. Surgery. 2018; 163(5):1160-4.
- 5. Kumar D, Khan H, Qureshi MS. Outcome of four years experience in laparoscopic ventral hernia repair. Pak J Med Sci 2015; 31(4):987.
- Mercoli H, Tzedakis S, D'Urso A, Nedelcu M, Memeo R, 6. Meyer N, et al. Postoperative complications as an independent risk factor for recurrence after laparoscopic ventral hernia repair: a prospective study of 417 patients with long-term follow-up. Surg Endosc. 2017; 31(3):1469-77. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s00464-016-5140-2
- 7. He C, Lu J, Ong MW, Lee DJ, Tan KY, Chia CL. Seroma prevention strategies in laparoscopic ventral hernia repair: a systematic review. Hernia 2020; 24(4):717-31.
- Bernardi K, Olavarria OA, Holihan JL, Kao LS, Ko TC, Roth 8. JS, et al. Primary fascial closure during laparoscopic ventral hernia repair improves patient quality of life: a multicenter, blinded randomized controlled trial. Ann Surg 2020; 271(3):434-9. DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.1097/SLA. 00000000003505
- 9. Froylich D, Segal M, Weinstein A, Hatib K, Shiloni E, Hazzan D. Laparoscopic versus open ventral hernia repair in obese patients: a long-term follow-up. Surg Endosc. 2016; 30(2):670-5
- 10. Awaiz A, Rahman F, Hossain MB, Yunus RM, Khan S, Memon B, Memon MA. Meta-analysis and systematic review of laparoscopic versus open mesh repair for elective incisional hernia. Hernia 2015; 19(3):449-63.
- 11. Ahmed MA, Tawfic QA, Schlachta CM, Alkhamesi NA. Pain and surgical outcomes reporting after laparoscopic ventral hernia repair in relation to mesh fixation technique: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials. J Laparoendosc Adv Surg Tech A 2018; 28(11):1298-315.
- 12. Warren JA, McGrath SP, Hale AL, Ewing JA, Carbonell AM, Cobb IV WS. Patterns of recurrence and mechanisms of failure after open ventral hernia repair with mesh. Am Surg 2017; 83(11):1275-82.
- 13. Uranues S, Salehi B, Bergamaschi R. Adverse events, quality of life, and recurrence rates after laparoscopic adhesiolysis and recurrent incisional hernia mesh repair in patients with previous failed repairs. J Am Coll Surg 2008; 207(5):663-9.
- Gronnier C, Wattier JM, Favre H, Piessen G, Mariette C. 14 Risk factors for chronic pain after open ventral hernia repair by underlay mesh placement. World J Surg 2012; 36(7):1548-54.

Shahid Rasul, Hassan Ahmed, Sanum Ali, Surrendar Dawani, Sarah Zahid, Sehrish Hussain, Salman Jafferi, Mansab Ali

- Eker HH, Hansson BM, Buunen M, Janssen IM, Pierik RE, Hop WC, et al. Laparoscopic vs open incisional hernia repair: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA Surg 2013; 148(3):259-63. doi:10.1001/jamasurg.2013.1466
- 16. Harsløf S, Krum-Møller P, Sommer T, Zinther N, Wara P, Friis-Andersen H. Effect of fixation devices on postoperative pain after laparoscopic ventral hernia repair: a randomized clinical trial of permanent tacks, absorbable tacks, and synthetic glue. Langenbecks Arch Surg. 2018; 403(4):529-37.
- Rogmark P, Petersson U, Bringman S, Ezra E, Österberg J, Montgomery A. Quality of life and surgical outcome 1 year after open and laparoscopic incisional hernia repair. Ann Surg. 2016; 263(2):244-50.
- 18. Liot E, Bréguet R, Piguet V, Ris F, Volonté F, Morel P. Evaluation of port site hernias, chronic pain and recurrence rates after laparoscopic ventral hernia repair: a monocentric long-term study. Hernia 2017; 21(6):917-23.
- Thota A, Ravishankar KS, Rao KV, Ramesh BS, Ananda BB. Comparative study between open and laparoscopic ventral hernia repair: A prospective non-randomized single institutional study. J Dr NTR Univ Health Sci 2017; 6(4):217. DOI: https://doi.org/10.4103/JDRNTRUHS.JDRNTRUHS_115_16
- 20. Baghdady AS, Mostafa HA, Salem AE, Abdullah HA, Saad MR. Short Outcome Evaluation of Laparoscopic Ventral Hernia Repair Ahmed Saleh Mostafa Baghdady, Hussein Ali Mostafa. Egypt J Hosp Med. 2021; 83(1):1338-4.



An Audit of Maternal Mortality at a Tertiary Care Hospital

Shazia Naseeb, Piranka Kumari, Iqra Jam, Haleema Yasmin

ABSTRACT:

Objective: To find causes of maternal deaths and to calculate maternal mortality ratio at tertiary care hospital Karachi.

Study Design and setting: An observational study was conducted from1st January 2019 to 31st December 2020 at the Department of Obstetrics & Gynecology Unit 1, JPMC Karachi.

Methodology: Patients were selected according to inclusion criteria after ethical approval through non probability consecutive sampling technique. Details of patients were obtained from files and record registers. Their demographic feature like age, parity, gestational age, booking status and presence or absence of medical disorders, their status of delivery and direct and indirect reasons of maternal deaths were noted and their frequency and percentages were calculated. Brought dead patients and those who died accidently were excluded from the study.

Results: During the period of two years the total numbers of deaths certified in the department were 90. Total number of child birth and live births were 19084 and 17892 respectively. The maternal mortality ratio was estimated as 503.01 per 100,000 live births. Most of the patients 74(82.3%) were un booked. Direct Causes were about 67(74.5%). Haemorrhage was found to be most common reason of maternal deaths in about 21(23.3%). Eclampsia among 18(20%) deaths. Anemia, cardiac disease, hepatic failure were the indirect causes of maternal deaths responsible for 23 (25.5\%) of maternal deaths.

Conclusion: Maternal Death rate is persistently elevated in JPMC, being tertiary care hospital mostly due to serious and referred complicated cases. Haemorrhage and eclampsia are still major killers of mothers as before.

Keywords: Eclampsia, Haemorrhage, Maternal Mortality, Safe Motherhood.

How to cite this Article:

Naseeb S, Kumari P, Jam I, Yasmin H. An Audit of Maternal Mortality at a Tertiary Care Hospital. J Bahria Uni Med Dental Coll. 2021; 11(4):153-157. DOI: https://doi.org/10.51985/JBUMDC2021026

This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License (http:// creativecommons/org/licences/by-nc/4.0) which permits unrestricted non commercial use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

I

I

INTRODUCTION:

Maternal death is defined as death of women while pregnant or within 42 days of termination of pregnancy irrespective from any causes related to or aggravated by pregnancy or its management, but not from accidental causes.¹ Maternal deaths are divided into two categories: Direct obstetric deaths and indirect obstetric deaths. The latter are deaths for which there was a preexisting disease that was aggravated by the pregnancy. According to United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA) 2017 in every two minutes one women dies.² Maternal mortality is unacceptably high, about 295 000

Shazia Naseeb

I

I

I

Associate Professor, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology Jinnah Post Graduate and Medical Center, Karachi Email: snkhan1975@yahoo.com Piranka Kumari Postgraduate Student, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology Jinnah Post Graduate and Medical Center, Karachi Iqra Jam Postgraduate Student, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology Jinnah Post Graduate and Medical Center, Karachi Haleema Yasmeen Professor, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology Jinnah Post Graduate and Medical Center, Karachi

Received: 06-May-2021 Accepted: 14-Sep-2021 women died during and following pregnancy and childbirth in 2017. The vast majority of these deaths (94%) occurred in low-resource settings, and most could have been prevented.³ Having the population of approximately 204.6 million people, Pakistan is the sixth most populous country in the world. In Pakistan, the maternal mortality rate (MMR) was 140 per 100,000 live births in 2017.⁴Although there have been significant improvements in the country's healthcare system, Pakistan still faces many challenges in relation to its high population growth, infant and maternal mortality, and many infectious and non-infectious diseases.⁵

There is great variation in MMR of developing and developed countries worldwide. Many factors play a role in contribution of high MMR in developing countries like religious, social and cultural beliefs , poor socioeconomic condition, inappropriate diet, delay in seeking medical advice, delay in approaching medical facility and delay in management, presence of co- morbidities ,infections, high fertility rate and low literacy rate and virtually all are avoidable.

UNFPA estimated that 303,000 women died of pregnancy or childbirth related causes in 2015.² The causes range from to, ⁶ for which there are highly effective interventions. As women have gained access to and skilled with backup emergency obstetric care, the global maternal mortality ratio has fallen from 385 maternal deaths per 100,000 live births in 1990 to 2016 deaths per 100,000 live births in 2015, and many countries halved their maternal death rates in the last 10 years.²

According to a study which covered the period from 1990 to 2013, the most common causes are (15%), complications from unsafe (15%), (10%), (8%), and (6%).⁶ Other causes include (3%) and pre-existing conditions (28%).⁷ Maternal mortality caused by severe bleeding and infections are mostly after childbirth. Indirect causes are malaria, anemia,⁸ HIV/AIDS and cardiovascular disease may complicate pregnancy or be aggravated by it.⁹ Risk factors associated with increased maternal death include the age of the mother, obesity before becoming pregnant, other pre-existing chronic medical conditions, and cesarean delivery.^{10,11}

Maternal mortality is an outcome measure of health and development system¹. Repeated Audit on maternal deaths are necessary in order to check weaknesses and improvement in health system in order to save mothers. Hence; the present study was carried out to find out reason of maternal deaths and to calculate maternal mortality ratio at JPMC, tertiary care Hospital.

METHODOLOGY:

This study was carried out in department of Obstetrics and Gynecology JPMC from Jan 2019- Dec.2020 after ethical approval from institutional review board. This was an observational analytic study. The study was conducted with approval from institutional review board of JPMC letter no.F.2-81/2021GENL/6275/JPMC). Relevant data of number of obstetric admissions, number of childbirth, number of live births, number of maternal deaths and their characteristics have been obtained from the records of the department. Patients were selected through non probability consecutive sampling technique, meeting inclusion criteria in which all pregnant patients of any age, any parity at any gestational age, irrespective of their booking status, with or without medical disorders, disregarding the delivery status, died due to direct or indirect reason of maternal deaths. Pregnant brought dead patients and those who died accidently were excluded from the study. The reasons of mortality were categorized as in chapter 15 of the tenth revision of the international statistical classification of diseases and related health problems (ICD10) 4. More than one factor may have been the cause of death but the seemingly dominating factor was marked as the cause of death. This was based on clinical judgment, as no autopsy was performed in any case. Data is analyzed on SPSS Version 23. The qualitative variables such as maternal deaths, booked or un-booked cases, age, parity, delivery status and causes of deaths presented by their frequencies along with percentages and 95% confidence intervals. The effect modifier such as age and parity were grouped.

RESULTS:

During two years period total number of deaths certified in the department were 90, during the same year the number of childbirth and number of live births were 19084 and 17892 respectively. Maternal mortality Ratio was 503.01 per 100,000 live births.

The demographic profile of all maternal deaths is given in (Table 1). Direct causes were responsible for 74.4% of deaths. Haemorrhage was the main direct cause and was seen in 21 (23.3%) deaths, nearly 71.4% of the patients died of post-partum haemorrhage. Eclampsia was responsible for 18 (20%) deaths. It was the leading cause among all women having their first baby. Total seven (7.8%) patients died as a result of complications of unsafe abortion. Total twenty-three (25.5%) of the patients died as a result of severe anemia, cardiac disease and hepatic failure. (Table 2).

DISCUSSION:

MMR in JPMC in the last three decades from 1960-1969 was 889, 1981-1990 was 710 and 1991- 1999 was 883 however the current study shows a slight decrease in MMR.^{12,13} In our study maternal mortality ratio is 503.01 per 100.000 live births. One study which was conducted at Lahore reported MMR of 451/100,000 live birth.¹⁴ Almost similar result was obtained from the study conducted at Peshawar and reveals MMR of 431/100,000 live birth.¹⁵Maternal Deaths due to pregnancy related problem are highest and same in JPMC when we compared with other teaching institutes of Pakistan and other developing countries.14, 15, 16Direct causes of maternal mortality are still the most frequent causes in this institution, Haemorrhage alone is responsible for 21(23.3%) of maternal deaths, during the study period; this is much lower than the other studies reported from other tertiary care centers in Pakistan. 14,15,17 This is generally due to delay of referral of serious and complicated cases to the hospital. and they have usually delivered either at their home or at some small private maternity clinics. These women came in deteriorated condition, in irreversible hypovolemic shock and died despite availability of specialist doctors and blood transfusion facilities. Eclampsia was found to be 2nd commonest and leading cause of maternal death in our study similar finding noted from other studies.^{14, 15,18}In this study 13(14.4%) of the patients had ruptured uterus due to previous scar, CPD and malpresentation. It is also comparable with one study reported from Nigeria where 3(11.8%) maternal deaths from ruptured uterus.¹⁹ while other study from Pakistan shows high rate (34%) of maternal deaths from ruptured uterus.²⁰

Unsafe abortion were accounted for 7(7.8%) of maternal deaths in our study, These were due to septic induced abortions. This is much lower than reported from Karim K.²¹ where it was responsible for 10-12% of maternal deaths while in Sudan the abortion was seen in 3.9% of maternal deaths.²². This reconfirms the fact that even in a metropolitan city like Karachi where access to family planning clinics is

	Maternal Deaths	95% CI*	
	90	72 - 109	
No. of Maternal Deaths	(506 Per 100,000)	(410 – 618) Per100,000	
Booked	16 (17.7%)	10.9 - 26.7	
Un-booked	74 (82.3%)	73.3 - 89.1	
Age in years			Cumulative (%)
15 - 20	4 (4.4%)	1.4 - 10.4	4.4 %
21 - 30	58 (64.4%)	54.2 - 73.8	68.9 %
31-40	26 (28.9%)	20.2 - 38.8	97.8 %
> 40	2 (2.2%)	1.4 - 10.4	100.) %
PARITY			Cumulative (%)
0 + 0	8 (8.9%)	4.2 - 16.2	8.9 %
1 - 4	62 (68.9%)	58.8 - 77.8	77.8 %
5 & more	20 (22.2%)	14.5 - 31.7	100.0 %
Delivery Status			
Abortion	4 (4.4%)	1.4 - 10.4	
Un-delivered	13 (14.4%)	8.3 - 22.1	
Delivered	73 (81.2%)	72.0 - 88.2	

Table 1: Demographic Profile of Maternal Deaths

Table 2: Cause of deaths

Causes of death	95%		
n = 90	n = 90		
DIRECT	67 (74.4 %)	64.7- 82.6	
Haemorrhage	21 (23.3%)	15.5 – 32.1	
Postpartum Haemorrhage	15(16.7%)	10.0 - 25.4	
• Placenta accreta	7 (7.8%)	3.5 – 14.8	
• Atony of uterus	5 (5.6%)	2.1 – 11.9	
• Trauma (cervical & perineal tears)	3 (3.3%)	0.9 - 8.8	
Antepartum hemorrhage	6 (6.7%)	2.7 - 13.6	
Abruptio	4 (4.4%)	1.4 - 10.4	
Placenta previa	2 (2.2%)	0.4 - 7.1	
Eclampsia	18 (20 %)	12.7 – 29.2	
• Antepartum	16 (17.8%)	10.9 - 26.7	
• Postpartum	2 (2.2%)	0.4 - 7.1	
Ruptured uterus	13 (14.4 %)	8.3 – 22.9	
Previous scar	7 (7.8%)	3.5 – 14.8	
• CPD	5 (5.5%)	2.1 – 11.9	
Malpresentation	1 (1.1%)	0.06 - 5.4	
Sepsis	7 (7.8%)	3.5 – 14.8	
Abortion	7 (7.8%)	3.5 – 14.8	
Embolism	1 (1.1%)	0.06 - 5.4	
INDIRECT CAUSES	23 (25.5%)	17.4 – 35.3	
Cardiac disease	11 (12.2%)	6.6 - 20.25	
Anemia	8 (8.9%)	4.2 – 16.2	
Hepatic failure	4 (4.4%)	1.4 - 10.4	

not an issue, women do not use contraception but opt for abortion to terminate an unwanted and unplanned pregnancy, usually under unsafe conditions.^{7,23} Similar results were also shown in other studies from outside country.^{23,24}

In the current study cardiac diseases was the main indirect cause of maternal death. This is not comparable with other national and international studies which showed anemia was the leading indirect cause of maternal deaths.14, 22 Most of the cardiac disease patients were nonbooked and received in moribund condition from the other hospitals and periphery. Deaths from severe anemia are still high, as shown in our previous study and studies from other teaching institutions of this country, ^{14,} due to high prevalence of anemia in the population especially in pregnant women. We found same results from the national or international studies.^{24, 25} Another major thing is booking status, Majority of women in our study were non booked that is 74(82.3). Most of the women in the country and neighboring countries do not realize the significance of antenatal care and therefore do not seek advice and remain untreated.15,26,27

There are some limitations of this study. First, this is a secondary data analysis and data were extracted from patient's file which is not collected for this study therefore there could be missing variables. Second, the low number of maternal deaths were reported due to precautions taken by the government to prevent the COVID-19 infection and therefore, chances of underreporting cannot be ruled out. Third, in COVID-19 era, few deliveries occured that can lead to high maternal mortality because of small denominator.

CONCLUSION:

Maternal mortality rate is higher at JPMC, being tertiary care hospital due to referrals of very serious and complicated cases from all over the city as well as from interior of Sindh. There is a need to pay attention to peripheral hospitals by periodic teaching training through workshops for midwifes, doctors and general practitioners and by creating awareness programs through media for patients. Moreover, emphasis on importance of antenatal care for early identification of risk factors, prompt referral of complicated cases with quick involvement of skill persons by taking multidisciplinary approach in case of medical co- morbidities is needed which can save lives of mothers

- Authors Contribution:
- **Shazia Naseeb:** Conception and design of study, writeup, and data analysis.
- Piranka Kumari: Data collection
- Iqra Jam: Data collection,
- | Haleema Yasmeen: Supervising the work and proof reading

REFERENCES:

 "Health statistics and information systems: Maternal mortality ratio (per 100 000 live births)". World Health Organization. Retrieved June 17, 2016

- 2. "Maternal health."United Nations Population Fund. Retrieved 2017.01-29.
- Trends in maternal mortality:2000to 2017:estimates by WHO, UNICF, UNFPA, World Bank Group and the united Nations population Division, Geneva: word Health Organiation; 2019 ISBN: 978-92-4-151648-8
- 4. World Bank. Maternal mortality ratio (modeled estimate, per 100,000 live births)—Pakistan. https://data.worldbank.org /indicator/SH.STA.MMRT?locations=PK.
- Kumar S, Bano S comparisons a health care and analysis of health care system: Pakistan Versus Bangladesh, J Hosp ME manage.2017; 3:1. DOI: https://doi.org/10.4172/2471-9781.100020
- Abubakar II, Tillmann T, Banerjee A. Global, regional, and national age-sex specific all-cause and cause-specific mortality for 240 causes of death, 1990-2013: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. Lancet. 2015 Jan 10; 385(9963):117-71. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61682-2
- 7. ''Maternal mortality: Fact sheet N0 348''World Health Organization. WHO retrieved 20 June 2014.
- 8. White NJ. Anaemia and malaria. Malaria journal. 2018 Dec; 17(1):1-7. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1186/s12936-018-2509-9
- Nair M, Nelson-Piercy C, Knight M. Indirect maternal deaths: UK and global perspectives. Obstetric medicine. 2017 Mar; 10(1):10-5. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/1753495X16689444
- Molina RL, Pace LE. A renewed focus on maternal health in the United States. The New England journal of medicine. 2017 Nov 2; 377(18):1705-7. DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.1056 /NEJMp1709473.
- Kilpatrick SK, Ecker JL, American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists. Severe maternal morbidity: screening and review. American journal of obstetrics and gynecology. 2016 Sep 1; 215(3):B17-22. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog. 2016.07.050.
- Jafarey SN. Maternal mortality in Pakistan--compilation of available data. J Pak Med Assoc. 2002; 52(12):539-44.
- Jafarey SN. Review of maternal mortality over 10 year's period at Jinnah Postgraduate Medical Centre, Karachi. JPMA 1972 ;(3):71-76.
- Humayun S. Maternal mortality in Pakistan: An attention seeking problem. Journal of the Society of Obstetrics and Gynaecologists of Pakistan. 2017 Jun 13; 7(1):22-7. ISSN NO.Online: 2307-7115
- Rafiq S, Syed W, Ghaffar SF. Trends and causes of maternal mortality in a tertiary care hospital over five years: 2013-2017. Pakistan journal of medical sciences. 2019 Jul; 35(4):1128. DOI: https://doi.org/10.12669/pjms.35.4.1091
- Gupta SD, Khanna A, Gupta R, Sharma NK, Sharma ND. Maternal mortality ratio and predictors of maternal deaths in selected desert districts in Rajasthan: a community-based survey and case control study. Women's Health Issues. 2010 Jan 1; 20(1):80-5.
- Legesse T, Abdulahi M, Dirar A. Trends and causes of maternal mortality in Jimma University specialized hospital, Southwest Ethiopia: a matched case–control study. International journal of women's health. 2017; 9: 307. DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.2147 /IJWH.S123455

- Khan T, Laul P, Laul A, Ramzan M. Prognostic factors of maternal near miss events and maternal deaths in a tertiary healthcare facility in India. International Journal of Gynecology & Obstetrics. 2017 Aug;138(2):171-6. DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.1002 /ijgo.12208
- Awoyesuku PA, MacPepple DA, Altraide BO. Magnitude, Trends and Causes of Maternal Mortality: A 7-year Review at a Tertiary Hospital in Rivers State, Nigeria. Journal of Advances in Medicine and Medical Research. 2020 Feb 15:103-9. DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.9734/ jammr /2020 /v32i130357
- 20. Noor S, Wahid N, Ali S, Ali S. Maternal Mortality: A 5-year analysis at a District Headquarter Hospital in Pakistan. J Ayub Med Coll Abbottabad. 2019;32(Suppl 1):655-8.
- 21. Karim K, Ahmed AA. Abortion: A Leading Cause of Maternal Mortality in Pakistan. i-Manager's Journal on Nursing. 2017 Feb 1;7(1):1.
- 22. Taha U, Ismail S, AbdAlla E, Abd Alilah K, Eltahir S, Mirghani S. Study on Reducing Maternal Mortality from Direct Obstetric Causes during 2013 in Sudan. Highlights on Medicine and Medical Science Vol. 18. 2021 Aug 14:78-87. DOI: https://doi.org/10.9734/bpi/hmms/v18/9491D.

- World Health Organization. Trends in maternal mortality: 1990-2015: estimates from WHO, UNICEF, UNFPA, World Bank Group and the United Nations Population Division. World Health Organization; 2015. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ S0140-6736(15)00838
- 24. Tamale NR. Trends and Causes of Maternal Mortality at the Tamale Teaching Hospital in Ghana, between 2010 and 2016. International Journal of Applied Engineering Research. 2019;14(7):1703-8.
- 25. Akpan UB, Asibong U, Omoronyia E, Arogundade K, Agan T, Ekott M. Severe life-threatening pregnancy complications, "near miss" and maternal mortality in a tertiary hospital in southern Nigeria: a retrospective study. Obstetrics and Gynecology International. 2020 Jul 1;2020. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/3697637
- Agha S, Tappis H. The timing of antenatal care initiation and the content of care in Sindh, Pakistan. BMC pregnancy and childbirth. 2016 Dec;16(1):1-9. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12884-016-0979-8
- 27. Islam MM, Masud MS. Health care seeking behaviour during pregnancy, delivery and the postnatal period in Bangladesh: Assessing the compliance with WHO recommendations. Midwifery.2018Aug1;63:8-16. DOI: https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.midw.2018.04.021



Assessment of Knowledge and Practices of Wearing Medical Masks and Respirators during COVID-19 Pandemic

Javaria Saleem, Eelaf Karar, Omer Farooq Choudary, Faiq Munir Shaikh, Rida E Fatima, Farooq Azam Rathore

ABSTRACT

Objectives: To determine the gap between knowledge and practices of using face masks and respirators among Pakistani Health care professionals (HCPs) during peak of first wave of COVID-19.

Study Design and Settings: A Cross-sectional online survey of HCPs from different parts of the country was conducted from April-July 2020.

Methodology: A self-administered questionnaire was created using guidelines issued by World Health Organization (WHO) and Centre of Disease Control (CDC) on use of masks and respirators in COVID-19 pandemic. It was distributed via email and social media platforms. Valid responses (402) were analyzed by SPSS V.26. Descriptive statistics and chi square test was applied and p-value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results: The knowledge of Pakistani HCPs about masks and respirators was satisfactory but practices were not in line with current guidelines by WHO and CDC. Majority reported that they considered wearing mask/respirators in correct way but only 34% participants knew all steps of wearing a surgical mask and few knew all steps of wearing an N95 respirator. Concepts like fit test, seal and integrity of mask and respirators, hand hygiene, life of one mask/respirator and their reuse were not clear among most of respondents.

Conclusion: In this diverse sample of Pakistani HCPs, practice of using face masks and respirators was not as per the guidelines despite adequate knowledge. Lack of sufficient practice in using mask and respirators were noticed.

Keywords: COVID-19, Health Care Professionals, N95 Respirators, Pandemic.

How to cite this Article:

Saleem J, Kaarar E, Choudary OF, Shaikh FM, Fatime RE, Rathore FA. Assessment of Knowledge and Practices of Wearing Medical Masks and Respirators during COVID-19 Pandemic. J Bahria Uni Med Dental Coll. 2021; 11(4):158-164 DOI: https://doi.org/10.51985/JBUMDC2021010

This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License (http:// creativecommons/org/licences/by-nc/4.0) which permits unrestricted non commercial use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

INTRODUCTION:

The novel corona virus (COVID-19) infection originated from Wuhan city, China in December 2019 and rapidly

Javaria Saleem House Officer, Department of Medicine, PNS Shifa Hospital, Karachi, Pakistan Email: abdullrehmansaleem@gmail.com
Eelaf Karar House officer, Department of Medicine, PNS Shifa Hospital, Karachi, Pakistan
Omer Farooq Choudary House officer Department of Surgery, PNS Shifa Hospital, Karachi, Pakistan
Faiq Munir Shaikh House officer Department of Surgery, PNS Shifa Hospital, Karachi, Pakistan
Rida E Fatima House officer, Department of Medicine PNS Shifa Hospital, Karachi, Pakistan
Farooq Azam Rathore Assistant Professor, Department of Rehabilitation Medicine, PNS Shifa Hospital, Karachi, Pakistan
Received: 15-Mar-2021 Accepted: 06-Oct-2021

spread to more than 200 countries around the globe over the next 4 months. World Health Organization (WHO) declared it a pandemic on 11th March 2020.^{1,2}

WHO has issued guidelines regarding protective measures in order to prevent further transmission of COVID-19. Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) is recommended for Health care professionals (HCPs). The type of PPE depends on settings, target personnel and activity. The use of PPE must be combined with proper hand hygiene, respiratory hygiene, and adequate training on donning, doffing and disposal of the PPE.³ Other important measures include hand hygiene and avoiding the entry of the virus through mouth, nose and eyes by avoiding touching these areas.⁴

WHO advised face masks for protection of HCPs, however, incorrect use reduces their effectiveness and makes one prone to getting infected. Hence, adequate knowledge among HCPs is necessary for their protection.⁵ Lack of knowledge not only reduce the effectiveness of the protective barriers worn but also give a false sense of security to one, making them more vulnerable to infection. In July 2020, it was reported by a local newspaper that as many as 5367 healthcare professionals were diagnosed with COVID-19 in Pakistan out of which 58 had died.⁶ Since the only way to control the

infection is through non-pharmacological methods like use of masks and other PPE combined with hand hygiene. Hence, the knowledge and practice is critical and must be satisfactory among HCPs because they are the high risk group. If the cases among HCPs rise further, it will put even more burden on the healthcare system of Pakistan.

Use of face masks by general population specially in crowded and public spaces helps to reduce the spread of virus in epidemic areas.^{7,8} Face masks are the commonest PPE used both by public and HCPs. However, few HCPs were using them before the pandemic but now they are widely used. However, there are concerns regarding proper selection, fitting, and disposal of masks. Incorrect use of medical masks, including re-using one time use disposable masks or incorrectly putting on an N95 respirator or adjusting it due to discomfort can reduce its protective effect as well increase chances of infections.^{1,9}

Few studies address correct use of masks and respirators and most of them are from Europe and the Western countries. A study on HCPs from major public hospital in Karachi assessed masks wearing during the current pandemic revealed gaps in knowledge of HCPs.¹⁰ Many respondents (43.6%) were not sure of which side of surgical mask should face outwards. A large number of respondents (70.9%) believed that wearing a surgical mask will protect them from COVID-19. The study concluded that "overall results" were good and only 35.2% respondents fell into that category. The study focused mainly on the knowledge and practices of surgical mask use.¹⁰ To explore it further and evaluate actual practices and knowledge of use of surgical mask as well as respirators in a larger sample of HCPs. This study was aimed to document knowledge and practices of a wide range of masks and respirators used among Pakistani HCPs.

METHODOLOGY:

A nationwide cross-sectional survey to assess knowledge and practices of Pakistani HCPs regarding masks was conducted from 15th April-10th July 2020. Approval of hospital ethics review committee was obtained before commencing the study. An English language selfadministered questionnaire was created after literature search and consulting guidelines issued by WHO and Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), USA.⁵ It was pilot tested and revised based on the feedback of the respondents.

The questionnaire was created using Google forms, (a free and powerful online software commonly used for online surveys), consisting of 25 items and 4 sections.¹¹ First part was informed consent which explained aim of the study and ensured anonymity of participants. Second part consisted of demographics including age, gender, province of residence and job designation. The third section documented knowledge by asking 6 questions regarding use of masks and respirators and the last section assessed practices of wearing masks. The assessment of practices was done by asking a series of questions regarding different kinds of masks and inquiring about the steps that they followed while wearing and removing surgical masks and N95 respirators. These questions were based on the recommendations of CDC and WHO.^{12,13} The questions on the steps of wearing the mask and respirator were optional so respondents could answer about the masks and/or respirator that they wore most of the time in their medical practice. However, steps of removal were similar in both surgical and N95 Respirators therefore, this question was mandatory for all respondents. The sample size was calculated by using WHO sample size calculator. Considering 5% precision, with a 95% confidence interval, and prevalence taken as 56.4% of HCPs correctly knowing how to wear a mask.¹⁰ Sample size was calculated as 378 by keeping margin of 10 % for invalid responses and aimed for 400 responses.

Estimated time for completing the questionnaire was 8-10 minutes. The questionnaire was emailed and sent via Social Media applications to HCPs from different background all around the country. Participants included physicians, paramedical staff (PMS), and Allied Health care Professionals (AHCPs) all around the country. Incomplete questionnaires and other professional were excluded from the study. The HCPs working at the hospital of researchers were approached in person and asked to fill in the questionnaire online using a tablet. All HCPs were categorized into groups on the basis of their job hierarchy and their knowledge and practices were compared. The data was analyzed using SPSS version 26.0. Frequencies and descriptive statistics were calculated and Pearson's Chi square test was applied p-value < 0.05 was considered significant.

RESULTS:

Total four hundred and six health care professionals participated in the study and 402 were valid responses. The demographics are displayed in Table 1. The mean age was $30.92 (\pm 9.16)$ and range was 20-72 years. Total one hundred and forty eight (36.7%) respondents had a contact with confirmed COVID-19 patients. Around one third (29.1%) regularly wore mask in hospital before this pandemic. However, after the pandemic 345 (85.8%) respondents wore a mask daily. Around nineteen (4.7%) respondents still did not wear a mask at all. Out of the 386 (96.0%) HCPs who wore masks, (67.4%) 271 wore a surgical mask, and (12.2%) 49 wore N95/N99 respirator and (18.2%) 66 used a combination of masks with surgical mask being the most used one.

Knowledge about the general use of mask and respirators was overall adequate among all the groups of HCPs (Table 2), except for the knowledge about the type of mask a patient with active COVID-19 infection should wear only 28.4% (114) knew COVID-19 patient should wear surgical mask. This knowledge was found to be inadequate in all the groups of health care professionals (p-value= 0.086). When questioned the need for N95 respirator use among the general

Parameters	Total Number = 402 (%)
Age	20- 72 Mean age 30.92 (±9.16)
Gender	
Male	182 (45.3 %)
Female	220 (54.7 %)
Education	
Matriculation	3 (0.7 %)
Intermediate	20 (5.0 %)
Under graduate	10 (2.5 %)
Graduate	197 (49.0 %)
Post-graduate	172 (42.8 %)
Residence	
Sindh	255 (63.4%)
Punjab	113 (28.1%)
Baluchistan	8 (2.0%)
КРК	14 (3.5%)
Gilgit-baltistan	9 (2.2%)
Kashmir	3 (0.7%)
Job status	
House Officers	119 (29.6%)
Residents	90 (22.4%)
Consultants	88 (21.9%)
Para medical staff (including nursing, midwifes, sanitation, pharmacy, physiotherapy assistants, laboratory technicians)	63 (15.6%)
Allied health professionals (including dental hygienists, diagnostic medical sonographers, dieticians, medical technologists, occupational therapists, physical therapists, radiographers, respiratory therapists, and speech language pathologists)	23 (5.7%)
Medical Officers	19 (4.7%)

Table 1 Demographics

public, most of the respondents knew that it was not meant for public use (p-value <0.05).

About 81.6% (328) participants indicated that that they wore their mask in a correct way, while 16.9% were not sure of their way. However, when their knowledge and practice of wearing N95/N99 respirator and surgical mask was evaluated only 14.8% knew all the steps of wearing a respirator scoring 9/9 (p-value= 0.016) and 34% knew all the steps of wearing a surgical mask scoring 6/6 (p-value= 0.002). A quarter (25%) of respondents followed all the steps in removal of a mask (p-value= 0.039). (Table 2)

Questions evaluating the practice of respondents of donning and doffing the mask and respirators are listed in table 3. Only 62.5% people performed the fit test before wearing respirator, 56.8% people checked its integrity before wearing it, 71.6% performed hand hygiene before wearing a mask, 44.3% respondent checked the seal by blow test after wearing it and only 20.4% people know that in people with facial hair it is not ideal to wear N95/N99 respirator as it doesn't create an efficient seal. (Table 3) Around 62% respondents wore a mask in a way that the bendy nose strip went on bridge of the nose. Around half (54.23%) of the respondents did not know the correct way to store/dispose a mask or respirator when not in use. Out of 402 respondents 211 (52.5%) HCPs were reusing their surgical masks, when inquired about the reason most HCPs responded with the reason of limited availability.

DISCUSSION:

Our study found that surgical masks were the most common form of masks used by HCPs irrespective of their contact with COVID-19 patients. Those who had contact with COVID-19 patients reported more usage of respirators. WHO recommends that a medical mask should be worn in areas with patients suspected or having a confirmed diagnosis of COVID-19 and an N95 respirator wherever aerosol is being generated.⁵ Since the cost of an N95 is more than surgical mask it is not always practical and cost effective to wear N95 respirator unnecessarily.¹⁴

WHO recommends that proper hand hygiene must be combined with use of face masks among HCPs.⁵ However respondents having lower education believed that the risk of infection was completely eliminated by a well fitted respirator and therefore hand hygiene was not needed (p-value <0.001). This is an alarming fact ignoring the hygiene and making them vulnerable to infections. This points out that training emphasis should me more towards low educated HCPs.

Previous studies have suggested that use of surgical masks is helpful in preventing transmission of human coronavirus virus infections if worn by infected persons yet most of the respondents were not aware that a patient of COVID-19 must wear a surgical mask and not an N95 respirator (pvalue= 0.052).^{15,16} Literature suggests that an N95 respirator is not more effective than a surgical face mask in protecting HCPs from acute respiratory infections in hospital setting.⁹ But most (92.8%) of the respondents in our study responded that N95 respirator was more protective than a surgical mask and very few (7.2%) responded that N95 and surgical masks had equal efficacy (p-value= 0.769).

Only 71.9% of the respondents understood that they need to cover their mouths while sneezing and coughing despite wearing a mask. This is because surgical masks are a barrier for droplets not for aerosol particles and viruses can still cross the barrier.¹⁷ This practice was not adequately followed among Residents/Trainees (p-value= 0.330). Lack of this knowledge can potentially lead to spread of virus and cause devastating increase in infected people even though all SOPs are followed.¹⁷

Around 62.96% respondents wore a mask in a way that the bendy nose strip went on bridge of the nose on the contrary

Table 2 Knowledge and practice regarding use of mask and respirator according to job status of HCPs

KNOWLEDGE

Statements	House officer	Residents	Consultant	Medical officer/ RMO	Para medical staff	Allied health professionals	P value
	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	
Does a surgical mask help in reducing exposure of your saliva and respiratory droplets? (Yes)	114(95.7%)	82(91.1%)	82(93.1%)	18(94.7%)	56(88.8%)	23(100%)	0.353
Surgical mask should not be shared or reused? (Yes)	115(96.6%)	88(97.7%)	87(98.8%)	19(100%)	63(100%)	23(100%)	0.550
Do you think a properly fitted N95 or N99 respirator does not completely eliminate the risk of infection so it should be accompanied by hand and personal hygiene? (Yes)	104(87.3%)	84(93.3%)	85(96.5%)	19(100%)	57(90.4%)	23(100%)	0.062
What type of mask should a COVID- 19 patient wear? (surgical)	30(25.2%)	20(22.2%)	34(38.6%)	5(56.3%)	18(28.5%)	7(30.4%)	0.086

PRACTICE

Stataments		House officer	Residents	Consultant	Medical officer/ RMO	Para medical staff	Allied health professionals	P value
Stateme	ints	N out of	N out of	N out of	N out of	N out of	N out of	
		26 (%)	29 (%)	17 (%)	4 (%)	10 (%)	2 (%)	
While wearing an N95	0-3 (poor)	5 (19.3%)	9 (31.0%)	3 (17.6%)	2 (50%)	7 (70%)	2 (100%)	
steps out of following	4-6 (moderate)	8 (30.7%)	9 (31.0%)	2 (15.3%)	1 (25%)	1 (10)%	0	0.016
do you follow?	7-9 (good)	13 (50.0%)	11 (37.9%)	13 (76.4%)	1 (25%)	2 (20%)	0	
		N out of	N out of	N out of	N out of	N out of	N out of	
		117 (%)	28 (%)	18 (%)	18 (%)	62 (%)	22 (%)	
While wearing a	0-2 (poor)	39 (33.3%)	24 (27.27%)	17 (20.9%)	2 (11.1%)	27 (43.5%)	13 (59.0%)	
surgical mask what steps out of following	3-4 (moderate)	23 (19.6%)	29 (32.9%)	13 (16.0%)	7 (38.8%)	9 (14.5%)	3 (13.6%)	0.002
do you follow?	5-6 (good)	55 (47.0%)	35 (39.77%)	51 (62.9%)	9 (50%)	26 (41.9%)	6 (27.2%)	
		N out of	N out of	N out of	N out of	N out of	N out of	
		119 (%)	90 (%)	88 (%)	19 (%)	63 (%)	23 (%)	
While removing a	0-1 (poor)	31 (26%)	24 (26.6%)	14 (16%)	1 (5.2%)	24 (38.1%)	12 (52.1%)	
surgical mask what	2-3 (moderate)	31 (26%)	26 (28.8%)	29 (33%)	5 (26.3%)	16 (25.4%)	5 (21.7%)	0.039
steps do you follow?	4-5 (good)	57 (48%)	40 (44.4%)	45 (51%)	13(68.4%)	23 (36.5%)	6 (26.1%)	

to a previous study that showed 93% of HCPs knew this correctly.¹⁰ CDC recommends this as metal strip improves the fit and filtration of surgical mask,¹⁸ Even a correctly worn surgical masks is more effective than an N95 respirator even when respirators provide a better seal and fit.¹⁹

Most 81.6% of people were sure that they wore their masks correctly, However only 14.8% of those respondents who answered that they knew all the steps in wearing an N95 respirator, actually had a satisfactory practice. And 68% of those respondents who answered that they knew all the steps in wearing a surgical mask and actually had a satisfactory practice. Similar lack of practice was documented by a study in Hong Kong on general public about knowledge and practice of mask where 88.5% respondents had this perception and only 52.0% Êcorrect answers.¹⁷ This drastic difference of knowledge and practice in may be due to the reason that masks and respirators have a simple design and HCPs can assume they know the its correct method of donning, doffing

and use. The lack of knowledge about the correct steps and inadequacy to follow them may also be secondary to absence of instructions on packaging of masks and respirators. In most countries manufacturers have no guidelines on the packaging for masks and respirators to follow. Also designs, colours, types, size differ manufacturer to manufacturer and lack proper of knowledge and instructions make it difficult to wear mask and respirator properly.¹⁷

Previous study showed that, 80% of HCPs were aware that fit test should be done while using an N95 respirator.²⁰ But only 56.8% of HCPs in our study performed it while donning a respirator. Similarly our study shows 79.5% HCPs did not know that in people with facial hair it is not ideal to wear N95/N99 respirator as it doesn't create an efficient seal.²¹ Without the fit test it is not known whether or not a seal is created and without a seal the efficacy of N95 to minimise transmission of infection is reduced.^{22,23} This reveals that although people perceived that they are wearing their masks

Steps of wearing an N95 Respirator	N Out Of 88 Who follow the steps %
Making sure the mask is fit tested for you and you have correct size for your face.	55 (62.5%)
Check its integrity and the elastic bands.	50 (56.8%)
Clean your hands with soap and water or hand sanitizer.	68 (77.3%)
Hold mask over your nose and mouth with the nose clip facing top with the dominant hand.	63 (71.6%)
Holding the top strap and placing it over the crown of your head.	54 (61.4%)
Holding the bottom strap and placing it over the base of your neck.	53 (60.2%)
Pinch the nose strip with both hands to mold to the shape of your nose.	54 (61.4%)
Perform the air test (blowing air into your mask and checking if air escapes through the sides).	39 (44.3%)
Making sure person using N95 or N99 respirator does not have any facial hair.	18 (20.5%)
Steps of wearing a surgical mask	N Out Of 388 Who follow the steps
Clean your hands with soap and water, or hand sanitizer.	287 (73.97%)
Hold mask in a way that stiff bendable strip is on top.	244 (62.89%)
Secure mask over your nose and mouth by its band or loops.	254 (65.46%)
Pinch the nose strip to mold to the shape of your nose.	264 (68.04%)
Pull the top and bottom of the surgical mask over your mouth and chin.	233 (60.5%)
There should be no gap in between the skin and mask to allow unfiltered air to pass through.	208 (53.61%)
Steps of removing a mask	N Out Of 402 Who follow the steps
Avoid touching front of the mask.	257 (63.93%)
Clean your hands with soap and water, or hand sanitizer, before touching the mask.	193 (48.01%)
Remove mask by holding the loops/bands/elastic.	310 (77.11%)
Dispose of the mask in the trash bin designated for infected waste/yellow bins. (Not keeping it below	218 (54.23%)
your chin or in your pocket when not in use).	
Clean your hands with soap and water, or hand sanitizer again, before touching anything else.	250 (62.19%)
Practice	N Out Of 402 Who follow the steps
Do you cover your mouth and nose while sneezing or coughing even while wearing a mask? (yes)	289 (71.89%)

Table 3 Steps of Practices followed By HCPs for Wearing and Removing Mask or a Respirator

correctly, in reality they are not. (Table 3)

Regarding overall practice, the best practice is among the consultants, then house officers. Residents and paramedic staff had a similar practice. AHCPs have quite poor practice despite their good knowledge. This shows that HCPs do know sufficiently about the use of masks but when it comes to practically using one, they lack expertise. (Table 2)

Regarding comparison of level of education to practice, it can be concluded that the practice was best among postgraduate group overall yet still unsatisfactory. Matriculation group had very poor practice; this tells us there is more lack of training and teaching among those HCPs do not possess any higher education (p-value>0.05).

It can be concluded that consultants had the good practice regarding wearing an N95 respirator and surgical mask whereas PMS had the poorest practice. (Table 2)

During the initial days of COVID-19 there was a global shortage of masks, and patients and HCW were forced to reuse one time use disposable masks.²² This is a unanimous observation that led us to include a question regarding the reuse of disposable surgical masks. Although, 98.3% of the respondents knew that the masks cannot be reused or shared, still 52.5% of them reported reusing the single use surgical masks. The main reason given by most was limited availability of mask and respirators. Similar practice was pointed out in a previous study that 20.2% HCPs reused their mask.¹⁰ This shows that the availability of PPE for HCPs is limited in hospitals, forcing them to reuse surgical masks. This is similar to other reports.²²

In the pre-COVID times, masks and specially N95 respirators were not used routinely even in hospitals. Therefore, the knowledge and practice about their use are inadequate. In order to improve the practice and knowledge among HCPs, education and training through social media, print media, televisions, videos, virtual workshops and demonstrative workshops must be done along with their regular and repetitive reinforcement as mentioned in previous studies conducted in Pakistan.^{22,24,25} As a previous study of Pakistan shows that only 58% of HCPs have institutional and departmental guidelines and 70% use online resources for knowledge.²²Hence, mediums like social media, print media, virtual workshops and various online resources can be used to educate HCPs and public about the disease and prevention.

The strength of the study included a comprehensive questionnaire, diversity of respondents and a relatively larger sample of HCPs. However, considering the total number of HCPs in Pakistan, 402 appear to be a small sample size. In addition, there were very few respondents from Baluchistan, Kashmir and Gilgit-Baltistan.

CONCLUSION:

Knowledge of Pakistani HCPs about masks and respirators was satisfactory but the practice of wearing and removing is poor and not in line with the current guidelines by WHO and CDC. Majority HCPs reported that they considered wearing mask/respirators in correct way but in reality; only one third of participants knew all the steps of wearing a surgical mask and a few knew all the steps of wearing an N95 respirator. Concepts like fit test, seal and integrity of the mask and respirators, hand hygiene, life of one mask/respirator and their reuse were not clear to most of the respondents. We recommend that masks and other PPE must be available to HCPs at all times to ensure their safety and to avoid cross contamination between vulnerable patients. Moreover every person working in the hospital should be trained in the correct ways of donning, doffing and disposal of PPE.

- **Authors Contribution:**
- Javaria Saleem: Drafting of the work and Final approval of the version to be published
- Eelaf Karar: Drafting of the work and Final approval of the version to be published
- Omer Farooq Choudary: Interpretation of data and Final approval of the version to be published
- Faiq Munir Shaikh: Conception or design of the work; or the acquisition, analysis, or interpretation of data for the work and L **Rida E Fatima:** Conception or design of the work; or the
- acquisition, analysis, or interpretation of data for the work and
- Final approval of the version to be published Farooq Azam Rathore: Drafting of the work and Final approval
- of the version to be published

REFERNCES:

- Feng S, Shen C, Xia N, Song W, Fan M, Cowling BJ. Rational use of face masks in the COVID-19 pandemic. Lancet Respir Med. 2020;8(5):434-436. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/S2213-2600 (20) 30134-X.
- World Health Organization. Coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak 2. [Internet] 2020 [cited 2020 may 23]. Available from: https://www.who.int/westernpacific/emergencies/covid-19

- World Health Organization. Rational use of personal protective equipment for coronavirus disease (COVID-19): interim guidance, 2020 [Internet] 2020 [cited 2020 may 20]. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/331215
- 4 Güner R, Hasanoðlu I, Aktaþ F. COVID-19: Prevention and control measures in community. Turk J Med Sci. 2020;50(SI-1):571-577. DOI: https://doi.org/10.3906/sag-2004-146.
- 5. World Health Organization. Advice on the use of masks in the context of COVID-19: interim guidance, 2020. [Internet] 2020 [cited 2020 June 23]. Available from:https://apps. who.int/iris/handle/10665/332293
- Bhatti MW. Pakistan has lost 42 doctors among 58 healthcare 6. providers to COVID-19. International The News 2020 [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2020 junly 16]. Available from:https://www.thenews.com.pk/print/680655-pakistanhas-lost-42-doctors-among-58-healthcare-providers-to-covid-19
- Liang T. Handbook of COVID-19 prevention and treatment. 7. The First Affiliated Hospital, Zhejiang University School of Medicine. Compiled According to Clinical Experience. 2020;68.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) (2020). 8. Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19).2021 [Internet] 2021[cited 2021 may 20]. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov /coronavirus/2019-ncov/hcp/infection-controlrecommendations.html
- 9 Smith JD, MacDougall CC, Johnstone J, Copes RA, Schwartz B, Garber GE. Effectiveness of N95 respirators versus surgical masks in protecting health care workers from acute respiratory infection: a systematic review and meta-analysis. CMAJ. 2016;188(8):567-574. DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.1503/ cmaj. 150835.
- 10. Kumar J,Katto M, Siddiqui A A, et al.Knowledge, Attitude, and Practices of Healthcare Workers Regarding the Use of Face Mask to Limit the Spread of the New Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19). Cureus. 2020;12(4): e7737. doi:10.7759/cureus.7737
- 11. Edelmayer S. 09 Awesome Reasons to Use Google Forms [Internet] 2020 [cited 2020 April 14]. Available from:https://www.makeuseof.com/tag/5-awesome-reasonsto-use-google-forms/
- 12. Centre of disease control. Ebola (Ebola Virus Disease) [Internet] 2020 [cited 2020 may 9]. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/vhf/ebola/healthcare-us/ppe/training.html
- 13. World Health Organization. Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) advice for the public: When and how to use masks [Internet] 2020 [cited 2020 may 10]. Available from:https: //www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019/advice-for-public/when-and-how-to-use-masks.
- 14. Cowling BJ, Zhou Y, Ip DK, Leung GM, Aiello AE. Face masks to prevent transmission of influenza virus: a systematic review. Epidemiol Infect. 2010;138(4):449-56. DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.1017/S0950268809991658.
- 15. The Department of Health, Hong Kong. Guidelines on prevention of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) for the general public. [Internet] 2020 [cited 2020 may 10]. Available from:https://www.chp.gov.hk/files/pdf/nid_guideline_gener al_public_en.pdf

- Leung NHL, Chu DKW, Shiu EYC, Chan KH, McDevitt JJ, Hau BJP, Yen HL, Li Y, Ip DKM, Peiris JSM, Seto WH, Leung GM, Milton DK, Cowling BJ. Respiratory virus shedding in exhaled breath and efficacy of face masks. Nat Med. 2020 (5):676-680. DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.1038/s41591-020-0843-2.
- Ho HS. Use of face masks in a primary care outpatient setting in Hong Kong: Knowledge, attitudes and practices. Pu He. 2012;126(12):1001-6. DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.1016/ j.puhe.2012.09.010.
- Centre of disease control. Improve the Fit and Filtration of Your Mask to Reduce the Spread of COVID-19 [Internet] 2021 [cited 2021 July 10]. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/prevent-gettingsick/mask-fit-and-filtration.html
- Noti JD, Lindsley WG, Blachere FM, Cao G, Kashon ML, Thewlis RE, McMillen CM, King WP, Szalajda JV, Beezhold DH. Detection of infectious influenza virus in cough aerosols generated in a simulated patient examination room. Clin Infect Dis. 2012;54(11):1569-77. DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.1093/ cid/cis237.
- Haq MI, Shafiq F, Sheikh H. Potential barriers amongst health care professionals of Pakistan in managing COVID-19 patients. Pak J Med Sci. 2020; 36(COVID19-S4): S17–S21. DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.12669/pjms.36.COVID19-S4.2753

- Muñoz-Leyva F, Niazi AU. Common breaches in biosafety during donning and doffing of protective personal equipment used in the care of COVID-19 patients. Can J Anaesth. 2020;67(7):900-901. DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s12630-020-01648-x.
- 22. Provincial Infectious Diseases Advisory Committee. Routine practices and additional precautions in all health care settings.[Internet] 2009 [cited 2020 June 2]. Available from: http://www. publichealthontario. ca/en/eRepository /RPAP_All_HealthCare_Settings_Eng2. 2012;12
- Floyd EL, Henry JB, Johnson DL. Influence of facial hair length, coarseness, and areal density on seal leakage of a tight-fitting half-face respirator. J Occup Environ Hyg. 2018;15:334–340. DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.1080/ 15459624.2017.1416388.
- 24. Mukhtar MS. Mental health and psychosocial aspects of coronavirus outbreak in Pakistan: psychological intervention for public mental health crisis. Asian journal of psychiatry. 2020. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajp.2020.102069.
- 25. Wong J, Goh QY, Tan Z, Lie SA, Tay YC. Tan Z et al. Preparing for a COVID-19 pandemic: a review of operating room outbreak response measures in a large tertiary hospital in Singapore. Can J Anaesth/J Can Anesth. 2020. DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s12630-020-01620-9.s



Mirizzi Syndrome: An Experience in Laparoscopic Era

Syed Mukarram Hussain, Asrar Ahmad, Muhammad Awais Mughal, Irum Saleem, Saqib Islam

ABSTRACT:

Objective: To assess the presentation and surgical management of Mirrizi syndrome patients who underwent Laparoscopic Cholecystectomy.

Study Design and Setting: Retrospective Descriptive Study was conducted at Surgical Department Combined Military Hospital Rawalpindi and Combined Military Hospital Quetta from 1st Jan 2010 to 20th Jan 2016.

Methodology: Patients undergoing laparoscopic cholecystectomy during this period were retrospectively reviewed. All cases of Mirizzi Syndrome (MS) were identified and data analysed.

Results: A total of 5500 patients underwent laparoscopic cholecystectomy during this period. Approximately 26(0.47%) cases were identified to be having MS. Out of these 26 cases only 8 (30%) were males while 18 (70%) were females. Age ranged from 25 to 80 years. Three patients (11%) had an endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreaticography (ERCP) done. Type-I MS was found in 19 cases (73 %), Type-II in 3 cases (11%), Type-III and Type-IV in 2 cases each (7.69 %). Conversion to open surgery was carried out in 15 cases (57.6 %). All type-I MS had cholecystectomy except one case where partial cholecystectomy was done. T-tube closure of common bile duct was done in all Type-II MS. Similarly T-tube closure was possible in two cases of type-III while one had Roux-en-Y hepaticojejunostomy. All cases of type-IV MS had Roux-en-Y hepaticojejunostomy. One patient out of 26 (3.8 %) had carcinoma gallbladder. There was no mortality.

Conclusion: Type-I MS can be managed with laparoscopic cholecystectomy in selected patients. Type-II and type-III MS may need placement of T-tube while most of type-IV MS are managed with Roux-en-Y hepaticojejunostomy.

Key words: Cholecystectomy, Cholangiopancreaticography, Hepaticojejunostomy, Mirizzi Syndrome.

How to cite this Article:

Hussain SM, Ahmad A, Mughal MA, Saleem I, Saqib I. Mirizzi Syndrome: An Experience in Laparoscopic Era . J Bahria Uni Med Dental Coll. 2021; 11(4):165-167 DOI: https://doi.org/10.51985JBUMDC2021027

This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License (http:// creativecommons/org/licences/by-nc/4.0) which permits unrestricted non commercial use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

L

INTRODUCTION:

I

I

I

L

Gallstone disease is a very common condition mostly affecting fertile females ranging from 11% to 36%.¹ It is most commonly seen in 3rd to 5th decade of the life.² Symptomatic gallstones can cause a number of complications including mucocele, empyema, xanthogranulomatous cholecystitis, emphysematous cholecystitis, gallbladder wall perforations, pericholecystic abscesses, Mirizzi syndrome,

Syed Mukarram Hussain Consultant Surgeon, Department of General Surgery Combined Military Hospital Peshawar Asrar Ahmad Consultant, Department of Peads Surgery PNS Shifa Hospital Karachi Email: drasrar.ahmad@yahoo.com Muhammad Awais Mughal Consultant, Department of General Surgery Combined Military Hospital Mangla

Irum Saleem Resident, Department of Gynae/Obs PNS SHIFA Hospital, Karachi

Saqib Islam Resident, Department of Surgery PNS SHIFA Hospital, Karachi

Received: 24-May-2021 Accepted: 17-Sep-2021 cholecystoenteric fistulas, choledocholithiasis, gallstone pancreatitis, porcelain gallbladder and obstructive jaundice due to the slippage of stones in common bile duct.³ Mirizzi syndrome is defined by compression of the common hepatic duct (CHD) by a gallstone either in the Hartmann's pouch or cystic duct with the formation of cholecystobiliary fistula. The clinical features are that of obstructive jaundice, fever, and right upper quadrant pain. Due to the unusual nature of the disease, Mirizzi syndrome is rarely identified preoperatively.⁴ It has been reported in the literature that MS is found in 0.3% to 5% of all cholecystectomies.⁵

Pablo Mirizzi explained this condition for the first time in detail hence it is named after him. A preoperative diagnosis or identification of MS during open or laparoscopic surgery can forewarn the operating surgeon and is necessary to avoid bile duct injuries in cases of complicated cholecystitis.⁶ In laparoscopic era due to better visibility and appreciation of the anatomy most of the cases are easily diagnosed and promptly treated. Laparoscopic cholecystectomy can safely be attempted in type 1 MS and seems to have fewer overall complications and shorter length of stay compared with an open approach.⁷ General surgeons without long experience in hepatobiliary surgery should refer the patient to a specialized hepatobiliary surgical center.⁸ Therefore; this study was to retrospectively review all the cases of

laparoscopic cholecystectomy for MS and their management during six years of experience.

METHODOLOGY:

This study was carried out at the Department of General Surgery, Combined Military Hospital Rawalpindi, Pakistan from 1st January, 2010 to 31st July, 2015 and then at Combined Military Hospital Quetta, Pakistan from 1st August 2015 to 1st February, 2016. All patients including males and females undergoing elective Laparoscopic Cholecystectomy with age ranging from 25-80 years were included. All patients with Acute Biliary Pancreatitis, Empyema Gall Bladder, Gall Bladder perforation and Cholecysto-enteric Fistula were excluded. Prior approval from hospital ethical review committee was taken. Hospital records of all the patients who had laparoscopic cholecystectomy were reviewed. Cases of MS were identified. Patient's demographic data, preoperative investigations, operative procedures carried out and outcome were analysed by using SPSS version-20.

RESULTS:

A total of 5500 patients underwent laparoscopic cholecystectomy during this period. Out of 5500 only 26 cases were identified to be having MS (0.47 %). Out of 26 only 8 (30%) were male patients while 18 (70%) were females. The youngest patient was 26 years old while the upper age limit was 80 years. Mean age was 46.5 years. Preoperatively all the cases were investigated with an ultrasound abdomen and liver function tests. Three patients (11%) were preoperatively identified to be having obstructive jaundice and had an endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreaticography (ERCP) done to rule out choledocholithiasis. Type-I MS was found in 19 cases (73 %), Type-II in 3 cases (11%), Type-III and Type-IV in 2 cases each (7.69 %). Conversion to open cholecystectomy was done in 15 cases (57.6 %). Single calculus was found in 4 cases (15 %) rest were having multiple calculi (85%). In all type-I MS, cholecystectomy was possible except one case where partial cholecystectomy was done. Stones were removed from the Hartmann's pouch and it was closed with interrupted absorbable sutures. T-tube closure of common bile duct was done in all Type-II MS. T-tube cholangiogram was carried out on seventh post-operative day and on finding no obstruction it was removed. Similarly T-tube closure was also possible in two cases of type-III while one had Rouxen-Y hepaticojejunostomy. All cases of type-IV MS had Roux-en-Y hepaticojejunostomy. One patient had minor wound infection post-operatively which was managed by laying open the wound and change of dressings. Only one patient out of 26 (3.8 %) was found to be having carcinoma gallbladder. The mean post-operative hospital stay was 7 days. There was no mortality.

DISCUSSION:

Mirizzi syndrome is a very well-known condition which is defined as "obstruction of the common hepatic duct (CHD)

due to pressure or compression by a stone lodged in the neck or Hartmann's pouch of the gall bladder.⁹" However, a surgical case of MS has been reported by Milone M et al¹⁰ which was due to acalculous cholecystitis. Since the publication of this case in 2014, we here propose a new definition as "obstruction of the CHD due to compression by the neck or the Hartmann's pouch of the gall bladder."

The incidence of MS reported in the literature during cholecystectomies varies from 0.7 to 1.8 %.^{11,12} In this study; MS was among 0.47 % patients. It is almost similar to the findings of Xu XQ et al¹³ (0.3%) but different from Erben Y et al (0.18%).¹⁴ MS is clinically important because it may not be diagnosed preoperatively and during surgery the common bile duct (CBD) or common hepatic duct may be at a high risk of injury.¹⁵ The most widely accepted classification, Mc Cherry¹⁶ classified MS into two types in 1982. Type-I concluded only compression of the common hepatic duct while Type-II consisted of the more advanced form of disease with formation of cholecystocholedochal fistula. In 1989 another classification was proposed based on the presence and extent of fistula as follows:¹⁷

Type I – Compression of CHD by stone impacted at the neck of gallbladder without fistula

(Type II-IV – Cholecystocholedochal Fistula)

Type II- Fistula involving upto one thirds of diameter of CHD

Type III- Fistula involving upto two thirds of diameter of CHD

Type IV- Fistula involving more than two thirds of diameter of CHD

In this study proposed modification of the above classification incorporating MS due acalculous cholecystitis as follows:

Type-I : Compression of CHD without a fistula by the gallbladder neck or Hartmann's pouch

Type-II : Cholecystocholedochal Fistula

Type-IIa: Fistula involving less than half of diameter of CHD

Type-IIb: Fistula involving more than half of diameter of CHD

As this is a more practical classification as far as the treatment is concerned. Type-I cases are managed by partial or complete cholecystectomy by open or laparoscopic surgery. Type IIa cases can be managed by choledochoplasty or T-tube closure but type-IIb cases would require some form of bilioenteric anastomosis.

It was found that MS was associated mainly with multiple small calculi (85%) rather than single large calculus (15%) which is frequently thought to be the more common cause. MS can be clinically diagnosed by symptoms of obstructive jaundice with fever and pain in the upper abdomen on right side. ¹⁸ The preoperative diagnosis of MS can be made on

ultrasonography, ERCP, Magnetic resonance cholangiopancreaticography (MRCP) and percutaneous tranashepatic cholangiography (PTC). ERCP is preferred because it can be therapeutic at the same time as well by removing CBD stones and as placing a biliary stent.¹¹ In our study laparoscopic surgery was successful in 42.4 % cases. A systematic review of ten case series carried out by Antoniou SA et al¹⁹ shows 59% successful laparoscopic management of MS. However in another retrospective analysis by Erben Y et al¹⁴ laparoscopic surgery was possible in only 33% cases at Mayo's clinic.

In our series, 3.8 % (one out of 26) patients with MS harboured gallbladder cancer and Parsad TL et al^{20} has reported an incidence of 5% (7 out of 133 cases) which is almost similar to ours.

CONCLUSION:

Type-I MS can be managed with laparoscopic cholecystectomy in selected patients.Type-II and type-III MS may need placement of T-tube while most of type-IV MS are managed with Roux-en-Y hepaticojejunostomy.

_		_
I	Authors Contribution:	ì
I	Syed Mukarram Hussain: Data collection	
	Asrar Ahmad: Data analysis, write up	
I	Muhammad Awais Mughal: Acquistion of data	
I	Irum Saleem: Drafting of work	ì
I	Saqib Islam: Drafting of work	
۰.		4

REFERENCES:

- Capoor MR, Nair D, Rajni, Khanna G, Krishna SV, Chintamani MS et al. Microflora of bile aspirates in patients with acute cholecystitis with or without cholelithiasis: A tropical experience. Braz J Infect Dis 2008;12: 222-5 DOI: https://doi. org/ 10.1590 /S1413-86702008000300012
- Shafique MS, Ahmad R, Ahmad SH, Hassan SW, Khan JS. Gallstones in Young Population. Ulutas Med J. 2018;4(3):131-138 DOI: https://doi.org/10.5455/umj.20180324011035
- Gandhi D, Ojili V, Nepal P, Nagar A, Hernandez-Delima FJ, Bajaj D, Choudhary G, Gupta N, Sharma P. A pictorial review of gall stones and its associated complications. Clin Imaging. 2020;60(2):228-236. DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.1016/ j.clinimag. 2019.11.015.
- Clemente G., Tringali A., Rose AM De, Murazio M., Nuzzo G., Giuliante F. Mirizzi Syndrome : diagnosis and management of a challenging biliary disease. Can. J. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. 2018;2018 DOI: https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/6962090
- Valderrama-Treviño AI, Granados-Romero JJ, Espejel-Deloiza M, Chernitzky-Camaño J, Mera BB, Estrada-Mata AG, Ceballos-Villalva JC, Campos JA, Argüero-Sánchez R. Updates in Mirizzi syndrome. Hepatobiliary surgery and nutrition. 2017;6(3):170. DOI: https://doi.org/10.21037/hbsn.2016.11.01
- Tataria RD, Salgaonkar HP, Maheshwari G, Halder PJ. Mirizzi's syndrome: A scoring system for preoperative diagnosis. Saudi J Gastroenterol. 2018;24(5):274-281. DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.4103/sjg.

- Gelbard R, Khor D, Inaba K, Okoye O, Szczepanski C, Matsushima K, Strumwasser A, Rhee P, Demetriades D. Role of Laparoscopic Surgery in the Current Management of Mirizzi Syndrome. Am Surg. 2018;84(5):667-671. PMID: 29966566. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2016.08.283
- HAN H, Akhter SQ, Rabbi H, Islam K, Talukder MT, Islam MA. Mirizzi syndrome: diagnosis and management of a challenging biliary disease. BIRDEM [Internet]. 30Dec.2019 [cited 4Apr.2021];10(1):7-DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.3329/ birdem.v10i1.44740
- Payá-Llorente C, Vázquez-Tarragón A, Alberola-Soler A, Martínez-Pérez A, Martínez-López E, Santarrufina-Martínez S, Ortiz-Tarín I, Armañanzas-Villena E. Mirizzi syndrome: a new insight provided by a novel classification. Annals of Hepato-biliary-pancreatic Surgery. 2017;21(2):67-75. DOI: https://doi.org/10.14701/ahbps.2017.21.2.67
- Milone, M., Musella, M., Maietta, P. et al. Acute acalculous cholecystitis determining Mirizzi syndrome: case report and literature review. BMC Surg 14, 90 (2014). https://doi.org/ 10.1186/1471-2482-14-90
- 11. Mishra MC, Vashishtha S, Tandon R. Biliobiliary fistula: preoperative diagnosis and management implications. Surgery. 1990;108(5):835-9. PMID: 2237763.
- Redaelli CA, Büchler MW, Schilling MK, et al. High coincidence of Mirizzi syndrome and gallbladder carcinoma. Surgery 1997; 121:58. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0039-6060(97)90183-5
- Xu XQ, Hong T, Li BL, Liu W, Xe XD, Zheng CJ. Mirizzi Syndrome: Our experience with 27 cases in PUMC Hospital; Clin Med Sci J. 201;28.172-7.DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.1016 /S1001-9294(13)60044-9
- Erben Y, Benavente-chenhalls LA, Donohue JM, Que FG, Kendrick ML, Reid-lombardo KM et al. Diagnosis and treatment of Mirizzi syndrome:23 years Mayo clinic experience. J Am Coll Surg 2011; 213.114-9. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2011.03.008
- Mithani R, Schwesinger WH, Bingener J, Sirinek KR, Gross GW: The Mirizzi syndrome: multidisciplinary management promotes optimal outcomes. J Gastrointest Surg 2008; 12: 1022–28. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s11605-007-0305-x
- Payá-Llorente C, Vázquez-Tarragón A, Alberola-Soler A, Martínez-Pérez A, Martínez-López E, Santarrufina-Martínez S, Ortiz-Tarín I, Armañanzas-Villena E. Mirizzi syndrome: a new insight provided by a novel classification. Annals of Hepato-biliary-pancreatic Surgery. 2017;21(2):67-75. DOI: https://doi.org/10.14701/ahbps.2017.21.2.67
- Csendes A, Diaz JC, Burdiles P, Maluenda F, Nava O. Mirizzi syndrome and cholecystobiliary fistula: a unifying classification. Br J Surg 1989; 76:1139-43. DOI: https://doi. org/10.1002/bjs.1800761110
- Ibrarullah M, Saxena R, Sikora SS. Mirizzi's syndrome: identification and management strategy. Aust N Z J Surg 1993; 63:802. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1445-2197.1993.tb00344.x
- Antoniou SA, Antoniou GA, Makridis C. laparoscopic treatment of Mirizzzi syndrome: a systematic review. Surg Endosc 2010;24:33. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s00464-009-0520-5
- Parsad TL, Kumar A, Sikora SS. Mirizzi syndrome and gallbladder cancer. J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Surg 2006;13:323. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s00534-005-1072-2

Interest and Attitudes of Medical, Dental Students and Graduates Towards Pursuing Career in Basic Sciences

Emal Heer, Sohail Saadat, Omaima Anis Bhatti

ABSTRACT

Objectives: To assess attitudes and perception of medical as well as dental students and graduates about a career in basic sciences from a public sector institute of Karachi.

Study design and setting: A cross-sectional survey carried out using an online questionnaire amongst medical and dental final year students and graduates from Dow University of Health Sciences, Karachi, Pakistan.

Methodology: Data collected was analyzed using SPSS version 24.0. Chi-square test was used to compare categorical variables with likert scale responses regarding attitudes and perceptions about a career in basic sciences.

Results: Out of 315 participants, 41.3% showed interest in basic sciences career. 46.4% of graduates showed interest in basic sciences compared to 15.4% of students. Chi-square test did not reveal any significant association between medical and dental students and graduates and their attitudes and perceptions regarding a career in basic sciences.

Conclusion: Overall, a more positive response towards basic sciences was observed in our study, with graduates reported being more attracted to a basic sciences career than students. However, majority believed there is lack of motivation and awareness about this career path, limited career and post-graduation options in basic sciences, no patient interaction and pressure from family creates disinterest in this career.

Keywords: Attitudes, Basic science career, Medical and Dental, Students.

How to cite this Article:

Heer E, Saadat S, Bhatti OA. Interest and Attitudes of Medical, Dental Students and Graduates Towards Pursuing Career in Basic Sciences. J Bahria Uni Med Dental Coll. 2021; 11(4):168-173 DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.51985/JBUMDC2021053

This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License (http:// creativecommons/org/licences/by-nc/4.0) which permits unrestricted non commercial use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

INTRODUCTION:

Basic sciences build the foundation for understanding clinical teaching and learning.¹ In Pakistan, Basic Medical Science subjects such as Anatomy, Physiology, Biochemistry, Pharmacology, Pathology and Microbiology are taught at an undergraduate level in the five-year and four-year curriculum of Bachelors of Medicine and Bachelor of Surgery (MBBS) and Bachelors of Dental Surgery (BDS), respectively. Additionally, Basic Dental Science subjects such as Oral Biology and Tooth Morphology, Oral Pathology, Community Dentistry and Science of Dental Materials are taught in preclinical years of BDS.

Emal Heer

Demonstrator/Lecturer, Department of Pharmacology Dr. Ishrat-ul-Ebad Khan Institute of Oral Health Sciences, Dow University of Health Sciences Email: emalbhatti@gmail.com

Sohail Saadat

I

I

Assistant Professor, Department of Community Dentistry, Dr. Ishrat-ul-Ebad Khan Institute of Oral Health Sciences, Dow University of Health Sciences

Omaima Anis Bhatti Student of 4th Year MBBS Aga Khan University

Received: 02-Sep-2021 Accepted: 28-Sep-2021 Deciding a future career path is an important yet complicated task especially for medical and dental students. An individual's inclination toward a particular career depends on various factors coupled with awareness and attitude towards different pathways in their field of study.² For a medical graduate, future certainty, good earning and a better working environment direct the preference for a career path.³ Furthermore, rotating in different specialties during their time in medical school help students decide a career path in a particular specialty after graduation.⁴ Basic sciences can be opted as a potential career rather than just a prerequisite to get promoted to clinical years, a concept that needs reinforcement amidst students.⁵ Career options after graduating from a medical school initially fall into two broad categories, namely clinical sciences and basic sciences.⁶

It has been observed that students become more averse to basic sciences as they progress through medical school,⁷ resulting in graduates distributing unevenly throughout different medical specialties leading to shortage in one field and overload in an other^{8,9} Medical students of Juntendo University School of Medicine in Tokyo, Japan reported a 24.5 % rate of interest in basic sciences and considered it as one of their career paths, They also described the shortage of teaching faculty required in basic sciences and are working on it to alleviate this problem.¹⁰

Another study found that only 10% of third-year MBBS students in a medical college in Lahore, Pakistan, were interested in basic medical sciences. Therefore, reasons for lack of inclination towards basic sciences in our region also need to be explored. While several studies have been conducted on MBBS students showing lack of interest in basic sciences and considering it as a career option, there is little information available about the perspectives of medical and dental students and graduates regarding it. Therefore, the objective of this study was to assess the interests attitudes and perceptions of medical as well as dental students and graduates towards pursuing a career in basic sciences from a public institution in Karachi, Pakistan,

METHODOLOGY:

This cross-sectional survey was carried out amongst medical and dental final year students and graduates including house officers from four medical and three dental constituent colleges of Dow University of Health Sciences, a public sector university in Karachi, Pakistan, regarding their attitudes and perception about a career in basic sciences. Approval from Institutional Review Board of Dow University of Heath Sciences was taken before the start of study [Ref: IRB-1815/DUHS/Approval/2020] dated 1st December, 2020. Objective of the study was explained in questionnaire, consent of participation and assurance of confidentiality of all the information provided was acknowledged. Participants were allowed to refuse or withdraw from study at any time.Final year students and graduates within 5 years of graduation were chosen. Respondents who provided incomplete responses were excluded. Sample size was calculated using an Open Epi calculator. The proportion of considering basic sciences as a career path was 23.0% among medical students according to Y.Yamazaki et al.¹⁰ With 5% margin of error and 95% confidence level, the total estimated sample size came out to be 273. A self-designed questionnaire was made using Google docs, adopted from a study conducted at a medical school in Tokyo, Japan¹⁰. After the approval from Institutional Review Board, study tool questionnaire was applied to 30% of total sample size (n=80) for the purpose of validation. Cronbach's Alpha was used to evaluate internal consistency of the questionnaire which was within an acceptable range (0.644). After validation of the questionnaire, participants who fulfilled the inclusion criteria were contacted through social media (eg: WhatsApp, Instagram, Gmail, Facebook) and were asked to fill out an online questionnaire with informed consent.

Questionnaire consisted of 3 sections; 1: basic demographic details, 2: interest/disinterest in pursuing a career in basic sciences, which consisted of three sub headings as follows: a) interest in basic sciences as a career option, b) reasons of interest in basic sciences and c) reasons of disinterest in basic sciences and 3: a 5 point Likert scale questions ranging from "strongly agree "to "strongly disagree" on attitudes and perception about a career in basic sciences. Responses

were analyzed first which were later merged (strongly agree/agree=1, neutral=2, strongly disagree/disagree=3)-Table 1. Data collected was entered and analyzed using SPSS version 24.0. Frequencies of categorical variables and multiple responses were calculated. Chi-square test was used to compare categorical variables with Likert scale responses regarding attitudes and perceptions about a career in basic sciences and interest in basic sciences. P-value of <0.05 was considered significant. Results were presented using tables and figures.

RESULTS:

A total of 316 individuals responded to the questionnaire, out of which one participant was excluded from study for not fulfilling the inclusion criteria. Demographic details of participants were shown in Table 1. Mean age of participants was 25.37±2.150. Ratio of females and dentists/dental students who responded were more than medical students and males, as study design was convenience sampling, results made were according to questionnaires returned by the population Interest in Basic Sciences as a career option: Overall, a total of 130 (41.3%) participants showed interest in basic sciences as a career option while 120 (38.1%) showed no interest and 65 (20.6 %) were not sure about it (Table.1). Reasons of interest and disinterest are shown in Table 1. Chi-square test was applied between categorical variables and their interest in basic sciences as a career option. Educational level and marital status had a significant association with interest in basic sciences, out of all graduates, 46.4% showed interest whereas amongst final year students only 15.4% of students showed interest in basic science career from both disciplines MBBS and BDS respectively (p-value: 0.001). Similarly, out of all married individuals, 47.5% showed interest in basic science career that was slightly higher than those who were single 37.4% (p-value: 0.032). Gender, professional qualification, and employment status did not significantly influence the interest towards choosing a career in basic sciences (p-values: 0.586, 0.171 and 0.472 respectively) (Table.2) Attitudes and perception about a career in Basic Sciences: Chi square test was used to compare different variables with relevant Likert scale questions regarding their attitudes and perception about a career in basic sciences. Chi square test did not reveal any significant difference as any level of education or graduation, employment status, gender, field of study or marital status did not impact their attitudes and perceptions towards a career in basic sciences. Almost similar agreement responses among both medical and dental students and graduates were observed. Majority of students and graduates agreed to statements regarding a perception that "There is a lack of awareness amongst medical students/graduates regarding basic sciences as a career option" (p-value=0.092), also that "There are limited post-graduation or employment options in basic sciences" and "lack of motivation for pursuing career in basic sciences due to no patient interaction and

Demographics		Ν	%
Candar	Male	52	16.5
Gender	Female	263	83.5
	21-23	78	24.8
Age	24-26	131	41.6
	27-29	106	33.6
Professional qualification	MBBS	110	34.9
Professional quantication	BDS	205	65.1
	Final year student	52	16.5
Current educational level	Medical house officer	18	5.7
Current cudeational level	Dental house officer	55	17.5
	Graduated done with house job	190	60.3
	House officer	69	21.9
	Post graduate trainee	43	13.7
Current position after	Employed	91	28.9
graduation	Unemployed	60	19
	Not applicable	52	16.5
Marital status	Single	195	61.8
Warnar Status	Married	120	38.1
Interest/Disinterest in pu	rsuing a career in basic sciences		<u> </u>
		Ν	%
	Yes	130	41.3
Interest in basic sciences	No	120	38.1
as career option Not sure		65	20.6
	I am interested in research	53	27.5
Reasons of interest in	I am interested in teaching and/or non-clinical job	45	23.3
Basic sciences	sciences Better balance between work and life		28
Better working place/environment and/or working hours		34	17.6
	No particular reason	7	3.6
	I entered medical college to become a clinical practitioner	117	52
	I am not interested in pursuing a career in basic sciences		20
Reasons of disinterest in	I am not interested in academia related career	29	12.9
(multiple responses)	Basic sciences won't pay me enough	9	4
(F OFF CONT	Family/peer pressures	7	3.1
	No particular reason	18	8

T 11 0	a .	1 .		1	T						. •
Table_7	Comparison	hotwoon	variables s	nd	Interact	111	hagic	SCIDDCOS	or recearch	ac career	ontion
1a010-2.	Companson	Detween	variables a	mu	multics	111	Dasie	SCIUNCUS	of research	ascarcer	opuon
	1										1

Variables	3	No (n/%)	Yes (n/%)	Not sure (n/%)	P-value
Gender	Male	23(44.2)	20(38.5)	9(17.3)	0.586
	Female	97(36.9)	110(41.8)	56(21.3)	
Professional qualification	MBBS	49(44.5)	43(39.1)	18(16.4)	0.171
rolessional quantication	BDS	71(34.6)	87(42.4)	47(22.9)	0.171
Current educational level	Final year students	27(51.9)	8(15.4)	17(32.7)	
Current cutcational level	Graduates	93(35.4)	122(46.4)	48(18.3)	0.001
Current position after graduation	Employed	72(35.5)	91(44.8)	40(19.7)	0.472
Current position after graduation	Unemployed	21(35.0)	31(51.7)	8(13.3)	0.472
Marital status	Single	73(37.4)	73(37.4)	49(25.1)	0.032*
	Married	47(39.2)	57(47.5)	16(13.3)	

Statement		Agree	Neutral	Disagree	p-values
There is a lack of awareness amongst medical students/graduates regarding basic sciences a career option		100(90.9%)	4(3.6%)	6(5.5%)	0.092
		173(84.4%)	22(10.7%)	10(4.9%)	0.072
There are limited post-graduation or employment options in basic sciences		75(68.2%)	27(24.5%)	8(7.3%)	0.418
		154(75.1%)	39(19.0%)	12(5.9%)	0.418
There is a lack of motivation to pursue career in basic sciences because of no patient interaction and little use of medical training		86(78.2%)	20(18.2%)	4(3.6%)	0.000
		179(87.3%)	20(9.8%)	6(2.9%)	0.070
Basic science research is not as well recognized and not given enough importance as clinical research		80(72.7%)	22(20.0%)	8(7.3%)	0.853
		155(75.6%)	37(18.0%)	13(6.3%)	
There a lack of encouragement for pursuing basic sciences by teachers		82(74.5%)	21(19.1%)	7(6.4%)	1.000
and medical community around you	BDS	153(74.6%)	39(19.0%)	13(6.3%)	1.000
Pressure from family and society makes most students choose clinical	MBBS	70(63.6%)	27(24.5%)	13(11.8%)	0.204
career path	BDS	114(55.6%)	55(26.8%)	36(17.6%)	0.294

Table 3. Attitudes and perception of medical and dental students and graduates about a career in basic sciences (?² test)

little use of medical training" (p-value=0.418 and 0.090 respectively). They also perceived that basic science research is not as recognized and given importance as clinical research (p value=0.853), "pressure from society makes most students choose clinical path" (p-value=0.294) and "There a lack of encouragement for pursuing basic sciences by teachers and medical community around you" (p-value: 1.000) (**Table.3**). **DISCUSSION:**

Career in basic medical and dental sciences mainly revolves around academic teaching and research. Moreover, basic science research ultimately paves the way for thoroughly understanding and reforming clinical medicine and practice for the well-being of patients.¹¹ A study conducted in an Australian critical care unit stressed the importance of basic science research in clinical practice, where 74% of health professionals concluded that basic sciences holds a significant impact on clinical diagnosis.12 Medical graduates find clinical sciences more attractive than basic sciences because there is a general perception that it offers a more secure and profitable job, on the other side, students avoid opting for basic sciences as they believe it may narrow down their skills to teaching only without any clinical development.¹³ To reinforce this, a study in Nepal concluded that only 9% of students preferred basic sciences for post-graduation.⁵

Previous studies conducted at an undergraduate level and few among house officers of various medical colleges of Pakistan and abroad revealed a basic sciences career being least preferred by medical students.^{5,9,10} This study, however, focused on final year students along with graduates including house officers up to five years of their graduation from both medical and dental backgrounds. Final year students and graduates within 5 years of graduation were chosen as they have understanding of both basic and clinical sciences and they still remain undecided about their career³, with four medical colleges and three dental colleges affiliated with Dow University of Health Sciences, Karachi, Pakistan participating in the study. Overall, a more positive response towards basic sciences was observed in this study. Total 41.3% participants showed interest in basic science career which was comparatively higher than the studies conducted previously. For example, a similar study with contrasting results carried out at Dow International Medical College, Karachi, Pakistan, showed only 4.1% of medical students choosing basic sciences as a preference for a prospective career.¹⁴

In this study, graduates reported being more attracted to a basic science career than students. In a study conducted amongst final years and graduates (house officers) in Karachi, Pakistan, both groups showed no significant difference in choosing a career specialty, contrasting to this study where a larger sample of graduates was taken, and seemed to be more interested in basic sciences as compared to students.¹⁵ One explanation to this could be that after graduation many students get more exposed to different specialties during house-job which might influence their choices, since they get to experience the clinical workload more closely. Secondly, country like Pakistan; there are limited seats in every post graduate program specially in dental medicine, along with a decreased passing ratio of post graduate exams and high saturation and competitiveness in employment in clinical fields, which might result in graduates being more inclined towards other specialties such as basic sciences.¹⁶ Deducing from this study, married individuals showed more interest in basic science career, which could be result of prioritizing their family along with receiving a stable income and a better lifestyle which might lead to more preference for this specialty.

Studies suggest career counseling for medical students is imperative, as many students despite being exposed to every specialty still remained doubtful at the end of their undergraduate school.¹⁷ However, it can be deduced from our findings that career related decisions may get defined years past graduation as well and studies should not be limited to the student level only. Career choice is driven by an array of factors which leads to a final decision. One such factor is a promising lifestyle with a better work life balance along with flexibility in timings, which comes with a basic sciences job.¹⁸ On the other hand, the desire of becoming a clinician proves to be a demotivating factor for a basic sciences profession. It has been seen that no patient interaction leads to decreased interest and motivation towards a basic sciences career.¹⁹ Secondly, in this study only 3% considered pressure from family as a reason for disinterest in basic sciences, which is consistent with the results of another study where dental students perceived enforcement from family least important factor deciding a career.²⁰ However, on a larger scale, societal and family pressure does play a very influential role in deciding career paths in this part of the world, as clinicians are held in the highest regard and a basic sciences job is considered less important in society. This perception needs to change in the society as a whole, since basic sciences contribute heavily to evolving clinical medicine through advancing research in clinical pharmacology and understanding of disease pathology.

As many students opt for a career in clinical specialties rather than basic sciences, a deficiency of teaching faculty in many medical institutes is created⁸, and this issue requires utmost attention, as 38.1% of respondents showed disinterest for basic sciences in the study which still a big number which should not be ignored. Hence, it's important to provide sufficient career counseling for both broad categories of career paths. Study showed no significant differences with nearly similar responses among variables regarding their attitudes and perception about a career in basic science. However, majority of the students in this survey from both disciplines agreed that there is lack of awareness among students about basic science career and there are limited post-graduation/employment options in basic sciences. In findings of a similar study, dental students reported being less aware of the variety of career options and were less interested in research related fields.²¹ This could be linked to students from our study being unfamiliar about further studies and employment options in this specialty. In a similar research, dental students reported insufficient knowledge and awareness about research related career, as most perceive clinical experience being more essential than research.²² In this part of the world, dental science students usually perceive that basic medical science careers are only available to medical students, a concept that needs to be redefined.

Respondents from study believed to some extent that basic sciences research is not given as much heed as clinical research which might result in little or no interest in basic sciences careers. Attention given to basic science research at undergraduate level is poor, which needs improvement as it can impact clinical skills as well as career choices later on.²³ As in a survey of 2019, basic science was not a preferred

career among students as most of them were not satisfied with basic science teaching and did not feel it's relevance to clinical practice.²⁴ Similarly, in this study they also felt lack of interest in basic science career is due to no patient interaction in this field which leads to students being more attracted to clinical sciences. Opportunities should be given to those in basic sciences to have some patient interaction alongside research and academics or take part in clinical researches which might overcome this issue.¹⁰ Many participants from study population also confessed that they face lack of encouragement from teachers and medical community for pursuing career in basic sciences, an issue that needs consideration. Students believe that a good teaching faculty plays a major role in creating fascination towards basic sciences.²⁵ Improvements in respect to awareness about career and post-graduation/employment options should be done. Teachers and fellow educators should work on encouraging and motivating students towards basic science career and more direct clinical role should be incorporated in basic sciences that might attract more professionals towards a career in basic sciences.

CONCLUSION:

More interest has been observed amongst graduates than in students for basic science career. Involving dental students in this survey augmented this study as their interests and perspectives about a career in basic sciences also came into light. However, majority of students and graduates from both disciplines believed there is lack of motivation and awareness about this career path, limited career and postgraduation options in basic sciences, no patient interaction and pressure from family creates disinterest in this career.

Authors Contribution: Emal Heer: Authors contributed equally in data collection, analysis and writeup Sohail Saadat: Authors contributed equally in data collection, analysis and writeup Omaima Anis Bhatti: Authors contributed equally in data collection, analysis and writeup

REFERENCES:

- Althubaiti S, Althubaiti N. Saudi Medical Students' Interest in Basic Medical Sciences and the Factors Affecting It. Global Journal of Health Science. 2018;10:30. DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.5539/gjhs. v10n4p30
- Sajadi FS, Borna R, Borna A, Ahmadipour H. Attitude of Kerman dental school students toward their field of study and career future. Int J Dental Sci Res. 2015;3:60-3. DOI: https:// doi.org/10.12691/ ijdsr-3-3-5
- Khatri R. Basic sciences: an alternative career? Kathmandu Univ Med J. 2013;11(41):78-80.DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.3126/kumj.v11i1. 11033
- Alawad AA, Khan WS, Abdelrazig YM, Elzain YI, Khalil HO, Ahmed OB, et al. Factors considered by undergraduate medical students when selecting specialty of their future careers. Pan Afr Med J. 2015;20(102). DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.11604/pamj. 2015.20.102.4715

- Shah DK, Jha R, Sah A, Sah P, Paudel K, Dhungana G. Students' Attitude and Perception towards Basic Sciences in a Medical School of Nepal: A Cross-sectional Study. Journal of Contemporary Medical Education. 2015;3:1. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5455/jcme.20151125021314
- Rosyila, Syakurah R. Medical student career choice's determinants in Asia: a systematic review. International Journal of Public Health Science (IJPHS). 2020;9:57-61. DOI: http://doi.org/10.11591/ijphs.v9i1.20400
- Gupta S, Gupta AK, Verma M, Kaur H, Kaur A, Singh K. The attitudes and perceptions of medical students towards basic science subjects during their clinical years: A crosssectional survey. Int J Appl Basic Med Res. 2014;4(1):16-9. DOI: https://doi.org/10.4103/2229-516X.125675
- Querido S, van den Broek S, de Rond M, Wigersma L, Ten Cate O. Factors affecting senior medical students' career choice. Int J Med Educ. 2018;9:332-9. DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.5116/ijme.5c14. de75
- Yamazaki Y, Uka T, Shimizu H, Miyahira A, Sakai T, Marui E. Japanese medical students' interest in basic sciences: a questionnaire survey of a medical school in Japan. The Tohoku Journal of Experimental Medicine. 2013;229(2):129-36. DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.1620/tjem.229.129
- Javed K, Anwar K, Aamir F. Perception and Interest of Medical Students Regarding Basic Medical Science Subjects. Cell. 2016;322:8400970.
- de Bruin AB, Schmidt HG, Rikers RM. The role of basic science knowledge and clinical knowledge in diagnostic reasoning: a structural equation modeling approach. Acad Med. 2005;80(8):765-73. DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.1097/ 00001888-200508000-00014
- Laurie GA, Venkatesh B, Kruger PS, Morgan TJ, Pascoe RL. Basic science research in Australian intensive care practice. Crit Care Resusc. 2008;10(1):52. PMID: 18304018
- Yograj S, Bhat AN, Gupta RK, Gupta G, Kalsotra L. Role of basic sciences in making of a clinician: Perspectives of medical students from North India. J Educ Health Promot. 2019;8(171). DOI: https://doi.org/10.4103/jehp.jehp_66_19
- Akhund S, Shaikh ZA, Kolachi HB. Career related choices of medical students from an International Medical College of Karachi, Pakistan. JLUMHS. 2012;11(3):180-84.
- Zia S, Abbas M, Sulaiman M, Sheikh SM. Career choices of Medical doctors at Graduate level-A Multicenter Study. Pakistan journal of medical sciences. 2017;33(5):1086. DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.12669/pjms.335.12945

- Biggs JS. Postgraduate medical training in Pakistan: observations and recommendations. J Coll Physicians Surg Pak. 2008;18(1):58-63. DOI: https://doi.org/ 01.2008 /jcpsp.5863
- 17. Al-Fouzan R, Al-Ajlan S, Marwan Y, Al-Saleh M. Factors affecting future specialty choice among medical students in Kuwait. Medical education online. 2012;17(1):19587. DOI: https://doi.org/10.3402/meo.v17i0.19587
- Yamazaki Y, Uka T, Marui E. Professional fulfillment and parenting work-life balance in female physicians in Basic Sciences and medical research: a nationwide cross-sectional survey of all 80 medical schools in Japan. Human resources for health. 2017;15(1):65. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1186/s12960-017-0241-0
- Yamazaki Y, Fukushima S, Kozono Y, Uka T, Marui E. Exploring Attractiveness of the Basic Sciences for Female Physicians. The Tohoku Journal of Experimental Medicine. 2018;244(1):7-14. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1620/tjem.244.7
- Knevel RJ, Gussy MG, Farmer J, Karimi L. Nepalese dental hygiene and dental students' career choice motivation and plans after graduation: a descriptive cross-sectional comparison. BMC medical education. 2015;15(1):219. DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.1186/s12909-015-0500-5
- Crossley ML, Mubarik A. A comparative investigation of dental and medical student's motivation towards career choice. British dental journal. 2002;193(8):471-3. DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.1038/sj.bdj.4801599
- Alhazzazi TY, Bogari DF, Alzebiani NA, Hazzazi LW, Abed HH, Al-Hazmi N, et al. Research Interest Assessment Among Dental Students at King Abdulaziz University Faculty of Dentistry. 2016. DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.15226 /jdodt. 2016.00160
- DeFranco DB, Sowa G. The Importance of Basic Science and Research Training for the Next Generation of Physicians and Physician Scientists. Molecular Endocrinology. 2014;28(12): 1919-21. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1210/me.2014-1343
- Getu AA. Basic Science courses in the eyes of Medical Students during their clinical study years at University of Gondar. 2019. DOI: https://doi.org/10.7439/ijbar.v10i10.5275
- 25. Abd-Rabo M, El-Belbasy R, Abo-Elmagd EK. Medical Students' Attitude and Perception towards Basic Medical Sciences in the Faculty of Medicine for Girls, Al-Azhar University: A Study Prior to the Integrated Program. The Egyptian Journal of Hospital Medicine. 2018;70(12):2043-50. DOI: https://doi.org/10.12816/0045026



Outcomes of Gestational Diabetes Mellitus in Pakistani Mothers: An Experience of a Tertiary Care Hospital

Samina Naseem Khattak, Abid Hussain Shah, Ayesha Imran, Muhammad Irfan Khattak, Khurram Mansoor, Asma Naveed Memon

ABSTRACT

Objective: To assess the incidence and outcome of gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) during pregnancy among sample of Pakistani population.

Study Design and Setting: This was an analytic case-control prospective study carried out at two centers (CMH Kharian and PNS Shifa Hospital Karachi) from 1st Jan till 30th July 2021.

Methodology Previously healthy mothers were divided into three groups according to their risk of elevated glucose levels gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) during pregnancy. Associations between GDM eminence (exposure variable) and pregnancy-related, fetal, and neonatal outcomes were reviewed (i.e., mode of delivery, preterm baby, pregnancy-induced hypertension, and fetal macrosomia, stillbirth, premature delivery etc. One way ANOVA was employed to compare the significant differences in different dependent variables amongst three groups. P Values of <0.05 were considered substantial.

Results: A total of 120 patients were divided into 3 groups Group 1 (uncontrolled sugar group) who could not achieve adequate sugar control, Group II (adequate sugar control group) and Group III as control group (Non-Diabetic). The mean age in our population was 24 (+ 4.15) years most of study population 70% of mothers were under 25 years of age. The majority (95%) of deliveries in the control group (Euglycemic) were uneventful, but poor fetal outcomes were noted in groups 1 2 (documented to have elevated blood sugars,) especially in the group with Uncontrolled Sugar. GDM was positively associated with preterm birth, stillbirth and macrosomia.

Conclusion: GDM is a prevalent disease in Pakistan and needs and has association with poor pregnancy outcomes. Urgent attention requires at individual and state level to reduce morbidity and mortality.

Keywords: Gestational Diabetes, GDM, Fetal outcomes.

How to cite this Article:

Khattak SN, Shah AH, Imran A, Khattak MI, Mansoor K, Memon AN. Outcomes of Gestational Diabetes Mellitus in Pakistani Mothers: An Experience of a Tertiary Care Hospital. J Bahria Uni Med Dental Coll. 2021; 11(4):174-178 DOI: https://doi.org/10.51985 /JBUMDC2021050

This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License (http:// creativecommons/org/licences/by-nc/4.0) which permits unrestricted non commercial use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

INTRODUCTION:

Lot of progress have been made regarding healthcare facilities especially during COVID pandemic and attention have been

Samina Naseem Khattak Associate Professor, Department of Gynae/Obs, Classified Gynecologist, PNS SHIFA Karachi Email: saminakk@gmail.com
Abid Hussain Shah Commanding Officer PNS SHIFA Karachi
Ayesha Imran Associate Professor, Department of Gynae/Obs, Classified Gynecologist, Combine Military Hospital Kharian
Muhammad Irfan Khattak Assistant Professor, Classified Medical Specialist and Nephrologist, PNS SHIFA Karachi
Khurram Mansoor Assistant professor, Classified Medical Specialist and Nephrologist, Combine Military Hospital Malir, Karachi
Asma Naveed Memon Assistant Professor, Classified Nephrologist PNS SHIFA Karachi
Received: 30-Aug-2021 Accepted: 28-Sep-2021

paid to the development of health disabilities across the world. However, it is feared that over occupation by COVID may result in suboptimal health care for Non COVID related illnesses.

Diabetes is a worldwide challenge and a big health concern. Economic and social development in various countries has led to changes in dietary habits which in its turn posed a massive threat in community. The fact is that not only common population is at risk, but pregnant ladies are especially vulnerable to diabetes and its adverse effects for children and mother.¹ It is a well-known fact that pregnancy with diabetes carries an extremely poor prognosis as adverse fetal and maternal outcomes are usually associated with diabetes mellitus. Recently there has been a surge in diabetic cases, especially in underdeveloped countries. It is believed that excessive use of steroids in treating COVID and sedentary lifestyle during lockdown may be responsible for this phenomenon.² In contrast to developed countries surprisingly little research has been carried out in developing countries that are more vulnerable to diabetes mellitus as it is quite a common phenomenon in Asian countries.³ Although accurate data on the burden of gestational Diabetes Mellitus (GDM) are not available because of the lack of unanimously accepted and adopted diagnostic standards and screening approaches.⁴⁻⁷ GDM is estimated to affect around 1 in 10 pregnant women worldwide Most of the data regarding diagnosis and association of diabetes with other comorbidities has been taken from European countries. Likely, this data may not apply to our communities because of diverse cultural, social, and geopolitical differences.^{38,9}

In underdeveloped countries like Pakistan GDM has been an immense problem since long time.¹⁰ Recently due to over commitment for COVID and relative in sensitivity of the local communities, it is important that latest trends of GDM and its implications are documented .It is likely that the changed lifestyles and excessive use of medication such as high dose steroids for covid in the recent past has resulted in aggravation of the incidence of GDM .This study can help in getting deep insight into this under recognized problem. This valuable information can be used in further research projects and may help in health care planning in future. Hence; this can add vital information for understanding, planning, and management of this complex regional and global health care issue. This can be compared to the world literature and help to ascertain whether the findings of the international literature are true in this part of world. Therefore: the aim of the study was to assess the incidence and poor outcome of gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) during pregnancy among sample of Pakistani population.

METHODOLOGY:

This was an analytic case-control prospective study carried out at two centers (CMH Kharian and PNS Shifa Hospital Karachi) from 1st Jan till 30th July 2021. Both these hospitals are tertiary care hospitals. Ethical approval for this study was attained from the PNS SHIFA Ethics Committee for Students Research Projects at PNS Shifa hospital Karachi. The study was conducted in accordance to standards and guidelines of the Declaration of Helsinki of medical research regarding human subjects.

All those patients who reported in the outpatient department for antenatal care were screened for risk factors of Gestational Diabetes (BMI >30kg/m, previous macrocosmic baby 4.5kg or more, previous gestational diabetes, family history of diabetes in first degree relatives, Glycosuria of 2+ or above on one occasion) women with any of these risk factors were tested for gestational diabetes using 75-gram 2-hour OGTT at booking appointment. In addition, women with fasting plasma glucose levels of 5.6 mmol/l or 2-hour postprandial plasma glucose level of 7.8 mmol/le or more were diagnosed as having GDM. They were divided into three different groups. Group 1 (GDM Uncontrolled Sugar group) consisted of patients who were diagnosed as GDM but failed to achieve their targets glycaemia goals because of non-compliance or any other reasons. The second group consisted of GDM patients who were compliant and achieved target glycaemic levels. They were labelled Controlled Sugar group. The third group was the control group, and these patients did not suffer from any comorbidity. All patients who were previously known as diabetic, hypertensive, renal or heart patients were excluded. Similarly, those patients using any medications chronically for reasons other than nutritional supplements were excluded from the study. Sample was calculated using Raosoft sample size calculator. With 95% confidence interval ,and 50% response distribution the sample size was 100 .A recently published study by Musarrat Riaz was also consulted in sample calculation.¹¹

Details of the patients were noted and entered on a designated electronic proforma. All the patients were followed up till delivery. Data was analyzed using SPSS v 28. Descriptive statics were obtained for age, parity, blood pressure and adverse fetal outcome. They were expressed as means and percentages. Fetal adverse outcomes were noted as percentages of preterm deliveries, stillbirth, macrosomia, and shoulder dystocia. Associations between GDM eminence (exposure variable) and pregnancy-related, fetal, and neonatal outcomes were reviewed (i.e., mode of delivery, preterm baby, pregnancy-induced hypertension, and fetal macrosomia, stillbirth, premature delivery etc. One way ANOVA was employed to compare the significant differences in different dependent variables amongst three groups. P Values of <0.05 were considered substantial.

RESULTS:

The mean age of study sample was 24 years S.D (+4.15). Mean age was 25 years S.D (+5.23) in uncontrolled sugar group and 26 S.D (+2.72) years in the Controlled GDM group. Significantly, lower mean age was noted in the non-diabetic group at 21 years S.D (+4.15).

Positive family history was strongly suggestive of GDM.A total of 16 (43%) in group 1, 16 (43%) in group II and 5 (14%) in the group III volunteered family history of diabetes mellites. Thereby >80% of the GDM population had a suggestive family history of DM.

Mean systolic Bp was 118 mmHg S.D (+ 9.63) in GDM group as compared to the mean systolic Bp 112mmHg (p<0.05). Most (95%) of deliveries in control group were un-eventful. Regarding **fetal outcomes** n=5 still births were noted in the study group and all of them occurred in the GDM group 1. So poor glycaemic control was significantly associated with still births .GDM was decisively associated with other poor fetal outcomes such as shoulder dystocia n=2 (5%), macrosomia n =4 (10%) in GDM Uncontrolled sugar group. Fetal outcome was good in non-diabetic group .A total of n=38 (95%) , normal births were recorded in control group. Merely only n= 19 (48%) of Uncontrolled GDM group had normal births. One way ANOVA test was used to know the significance of difference of poor outcomes results between three study groups. Unfavourable fetal

outcomes were significantly more common in the Uncontrolled GDM group-table-2P value<0.05. In the Controlled sugar GDM group p-value became insignificant. So, good glycaemic control improved fetal outcomes in the second study group but remained above the control group.

DISCUSSION:

This study is the first in Pakistan to substantiate the impact of GDM and its treatment on fetal outcomes and compare it with controls. In this study advanced age, family history of DM/GDM, and previous history of giving stillbirth / miscarriage and suboptimal glycaemic control were associated with increased risk of complicated pregnancy. As far as GDM effects on maternal outcomes, mothers suffering from GDM compared to those without GDM were at elevated risk of C/section delivery, preterm deliveries, pregnancy-related hypertension, and having a macrocosmic Newborn. Mean age was 25 years S.D (+5.23) in GDM Un Controlled sugar group and 26 years S.D (+2.72) in the treated GDM group. Mean age was significantly low in the control group at 21 years S.D (+4.15). This finding signifies the risks associated with increasing age during pregnancy. This fact has been observed in other international literature which states that increased maternal age in pregnancy leads to various complications.¹²

A recently published study in Kuwait by Z Groof, et al addressed the same issue.⁸ Their study design was different and included a bigger population size. They noted that the prevalence of GDM was positively associated with advancing maternal age and pre-pregnancy body mass index. They found that GDM was associated with caesarean section delivery (OR=1 76, 95% CI: 1.17, 2.66) and increased birth weight in the fetus (OR=2 36, 95% CI: 1.14, 4.89)5. They

Table-1: Difference between three groups for adverse Fetal outcomes

Comparison	Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	P-value*
Between Groups	4.550	2	2.275		
Within Groups	19.375	117	.166	13.738	<.001
Total	23.925	119			

*One way ANOVA

also reported poor maternal and fetal outcomes in GDM mothers as was the case in our study. However, their study was limited by the retrospective design and relied on the mother subjective history of being exposed to GDM in the past. This study design lacked objectivity as recall of the previous DM and adverse outcomes cannot be used as reliable criteria to draw credible inferences. Despite having small, control group in the study added an extra dimension to the credibility of data for comparison. All the data was objectively taken and authenticated. The confounder of recall bias was absent in this study.

The mean age of the GDM Uncontrolled Sugar group and Controlled sugar group was around 26 which was significantly higher than the control group 22 years. This finding was in keeping with international studies which state that increased maternal age was associated with poor outcomes for mothers and newborn. Mary Carolan et al linked several factors to increasing prevalence including older maternal age and non-Caucasian ethnicity.¹² They believed increasing maternal age is a risk factor for GDM which is associated with poor pregnancy outcomes. It was

mentioned that the highest GDM frequency was seen among Asian women at 11.5%, compared with Australian origin women at 3.7%. They also suggested that there was robust evidence that women born in all regions except North America were more likely to develop GDM in pregnancies at grown-up ages (p<0.001). Study included only Asian ladies only and as mentioned earlier GDM was quite common in the population >25 years of age.^{12,13}

Despite the substantial progress in the treatment of diabetes mellitus, still the situation is that both pregestational (PGDM) and gestational diabetes (GDM) poses an additional risk to the embryo, newborn, and course of pregnancy. PGDM usually increase the rate of congenital deformities; especially nervous system, cardiac, and limbs. GDM can interfere with fetal growth, often leads to macrosomia, but in the presence of severe maternal complications, especially nephropathy.It can inhibit fetal growth (IUGR).^{3,14} GDM can induce a variety of perinatal problems such as stillbirth and perinatal death, cardiomyopathy, respiratory illness, and perinatal

0 1

I) GDM Group	(J) GDM Group	Mean Difference (I-J)	Std. Error	P-Value*
GDM group I (Uncontrolled)	GDM group (Controlled)	.275*	.091	.009
ODW group I (Cheomroneu)	control	.475*	.091	<.001
GDM_group II (Controlled)	GDM group (Uncontrolled)	275*	.091	.009
obiii group ii (contronou)	control	.200	.091	.076
Control group III	GDM group (Uncontrolled)	475*	.091	<.001
Control group III	GDM group (Controlled)	200	.091	.076

*One way ANOVA

asphyxia. GDM that develops in the second half of pregnancy induces similar but less severe complications. This severity is directly linked to earlier answers of diabetes, and it reduces with control of blood sugar. Early initiation of GDM might cause some increase in the rate of malformations. all our findings were in confirmation of Asher Ornoy et al.¹³ Most of the poor fetal outcomes such as still both, shoulder dystocia

Figure: 1 Pie chart showing clustering of suboptimal outcomes in GDM Uncontrolled Sugar group





and macrosomia occurred in the GDM Uncontrolled Sugar group. Preterm deliveries before 37 weeks (about 8 and a half months) of gestation were noted in all three groups with the predominant percentage in group 1. n=8 (20%) was registered in GDM Uncontrolled Sugar group while n=6 (15%) and n=1 (2.5%) was found in Controlled Sugar group and control group, respectively. On the other hand, >95% of births in the control group were normal.

Another important aspect of our study was that in group 2 where GDM patients who received adequate treatment and attained fair glycaemic control were shown to carry better outcomes than group 1. However, fetal outcome remained poor even in this group in comparison to controls. Ornoy A et al extended their study to long term follow up of various complications in new-born such as attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) and autism spectrum disorder etc.¹³ This study did not include a long time follow up of such children.

Overall, the findings of this study were in keeping with most of the robust Asian and international literature however the exact magnitude and size of the impact on various variables differed widely.^{3,13,15-17}Although there was a lack of quality local literature, no major disparities were noted when compared with our findings.^{11,18-21}

This study was limited by a small number of patients and financial constraints. These limitations were the result of a substantial number of study dropouts and poor prenatal follow-up of patients. Individual treatment protocols administered to patients were not studies. The different treatment procedures and protocols for sugar control may have contributed to the different outcomes. Insulin therapy and oral antidiabetic therapy was not observed separately, which could have been a potential confounder. Our sampling method was non-probability random sampling, which may have introduced selection bias. Moreover, PNS Shifa Hospital is the referral hospital for all the naval hospitals in Balochistan, Sind and even Skardu. Of course, only complicated pregnancies are managed in our hospital, which might have led to inflated numbers in the study.

It is recommended that aggressive screening programmes need to be implemented for early diagnosis and treatment of gestational diabetes. More research is needed with larger population size and robust study design to explore this emerging major health issues.

CONCLUSION:

Gestational diabetes is prevalent in Pakistan. Suboptimal sugar control is associated with adverse fetal outcomes. Early recognition and treatment lead to a substantial reduction in various complications like stillbirth, macrosomia, and shoulder dystocia. Samina Naseem Khattak, Abid Hussain Shah, Ayesha Imran, Muhammad Irfan Khattak, Khurram Mansoor, Asma Naveed Memon

- | Authors Contribution:
- Samina Naseem Khattak: Questionnaire designing and

_ _ _ _ _ _

improvement, sample collection, statistical analysis, writeup

- Abid Hussain Shah: Data analysis, write up
- Ayesha Imran: Data analysis, write up Muhammad Irfan Khattak: Data collection
- Khurram Mansoor: Data collection and analysis
- Asma Naveed Memon: Data collection and analysis

REFERENCE:

- Narayan KMV, Boyle JP, Geiss LS, Saaddine JB, Thompson TJ. Impact of Recent Increase in Incidence on Future Diabetes Burden: U.S., 2005–2050. Diabetes Care [Internet]. 2006 Sep 1 [cited 2021 Aug 19];29(9):2114–6. Available from: https://care.diabetesjournals.org/content/29/9/2114
- Diabetes and COVID-19 ScienceDirect [Internet]. [cited 2021 Aug 19]. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com /science/article/abs/pii/S0040595720300950
- 3. Wahi P, Dogra V, Jandial K, Bhagat R, Gupta R, Gupta S, et al. Prevalence of gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) and its outcomes in Jammu region. J Assoc Physicians India. 2011;59(4):227–30.
- 4. Pennison E and Egerman rS. Perinatal outcomes in gestational diabetes?: a comparison of criteria for diagnosis. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2001;184:1118-1121.
- Akhter J, Qureshi R, Rahim F, Moosvi S, Rehman A, Jabbar A, et al. Diabetes in pregnancy in Pakistani women: prevalence and complications in an indigenous south Asian community. Diabet Med. 1996;13(2):189–91.
- Arora GP, Thaman RG, Prasad RB, Almgren P, Brøns C, Groop LC, et al. Prevalence and risk factors of gestational diabetes in Punjab, North India: results from a population screening program. Eur J Endocrinol. 2015;173(2):257–67.
- Mithal A, Bansal B, Kalra S. Gestational diabetes in India: Science and society. Indian J Endocrinol Metab. 2015;19(6):701-4.
- 8. Groof Z etal. Prevalence, risk factors, and fetomaternal outcomes of gestational diabetes mellitus in Kuwait: a cross-sectional study. Journal of diabetes research. 2019 Mar 3;2019.
- 9. Naseer N, Shaw I, Adams G. Effect of lifestyle and Diet on Gestational Diabetes (GDM) in South Asian women: a systematic review. J Diabetes Metab Syndr. 2020;3(1):010
- 10. Sidahmed MAE, Abubaker NE, Elfadil GA. Journal Homepage:-www.journalijar.com.
- Riaz M, Basit A. Integrating GDM management in public health: Pakistan perspective. J Pak Med Assoc. 2016;66(9):S101-4
- Carolan M, Davey M-A, Biro MA, Kealy M. Maternal age, ethnicity and gestational diabetes mellitus. Midwifery [Internet]. 2012 Dec 1 [cited 2021 Aug 20];28(6):778–83. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article /pii/ S0266613811001306

- Ornoy A, Becker M, Weinstein-Fudim L, Ergaz Z. Diabetes during Pregnancy: A Maternal Disease Complicating the Course of Pregnancy with Long-Term Deleterious Effects on the Offspring. A Clinical Review. Int J Mol Sci [Internet]. 2021 Mar 15 [cited 2021 Aug 20];22(6):2965. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7999044/
- 14. Phelan S, Jelalian E, Coustan D, Caughey AB, Castorino K, Hagobian T, et al. Protocol for a randomized controlled trial of pre-pregnancy lifestyle intervention to reduce recurrence of gestational diabetes: Gestational Diabetes Prevention/ Prevención de la Diabetes Gestacional. Trials [Internet]. 2021 Apr 7 [cited 2021 Aug 20];22:256. Available from: https:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov /pmc/articles/ PMC8024941/
- 15. Lee KW, Ching SM, Ramachandran V, Yee A, Hoo FK, Chia YC, et al. Prevalence and risk factors of gestational diabetes mellitus in Asia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth [Internet]. 2018 Dec 14 [cited 2021 Aug 20];18:494. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6295048/
- Mirghani Dirar A, Doupis J. Gestational diabetes from A to Z. World J Diabetes [Internet]. 2017 Dec 15 [cited 2021 Aug 20];8(12):489–511. Available from: https://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5740094/
- 17. Delanerolle G, Phiri P, Zeng Y, Marston K, Tempest N, Busuulwa P, et al. A systematic review and meta-analysis of gestational diabetes mellitus and mental health among BAME populations. EClinicalMedicine [Internet]. 2021 Jul 14 [cited 2021 Aug 20];38:101016. Available from: https://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC8283332/
- Basit A, Riaz M, Fawwad A. Improving diabetes care in developing countries: The example of Pakistan. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2015;107(2):224–32.
- Janjua NZ, Delzell E, Larson RR, Meleth S, Kabagambe EK, Kristensen S, et al. Maternal nutritional status during pregnancy and surma use determine cord lead levels in Karachi, Pakistan. Environ Res. 2008;108(1):69–79.
- 20. Riaz M, Nawaz A, Masood SN, Fawwad A, Basit A, Shera AS. Frequency of gestational diabetes mellitus using DIPSI criteria, a study from Pakistan. Clin Epidemiol Glob Health. 2019;7(2):218–21.
- 21. West J, Lawlor DA, Fairley L, Wright J. Differences in socioeconomic position, lifestyle and health-related pregnancy characteristics between Pakistani and white British women in the born in Bradford prospective cohort study: the influence of the woman's, her partner's and their parents' place of birth. BMJ Open. 2014;4(6):e004805.



Anaesthesia Concern in High-Risk Cases Under-Going Ambulatory Laparoscopic Cholecystectomy

Muhammad Salman Maqbool, Muhammad Alam, Muhammad Umer Draz, Ayesha Shahid, Shumaila Ashfaq ABSTRACT:

Objective: To evaluate pre-operative implications, anesthetic management and post-operative anesthetic concerns in patients with co-morbid diseases undergoing ambulatory laparoscopic cholecystectomy under general anesthesia.

Study Design and setting: Retrospective study was conducted at Rawal Institute of Health Sciences, Islamabad from 8th Oct 2017 to 5th Nov 2018.

Methodology: Total one hundred and twelve patients were placed in American society of Anaesthesiologist (ASA) class II, III & IV (medically optimized) on pre-operative evaluation for ambulatory laparoscopic cholecystectomy. General anesthesia was administered with co-induction (nalbuphine 0.1mg/kg plus midazolam 0.01mg/kg) tracheal intubation facilitated by 0.15mg/kg cis-atracurium. Post-operatively on clinical status evaluation and Post Anesthesia Discharge score, patients were shifted to respective ward /intensive care. Statistical analysis was done by SPSS v.21.

Results: Pre-operatively medical and cardiologist evaluation was taken in 34(30.35%) and 42(37.5%) cases respectively whereas consultant anesthesiologist reviewed all cases. In study single case was converted to open method due to mirrizi syndrome and adhesions creating difficult laparoscopic dissection in 9(8.03%) of cases. Post-operatively in single case atrial fibrillation with fast ventricular response noted followed by sudden bradycardia, managed and sinus rhythm restored, whereas in other case of ischemic heart disease with viral respiratory infection, needed ventilatory support after 2 hours due to respiratory distress and weaned off after 24hrs. In the study 76(67.9%) cases were shifted post-operatively to surgical ward and 36 cases (32.1%) needed intensive care treatment.

Conclusion: Laparoscopic cholecystectomy in patients with co-morbid states requires balanced anesthetic technique considering consequences of pneumoperitoneum to decrease morbidity.

Keywords: Co-morbid, General anesthesia, Gallstones, Laparoscopy.

How to cite this Article:

Maqbool MS, Alam M, Draz MU, Shahid A, Ashfaq S. Anaesthesia Concern in High-Risk Cases Under-Going Ambulatory Laparoscopic Cholecystectomy. J Bahria Uni Med Dental Coll. 2021; 11(4):179-183. DOI: https://doi.org/10.51985/JBUMDC2021045

This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License (http:// creativecommons/org/licences/by-nc/4.0) which permits unrestricted non commercial use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

INTRODUCTION:

Since Phillipe Mouret had described his initial experience with successful laparoscopic cholecystectomies,¹ the

Muhammad Salman Maqbool Professor, Head of Anaesthesia Department Islam Medical & Dental College, Islam Teaching Hospital, Pasroor Road, Sialkot. Email: muhammadsalman590@gmail.com
Muhammad Alam Associate Professor, Department of Surgery, Rawal Institute of Health Sciences, Islamabad.
Muhammad Umer Draz Senior Registrar, Department of Medicine Medical Unit-11, Holy Family Hospital, Rawalpindi.
Ayesha Shahid Assistant Professor, Department of Anesthesia. Rawal Institute of Health Sciences, Rawal General & Dental Hospital, Islamabad.
Shumaila Ashfaq Assistant Professor, Department of Anesthesia Islam Medical & Dental College, Islam Teaching Hospital, Sialkot
Received: 16-Aug-2021 Accepted: 28-Sep-2021

procedure has gained vast popularity on various grounds. The major benefits include lesser post-operative pain, early mobilization, and a shorter hospital stay.² After the surgery, the physiological effects of CO_2 induced pneumoperitoneum are mainly due to mechanical effects of increased intraperitoneal pressure as well as chemical effects of carbon dioxide itself, that may cause significant cardiovascular side effects due to patient positioning³ These can have marked impact in patients with compromised reserves.

The restriction of day case surgical procedures of American society of Anaesthesiologist⁴(ASA) class I and II do not uphold nowadays, as advanced medical treatment has resulted in patients with cardiac and non-cardiac illnesses for surgical procedures in geriatric age. Few years back physicians treated cases of acute cholecystitis with gallstones conservatively and surgery was performed later, but now surgeons operate acute cholecystitis with gallstones cases urgently. Also, invasive procedures such as total knee arthroplasty, advanced laparoscopic surgery which were considered inappropriate for are done on day-case basis these days.⁵ The national data from American College of Surgeons-National Surgical Quality Improvement Program

reports incidence of morbidity and mortality within 72 hours of ambulatory surgery in adults to be less than 0.1%, whereas high body mass index and ASA⁵ physical status class, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, prolonged surgery time, previous cardiac intervention, hypertension, and an advanced age (> 80 years) were identified as independent risk factors in ambulatory surgery.⁶

The co-morbid diseases defined as cerebrovascular disease, previous myocardial ischemia, renal disease, heart failure, diabetes mellitus, peripheral vascular disease, and obesity were all found to be independent risk factors for complications in cholecystectomy.⁷ In view of these considerations a study was planned at our hospital to analyze various clinical management steps in high-risk cases (multiple co-morbid states) undergoing day case laparoscopic cholecystectomy in a private teaching hospital setting. The pre-operative implications of study included patient optimization with review by concerned medical departments. Anesthetic management included smooth induction, maintenance of hemodynamic stability, safe recovery evaluated by fast track criteria⁸ inside operating room fifteen minutes after extubation, and post anesthesia discharge scoring system^{9,10} in post anesthesia care unit before shifting patient to either ward or intensive care unit.

This study was aimed to evaluate pre-operative implications, anesthetic management and post-operative anesthetic concerns in patients with co-morbid diseases undergoing ambulatory laparoscopic cholecystectomy under general anesthesia.

METHODOLOGY:

A retrospective analysis study was conducted at Rawal General and Dental Hospital in Rawal Institute of Health Sciences, Islamabad from 8th Oct 2017 up to 5th Nov 2018. The sampling technique was purposive. Head of Research Ethics Committee, Rawal Institute of Health Sciences, and Dean consented for study vide (letter No. RIHS-REC/001/54 of 21-06-2019). Analysis of 112 patients assessed and placed in respective American Society of Anesthesiologist⁴ physical status class I-II and medically optimized III was conducted who underwent elective laparoscopic cholecystectomy were included in the study. Inclusion criteria was gall stones, acute/chronic cholecystitis, medically optimized hypertension with systemic involvement like pulmonary hypertension, non- restrictive valvular heart disease like mitral / tricuspid regurgitation, controlled asthmatic and obstructive pulmonary diseases, cardiac diastolic dysfunction, controlled diabetes mellitus with organ involvement, like nephropathies. Exclusion criteria was patients with acute bleeding disorder, gastro-esophageal diseases (e.g., hiatal hernia) and ASA⁴ physical status class-IV and V patients. Patients were given tablet lorazepam 1mg and ranitidine 50mg at night. On arrival in operating room large bore intravenous cannula was placed under local

infiltration. General anesthesia was begun with coinduction^{10,11} by injection nalbuphine 10mg plus midazolam in dose of 0.01mg/kg. Inj. ondansetron 4 mg and dexamethasone 8mg was given as anesthetic adjunct in all cases. Electrocardiograph (lead II and V), pulse oximetry, end-tidal CO2 and inhalational anesthesia agent percentage monitoring, non- invasive blood pressure monitors, volume and pressure sensors parameters were monitored. The balanced anesthesia technique^{12,13} (employing 2 or more agents that are considered safe rather than using large dose of single agent with adverse effects) started with co-induction (which results in improvement in induction, reducing maintenance need and facilitating recovery phase of anesthesia) was further continued by using according to baseline monitoring parameters and ASA⁵ physical disease status, employing sevoflurane 6-8% with oxygen and /or propofol 1mg/kg incremental titrated dose till patient lost control to verbal command. Injection lidocaine 1mg/kg was given to attenuate laryngoscopy hypertensive response. Endo-tracheal intubation was eased with 0.2mg/kg cisatracurium administration. Hemodynamic stability at intubation (heart rate, blood pressure, oxygen saturation) was particularly monitored and treated. Injection paracetamol 15mg/kg was given to all patients as non-narcotic analgesia. Maintenance of anesthesia was done in all cases with sevoflurane 1-2% with 50% oxygen in nitrous oxide. Patients were extubated and assessed by fast track criteria⁸ after 10 minutes before shifting to post-anesthesia care unit where clinical monitoring continued, all patients received 2L/minute supplemental oxygen via nasal canula. Port sites were infiltered with 0.5% lidocaine local anesthetic agent by surgeon at end of procedure. Patients were assessed by Post Anesthesia Discharge score⁹, prior shifting to respective ward /intensive care. All the data was entered on statistical analysis SPSS v.21.

RESULTS:

A total of 112 patients were enrolled in the study; all of them presenting with symptomatic gall stones. Eighty-three of them (74%) were females and 29 males (26%). As regard co-induction and securing airway is concerned in study, at intubation (loss of consciousness) was attained in 69.6 seconds (SD +31.32) and endotracheal intubation was completed in mean time of 4.42 minutes (SD +1.30). Smooth uneventful intubation was achieved in 106 patients (94.64%) and only 6 patients (5.4%) had minor unexpected movement noted at time of intubation. The mean extubation time from stopping anesthesia in study being 9.00 minutes (SD +6.123). In 45 cases (40.17%) lidocaine had to be administered at extubation also because of its membrane stabilizing effect. The mean recovery fast track score⁸ inside operating room being 11.37(SD +1.73). The post-anesthesia care unit assessment prior to shifting was done by post anesthesia discharge scoring⁹ (mean score being 8.70) with SD +.721. The ASA⁴ class II cases were 47 (42%), while class III were

	Mean	Std Deviation +
Age(years)	49.13	15.08
Hematocrit (%)	39.49	4.66
Weight(kg)	71.89	13.57
Surgery time(minutes)	54.25	33.61
Discharge time from Post	54.95	14.34.
Anesthesia Care Unit(min)		
Crystalloid fluid (ml)	1103.57	261.29

Table-1: Demographic data.

65 (58%). To optimize the various co-morbid states, the peri-operative consultation included medical advice for 40 cases (35.71%) cases, and cardiologist consultation in 38 cases (33.92%) cases respectively whereas consultant anesthesiologist reviewed all cases. The mean systolic and diastolic blood pressure readings in study were 128.6 mmHg (+27.3) and 78.7 mmHg (+18.6) respectively; while mean heart rate was 86.3/minute (+17.7). In 48 cases (42.85%) intra-venous labetalol was used to control blood pressure and in 11 cases (9.82%) anticholinergics were administered during anesthesia. In study 76(67.9%) cases were shifted post-operatively to surgical ward and 36 cases (32.1%) to intensive care. In study within few hours after surgery analgesia was given in only 15 cases (13.4%) and in 97 cases (86.6%) no rescue analgesics was needed. Demographic data depicted in table-1. The co-morbid disease pattern depicted in table-2. The per-operative implication presented in table-3.

DISCUSSION:

In the study per-operatively in single case sudden atrial fibrillation with fast ventricular response was noted followed by sudden bradycardia, managed with beta-blocker, along with 100% oxygen, lowering of intra-abdominal pressure to 8cm/H2O the sinus rhythm restored, whereas in other case with old ischemic heart disease and recent viral respiratory infection, being extubated successfully inside operating room was not maintaining saturation in intensive care after 2 hours and needed ventilatory support due to respiratory distress and weaned off after 24-hours. In Post-anesthesia care unit, low pulse oximeter readings were noted, managed by 60% venturi mask oxygen attachment with oxygen at 12L/minute,45[°] head-up position done given oxygen saturation improved to 92% and in few minutes to 98%; intra-venous dexamethasone and hydrocortisone was given. In various studies, pre-operative morbidity risk factors included; body weight, high ASA class (III), acute attack of cholecystitis(leukocytosis), were morbidity risk factors delaying discharge, whereas male (gender), and operative factors (surgeon skill), vessels and bile ducts injury may lead to complicated surgery, while respiratory acidosis and systemic CO₂ systemic absorption, may show adverse effects in patient with co-morbid diseases while use of lower intraabdominal pressure is helpful 14,15,16,17 . In this study insufflation pressure was kept at or below 8 cmH₂O.

A study entailing intra-venous (propofol) with volatile anesthetic (isoflurane employed) noted that in depth of anesthesia and recovery phase there was no significant difference statistically therefore they can be used as part of general anesthetic technique¹⁸.

Another study to foresee hemodynamic stability (suppress adverse response) particularly at intubation as well as at extubation stated that lidocaine (being the commonest agent) showed good analgesic effect in the immediate post-surgical period, among the other agents in study stable mean blood pressure values were noted with no statistical difference¹⁹.

In other studies, they patients with gall stones and acute cholecystitis attack the management was guided on basis of symptoms severity. ASA class, CCI index (Tokyo Guidelines severity risk scale grading) planned for laparoscopic cholecystectomy need to be done at a tertiary care setup with support of functional intensive care after full peri-operative optimization and these patients cannot be discharged on same day of procedure^{20,21,22}. Early surgical laparoscopic cholecystectomy for acute cholecystitis cases even with medical diseases is the approach recommended in another study^{23,24}. Literature revealed, a balanced anesthesia (intra-venous induction and topup drugs, volatile inhalational agent such as sevoflurane and optimal use of non-depolarizing neuro-muscular blockers) was used to achieve smooth anesthesia course and recovery profile, while suggesting use of local wound infiltration, non-narcotic agents etc. help in providing post surgery pain relief ²⁵. The study had limitations as it was not multicentered, invasive monitoring was not available and morbidly obese population were not extrapolated.

CONCLUSION:

This study highlighted the advantages of anesthesiologist first as peri-operative physician and later employing balanced anesthetic management plan in high-risk cases for favorable outcome. On statistical evaluation, in study at 72 degree of freedom, Pearson Chi square test probability value falls between 0.975 and 0.20 and shows a significant chance that patients with co-morbid diseases will need further intensive care treatment post-operatively.

- Authors Contribution:
- Muhammad Salman Maqbool: Concept & design of study, drafting, revisiting critically, data analysis, final approval of version.
- Muhammad Alam: Concept & design of study, drafting
- revisiting critically **Muhammad Umer Draz:** Concept & design of study, drafting,
- data analysis Ayesha Shahid: Concept & design of study, drafting, revisiting critically
- Shumaila Ashfaq: Concept & design of study, drafting,
- revisiting critically

Comorbid disease states causing Anesthetic concerns	Number			
Acute abdomen, Acalculous cholecystitis (sepsis), empyema, left ventricular dysfunction, Ejection Fraction (EF)35%, pulmonary hypertension, Tricuspid regurgitation (TR), Mitral regurgitation (MR).				
Old Ischemic heart disease known case	10			
Acute calculus cholecystitis				
EF 60%, AS moderate, AR mild, Severe Tricuspid regurgitation (TR), PAP of 123mmHg,	1			
Myocardial ischemia, EF60%, E/A ratio reversed, Hypertension	2			
EF60%, Diastolic dysfunction Grade-1, Pulmonary HTN, Moderate TR	1			
Fibrotic lung patch, Old Pulmonary tuberculosis	1			
Asthma/Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease/Viral upper respiratory tract infection	6			
Hypertension, Diabetes Mellitus, grade-I diastolic dysfunction	2			
Hypertension, mild Tricuspid regurgitation, Aortic valve sclerotic EF 60%,	1			
Known case of thyrotoxicosis (Euthyroid on thyroid function test)	5			
Pancreatitis, Pulmonary Hypertension, Ischemic Heart Disease, Sclerotic aortic valve, RVSP 98mmHg, grade-I diastolic dysfunction, Mild Tricuspid regurgitation	1			
Pan-endoscopy report of gastritis & duodenitis	1			
Fatty infiltration liver, hepatomegaly, splenomegaly, Biliary Acute pancreatitis with modified CTSI value of 6.	3			
Uncontrolled diabetes mellitus, angina pectoris, stopped antiplatelet drugs perioperatively	1			
Ischemic Heart Disease, grade-1 left ventricular dysfunction, moderate cardiac risk, grade-III fatty liver infiltration	1			
Biliary Pancreatitis, Sclerotic Aortic degenerative valve,60%EF, Trivial AR, Mild Concentric LVH, Grade 1 Diastolic dysfunction, Hypertension	1			
Obstructive jaundice, Chronic calculus cholecystitis	2			
NYHA class-III	1			
Empyema gall bladder, Chronic liver disease, Hypertension, Angina pectoris, Grade-1 diastolic dysfunction, calcified mitral leaflet, Diabetes Mellitus	1			
Hypertension, Diabetes Mellitus, EF60%, Concentric LVH	1			
Ischemic heart disease, Trace Tricuspid regurgitation (TR), Hypertension, Rt renal stones	1			
LBBB, Septal paradoxical movement, Tricuspid regurgitation, Mild Pulmonary Hypertension	1			
Mild AR, EF60%, Grade-1 diastolic dysfunction with PVC unifocal	1			
Mucocele gall bladder with acute cholecystitis	2			
Repeated biliary attacks, chronic calculus cholecystitis, moderate TR, MR with mild pulmonary hypertension	4			
Rheumatic heart disease, Mild MR, RVSP of 55mmHg, angina pectoris, Hypertension, EF 55%.	1			
Sclerotic Aortic valve, Concentric LVH, HTN, Grade-1 diastolic dysfunction.	1			
Sclerotic aortic valve, grade-1 LVDD	1			
coronary artery disease with acute cholecystitis	1			
Trivial TR, EF60%, Concentric LVH, Grade1DD	1			
Vitamin K therapy pre-operatively to correct coagulopathy	1			
Hereditary Spherocytosis (clinical hematologist consulted)	1			

Table-2: Peri-operative co-morbid diseases patterns. (n=112)

Table-3: Per-operative implications

Implications		
Adhesions creating difficult laparoscopic dissection		
Mirrizi syndrome. (Converted to open cholecystectomy)		
Cirrhotic liver finding during surgery		
Premature Ventricular Contractions & Premature atrial contraction noted during anesthesia		
Bigeminies noted at induction settled with intra-venous lidocaine		

REFERENCES:

- 1. Mouret P. How I developed laparoscopic cholecystectomy. Ann Acad Med Singapore. 1996; 25:744–747. PMID: 8924020.
- Allvin R, Rawal N, Johanzon E, Backstrom R. Open versus Laparoscopic Surgery: Does the Surgical Technique Influence Pain Outcome? Results from an International Registry. Pain Res Treat. 2016(3):1-5. DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.1155 /2016/4087325.
- Morais PHA, Silva RFA, Ribeiro TDS, Farias IEC, Lino Junior RS, Carneiro FP et al. Does CO2 pneumoperitoneum in laparoscopy interfere with collagen deposition in abdominal surgical wounds? Acta Cir Bras. 2020;35(6): 20200060. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1590/s0102- 865020200060000005.
- 4. Morgan GE, Mikhail MS. Clinical Anesthesiology. 5th Edition. Mc Graw Hill Education 2013; 18: 297.
- Xiong W, Li M, Wang M, Zhang S, Yang Q. The Safety of Laparoscopic Cholecystectomy in the Day Surgery Unit Comparing with That in the Inpatient Unit: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Biomed Res Int. 2020:1924134. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/1924134.
- Musbahi A, Abdulhannan P, Bhatti J, Dhar R, Rao M, Gopinath B. Outcomes and risk factors of cholecystectomy in high risk patients: A case series. Ann Med Surg (Lond).2020; 50: 35-40. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amsu.2019.12.003.
- Stromberg J, Sandblom G. Impact of Comorbidity and Prescription Drugs on Haemorrhage in Cholecystectomy. World J Surg. 2017;41(8): 1985-92.DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s00268-017-3961-3.
- White PF, Song D. New criteria for fast-tracking after outpatient anesthesia: a comparison with the modified Aldrete's scoring system. Anesth Analg1999; 88:1069-72. DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.1097/00000539-199905000-00018.
- Marshall SI, Chung F. Assessment of 'home-readiness' discharge criteria and postdischarge complications. Curr Opin Anesthesiol 1997; 10:445–50. DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.1097/ 00000539-199903000-00008.
- Ababneh OA, Suleiman AM, Bsisu IK, Al-Ghanem SM, Samarah WK, Al-Zaben KR, Qudaisat IY, Khreesha LA, Al Edwan GM, Murshidi MM. A Co-Induction Technique Utilizing 4% Sevoflurane Followed by 0.75 mg/kg Propofol in Elderly Patients Undergoing Minimally Invasive Procedures: A Prospective Randomized Control Study. Medicina (Kaunas). 2020;56(12):682. DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.3390 /medicina 56120682.
- Nagalakshmi P, Leo S, Uthirapathi S. Use of Butorphanol, Fentanyl, and Ketamine as Co-Induction Agents with Propofol for Laryngeal Mask Airway Insertion: A Comparative Study. Anesth Essays Res. 2018;12(3):729-734. DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.4103/aer.AER_104_18.
- Elbakry AE, Sultan WE, Ibrahim E. A comparison between inhalational (Desflurane) and total intravenous anaesthesia (Propofol and dexmedetomidine) in improving postoperative recovery for morbidly obese patients undergoing laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy: A double- blinded randomised controlled trial. J Clin Anesth. 2018; 45:6-11. DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jclinane. 2017.12.001.
- Beloeil H, Garot M, Lebuffe G, Gerbaud A, Bila J, Cuvillon P, Dubout E, et al; POFA Study Group; SFAR Research Network. Balanced Opioid-free Anesthesia with Dexmedetomidine versus Balanced Anesthesia with Remifentanil for Major or Intermediate Noncardiac Surgery. Anesthesiology. 2021;134(4):541-551. DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.1097/ ALN.00000000003725.

- 14. Lopez-Torres Lopez J, Piedracoba Cadahía D, Alcantara Noalles MJ, Simo Cortes T, Argente Navarro P. Perioperative factors that contribute to postoperative pain and/or nausea and vomiting in ambulatory laparoscopic surgery. Rev Esp Anestesiol Reanim (Engl Ed). 2019 ;66(4):189-198. English, Spanish. doi: 10.1016/j.redar.2018.11.007. Epub 2019 Jan 18.
- Wu Q, Fu N, Chen W, Jin X, He L, Mo C, et al. Risk factors for patient selection in ambulatory laparoscopic cholecystectomy: A Single-centre experience. J Minim Access Surg. 2021; 5:25. DOI: https://doi.org/10.4103/jmas. JMAS_ 25_21.
- Ashraf Butt AU, Sajjad A, Malik AR, Farooq A, Ali Q, Rizvi ZA, Khan MS, Anwar M. Changes in Hematological Parameters and Liver Enzymes During Laparoscopic Cholecystectomy. Cureus. 2021;13(2): e13098. DOI: https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.13098.
- Jin YN, Feng H, Wang ZY, Li J. Analysis of the Risk Factors for Hypotension in Laparoscopic Hiatal Hernia Repair. Int J Gen Med. 2021; 14:5203-5208. DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.2147/IJGM.S327259.
- Nadri S, Karimi A, Mohammadi F, Mahmoudvand H. A randomized controlled trial evaluating inhalation and intravenous anesthesia for laparoscopic cholecystectomy. Int. J. of Surg. Open 2021; 28: 1-7. DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.1016/ j.ijso. 2020.12.001.
- Kucukosman G, Gulhan Aydin B. A comparative analysis of the effects of esmolol, lidocaine, nitroglycerin and placebo on hemodynamic response to extubation, and extubation quality and postoperative pain. Ann. Med. Res.2021; 27:2617-24. https://www.annalsmedres.org/ index.php/aomr/ article/ view/ 1006.
- Manzia TM, Quaranta C, Filingeri V, Toti L, Anselmo A, et al. Feasibility and cost effectiveness of ambulatory laparoscopic cholecystectomy. A retrospective cohort study. Ann Med Surg. 2020; 55:56-61. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amsu. 2020.04. 036.
- 21. Nagem R, Alberti LR, de Campos-Lobato LF. Is It Safe to Recommend Cholecystectomy Whenever Gallstones Develop After Bariatric Surgery? Obes Surg. 2021;31(1):179-184. doi: 10.1007/s11695-020-04862-0.
- 22. Serban D, Socea B, Balasescu SA, Badiu CD, Tudor C, et a. Safety of Laparoscopic Cholecystectomy for Acute Cholecystitis in the Elderly: A Multivariate Analysis of Risk Factors for Intra and Postoperative Complications. Medicina (Kaunas). 2021;57(3):230. DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.3390/ medicina57030230.
- 23. Pisano, M., Allievi, N., Gurusamy, K. et al. 2020 World Society of Emergency Surgery updated guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute calculus cholecystitis. World J Emerg Surg 2020; 61:15. DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.1186 /s13017-020- 00336-x
- Tseng ES, Imran JB, Nassour I, Luk SS, Cripps MW. Laparoscopic Cholecystectomy is Safe Both Day and Night. J Surg Res. 2019; 233:163-166. DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jss.2018.07.071.
- 25. Carli Dd, Meletti JFA, Neto NEU, Martinez G, Kim ALC, de Camargo RPS (2020) General anesthesia technique and perception of quality of postoperative recovery in women undergoing cholecystectomy: A randomized, double-blinded clinical trial. PLoS ONE 15(2): e0228805. https:// doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0228805



Primary Renal Lymphoma – A Challenging Diagnosis

Kanwal Ali, M. Anis Ul Islam, Fahad Mushtaque, Hussain Ahmad, Haroon Sabir Khan, Mahwish Mahboob Bhutta

ABSTRACT:

Primary renal lymphoma is rare challenging diagnostic dilemma. Many cases have been found in literature, but a clear diagnostic criterion is still evolving. Chemotherapy is the treatment of choice, however due to its rarity; it is often misdiagnosed, which leads to nephrectomies resulting in unnecessary morbidity. A case of a 60 years old male found to have a renal mass, being treated as renal cell carcinoma. Exploration for radical nephrectomy resulted in an open biopsy instead due to a fixed, hard, inoperable renal mass. Diagnosis of lymphoma was made by histological confirmation of the disease and patient was treated with chemotherapy.

KEY WORDS: Lymphoma, Mass, Primary, Renal

How to cite this Article:

Ali K, UlIslam A, Mushyaque F, Ahmad H, Khan HS, Bhutta MM. Primary Renal Lymphoma – A Challenging Diagnosis J Bahria Uni Med Dental Coll. 2021; 11(4):184-186 DOI: https://doi.org/10.51985/JBUMDC2021043

This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License (http:// creativecommons/org/licences/by-nc/4.0) which permits unrestricted non commercial use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

I

I

I

I

Т

I

I

I

INTRODUCTION:

Primary renal lymphoma is a rare entity and is often overlooked when diagnosing renal mass. It represents less than 1% of all renal lesions of which diffuse large B cell lymphoma is the more common pathological variant.¹⁻³ Renal parenchyma is devoid of lymphoid tissue; hence, it has been suggested that the lymphoma may originate from lymphatics in the renal capsule, which then invades the renal parenchyma.^{4, 5} Its prognosis is usually poor and surgical treatment is rarely feasible.⁶ However, early diagnosis and prompt treatment with chemotherapy may improve the prognosis of the patient. Thus although rare, it is very important to distinguish between renal cell carcinoma and primary renal lymphoma during workup of renal mass.

CASE REPORT:

A 60 years old male presented with pain in the left lumbar

KANWAL ALI

L

I

L

I

I

ł

I

I

Т

I

Resident, Department of Urology Bahria University Medical and Dental College, Karachi Email: kanwal2307@gmail.com

M. ANIS UL ISLAM Assistant Professor, Department of Urology Bahria University Medical and Dental College, Karachi

FAHAD MUSHTAQUE Resident, Department of Urology Bahria University Medical and Dental College, Karachi

HUSSAIN AHMAD Professor, Department of Urology Bahria University Medical and Dental College, Karachi

HAROON SABIR KHAN Professor, Department of Urology Bahria University Medical and Dental College, Karachi

MAHWISH MAHBOOB BHUTTA Resident, Department of Surgery Bahria University Medical and Dental College, Karachi

Received: 07-Jul-2021 Accepted: 07-Sep-2021 region for the past 3 months. His pain was mild in intensity, dull and gradual in onset. He also had an episode of painless hematuria.

Clinical examination revealed a diffuse, non-tender, firm mass in the left flank and there was no cervical or other lymphadenopathy or hepatosplenomegaly. Complete blood picture, coagulation profile, diabetic profile, liver function tests and renal function tests, were within normal parameters. Urinalysis was unremarkable. The Ultrasonogram of left kidney showed a rounded isoechoic mass measuring 7.7x7.0 cm filling most of the medullary area of the pelvis and showing vascularity on color Doppler. It also revealed a large cystic area measuring 5.9x4.7 cm with calcific foci at the superior pole of right kidney. Contrast Enhanced Computed Tomography of kidney ureters and bladder displayed a heterogeneous hypodense lesion measuring 7.2x6.9 cm with ragged margins showing mild enhancement and occupying the whole renal pelvis and proximal ureter on left side. Loss of interface was also noted with infiltration of left psoas muscle posterior-inferiorly and Gerota's fascia anteriorly with perinephric fat strandings (Fig 1&2). However, there was no renal vein involvement noted. Few para-aortic lymph nodes were also noted. The largest one was anterior to the crura on left side measuring 1.8x0.9 cm, another below renal vein measuring 1x0.4 cm and another one along



Fig 1. The ultasonogram of left kidney showing isoechoic mass filling the medullary area celiac axis measuring 9x0.6 cm. Contrast Enhanced Computed Tomography of chest was normal. The radiological features were favoring renal cell carcinoma Stage IIa so radical nephrectomy was attempted

On exploration, the tumor was nodular and hard with extensive desmo-reaction around tumor area abutting pancreas and jejunum. Descending colon was also densely adherent to anterior surface of the tumor extending to splenic and pancreatic region. Posteriorly the tumor was fixed to the wall. Hilar region was immobile and renal vein and artery could not be identified. The operative findings concluded that the tumor was irresectable, so open biopsy was taken before closing the wound. The histopathology of specimen revealed sheets of intermediate to large round to oval cells having vesicular nuclei with clear cytoplasm (Fig 3). Immunochemical stains were positive for LCA, CD 3



Figure 1: Lesion occupying the renal pelvis and upper ureter in left kidney



Figure 2: Lesion appearing hypodense on contrast enhancement



Figure 3: Intermediate to large round to oval cells with vesicular nuclei and clear cytoplasm

and Ki 67, suggesting that the mass is non-Hodgkin lymphoma diffuse large B cell type. His bone marrow aspiration from posterior iliac spine showed reactive changes. The patient was started on chemotherapy cycles with vincristine, doxorubicin, cyclophosphamide, dexamethasone, and prednisolone. He showed complete regression of lymphoma with disappearance of the tumor. He was on monthly follow-up for 9 months followed by 6 monthly follow-up for 2 year with no remission of lymphoma, which confirmed it to be primary renal lymphoma.

DISCUSSION:

Primary extra-nodal Non-Hodgkin lymphoma accounts for one-third of all non-Hodgkin lymphoma³. Primary renal lymphoma is defined as non-Hodgkin lymphoma originating from renal parenchyma in the absence of extra renal lymphatic disease. In 1980, Coggins reported the first confirmed case of primary renal lymphoma⁷. It is an uncommon entity that accounts for only 0.1% of all malignant lymphomas and 0.7% of all extra-nodal non-Hodgkin lymphomas⁸. However, secondary renal involvement in cases of non-Hodgkin lymphoma is very common and usually occurs in disseminated case⁹.

Renal parenchyma is devoid of lymphatic tissue hence the origin of primary renal lymphoma has been considered uncertain. There are several pathogenic mechanisms proposed about its origin including the lymphatic vessels of renal capsule or sub capsular tissue that progresses to penetrate renal parenchyma and extension of an inflammatory disease with lymphoplasmacytic infiltrates that then endures oncogenic transformation.^{5, 7, 10, 11} However, the later phenomenon is not well known in other case reports including our own case.

Primary renal Lymphoma is an infiltrative tumor that attacks without disrupting the architecture or function of the kidney. It usually affects adults. The most common presenting symptoms include flank pain and mass⁷. Acute kidney failure is also a common clinical exhibition documented in literature.

According to Stallone et al, the criteria for diagnosing primary renal lymphoma includes lymphomatous renal dissemination, non-obstructive unilateral or bilateral renal expansion and no extra renal involvement of the disease at the time of diagnosis.² Some studies emphasize on the absence of lymph node involvement for primary renal lymphoma, whereas in others, coexisting para-aortic lymph node involvement may be present along with a renal lesion, which was present in our case.⁴

Imaging plays a vital role in diagnosing primary renal lymphomas. On ultrasonography, it may appear as hypo to isoechoic mass with decreased vascularity. The most common encountered Computed Tomography patterns include multiple renal masses, renal invasion from adjoining retro peritoneal disease, perirenal or diffuse renal infiltration in the absence of hydro nephrosis and solitary lesion.¹² It is very challenging

to distinguish radiologically between primary renal lymphomas and renal cell carcinomas especially in cases of unilateral masses. On computed tomography, post contrast hypodense or non-enhancing lesion points more towards primal renal lymphoma whereas existence of renal vein thrombus and calcification, pressure effect on pelvicalyceal system and renal vessels, hyper vascularity and invasion of inferior vena cava hints towards renal cell carcinoma.³ On magnetic resonance imaging, lower signal strength on unenhanced T1-weighted images than normal renal cortex and less enrichment on early gadolinium-enhanced images are more suggestive of primary renal lymphoma.^{11, 13}

Renal biopsy has revealed a sensitivity of 70% to 92% and specificity of nearly 100% in the diagnosis of primary renal lymphoma.¹⁴ Diffuse large B cell type is the most frequent histological variant of primary renal lymphomas.³ However, other histological types such as follicular lymphoma, MALToma or small lymphocytic lymphoma have also been reported.

It is vital to distinguish primary renal lymphoma from other masses because of the disparity in their treatment. Treatment of choice in renal malignancies is usually radical nephrectomy, on the contrary, primary renal lymphoma responds well to systemic chemotherapy using CHOP (Cyclophosphamide, Adriamycin, Vincristine and Prednisone) regime.¹⁵ Recent studies have also shown that adding rituximab to the classical CHOP (Cyclophosphamide, Adriamycin, Vincristine and Prednisone) chemotherapy improves outcomes.^{7, 16, 17} The prognosis of primary renal lymphoma is promising only if early diagnosis and prompt chemotherapy is started.

CONCLUSION:

Although primary renal lymphoma is an uncommon disease, it should always be kept in mind when exploring a renal mass. A thorough workup should be carried out and biopsy is mandatory if radiological features are suggestive, to confirm the diagnosis as it will avoid unnecessary nephrectomy.

- **Authors Contribution:** Kanwal Ali: Substantial, design, writeup M. Anis Ul Islam: Analysis Fahad Mushtaque: Analysis Hussain Ahmad: Contribution of concept Haroon Sabir Khan: Analysis design, contribution of concept Mahwish Mahboob Bhutta: Data analysis
- I

REFERENCES

- Witzig TE. Primary Renal Non- Hodgkin's Lymphoma An 1. Unusual Extranodal Site. Cancer. 1995;75(9):2258-61.
- Stallone G, Infante B, Manno C, Campobasso N, Pannarale 2. G, Schena FP. Primary renal lymphoma does exist: Case report and review of the literature. J Nephrol. 2000;13(5):367-72.

- 3. Cheng X, Huang Z, Li D, Wang Y. Enormous primary renal diffuse large B-cell lymphoma: A case report and literature review. J Int Med Res. 2019;47(6):2728-39.
- Yasunaga Y, Hoshida Y, Hashimoto M, Miki T, Okuyama A, 4. Aozasa K. Malignant lymphoma of the kidney. J Surg Oncol. 1997:64(3):207-11.
- Rissman CM, Dagrosa LM, Pettus JR, Dillon JL, Sverrisson 5. EF. Primary renal lymphoma: an unusual finding following radical nephrectomy. Clin Nephrol - Case Stud. 2017;5:1-4.
- Naveen Kumar BJ, Barman P, Chowdhury N BM. Primary 6. renal lymphoma: An unusual presentation of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. Indian J Cancer. 2014;51(3):369-70.
- 7. Bokhari SRA, Inayat F, Bokhari MR, Mansoor A. Primary renal lymphoma: A comprehensive review of the pathophysiology, clinical presentation, imaging features, management and prognosis. BMJ Case Rep. 2020;13(6).
- 8. Hagihara M, Hua J, Iwaki Y, Inoue M, Sato T. Primary renal lymphoma: A case report and literature review. Intern Med. 2015;54(20):2655-9.
- 9. Geetha N, Shahid A, Rajan V, Jacob PM. Primary renal lymphoma — a case report. Ecancermedicalscience. 2014;8:2-6.
- 10. Omer HA, Hussein MR. Primary renal lymphoma. Nephrology. 2007;12(3):314-5.
- 11. Cyriac S, Rejiv R, Shirley S, Sagar GT. Primary renal lymphoma mimicking renal cell carcinoma. Indian J Urol. 2010 Jul;26(3):441-3.
- 12. El-Sharkawy MS, Siddiqui N, Aleem A, Al Diab A. Renal involvement in lymphoma: Prevalence and various patterns of involvement on abdominal CT. Int Urol Nephrol. 2007;39(3):929-33.
- 13. O'Riordan E, Reeve R, Houghton JB, O'Donoghue DJ, Waldek S. Primary bilateral T-cell renal lymphoma presenting with sudden loss of renal function. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2001;16(7):1487-9.
- 14. Chenal M, Molina H, Mendez V, Poole J, Parellada C. Uncommon presentations of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. J Clin Oncol. 2003;21(3):567-9.
- 15. Shetty S, Singh AC, Babu V. Primary Renal Lymphoma A Case Report and Review of Literature. J Clin Diagnostic Res. 2016;10(9):9-11.
- 16. Alonso FV, Ramos CS, Prados FJV, Geler MP, Carozo ER, Massare PB, et al. Linfoma renal primario: aportación de tres nuevos casos y revisión de la literatura. Vol. 62, oncology urology. Arch Esp Urol; 2009.p.461-5.
- 17. Taneja A, Kumar V, Chandra AB. Primary renal lymphoma: A population-based analysis using the SEER program (1973-2015). Eur J Haematol. 2020;104(5):390-9.



Ameliorate Patient Care and Safety with Technology

Nasim Karim

How to cite this Article:

Karim N. Ameliorate Patient Care and Safety with Technology. J Bahria Uni Med Dental Coll. 2021; 11(4): 187-189 DOI: https://doi.org/10.51985/ JBUMDC2021052

This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License (http:// creativecommons/org/licences/by-nc/4.0) which permits unrestricted non commercial use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

The word "Patient" has been derived from the Latin word "Patior" which means "to suffer". It represents the sense of feeling pain as well as sense of forbearance.¹Whereas patient care is defined as the prevention, treatment and management of diseases and the preservation of physical and mental wellbeing.² This is attained by the services of health professionals. Patient safety is a discipline that emphasizes in through the prevention, reduction, reporting, and analysis of and other types of unnecessary harm that often lead to and even deaths by these medical errors.³

Healthcare information technology is the processing of information that deals with storing, retrieving, sharing, and using health care information data as patient records. These records are used for diagnostic, treatment and prognostic purposes, knowledge for communication and decision making etc. This was attained initially by utilizing computer hardware and software but later on mobile applications, wearable and non-wearable medical devices and virtual reality sessions were also included under its umbrella.⁴

The main technological strategies implemented in developed countries concerning patient care and safety are as follows:

- (A) Electronic prescribing and patient electronic portal: is entering medication orders using a computer or mobile application. This is of great help in improving the safety of medication orders and hence patient safety. It facilitates the prevention of errors by ensuring the availability of information regarding preferred drug doses, route and frequency of administration, patient allergies, drug-drug or drug-lab interactions, and also helps prescribing based on standard clinical guidelines, ordering of tests, procedures and even consultations etc. Patient electronic portals are also in use to provide access to patients to personal health information and an opportunity for electronic communication with respective care provider through the computer or mobile device.⁵
- **(B) Clinical decision support**: is the provision of helping tools to the clinicians in the form of notifications, alerts,

		٦.
 	Nasim Karim Professor and HOD, Department of Pharmacology & Chairperson PGP-TM Bahria University Medical and Dental College, Karachi	Ì
 _	Received: 31-Aug-2021 Accepted: 28-Sep-2021	

reminders, clinical guidelines, condition-specific order sets, patient-specific clinical summaries, documentation templates, investigation and diagnostic support etc.⁶

(C) **Bar coding on medications:** is the method to integrate electronic medication administration records with bar code technology to ensure the provision of right medicines to the right patient and at the right time. Soft wares are used which create alerts when an error is liable to occur due to confusion between drugs having look alike and sound alike similarities.

Thus barcoding of medications improve their administration at the patient's bedside and helps to meet the five standard steps of medication administration guidelines: the correct drug, dose, time, route, and patient. The barcoding is linked in developed countries with the wristband or armband code so that the nursing staff matches the bar code of the patient's band with the medications making it an effective way to reduce if not completely control the incidence of adverse drug events.

- (D) Telemedicine and tele-monitoring: is facilitating patient's communication to prescriber/ provider and vice versa by using telecommunication technologies. It could be synchronized with real-time 2-way video communication or just an asynchronous transfer of patients' clinical information. Conversely this could also act as a tool to track patients and change their behaviour. The strategy is being utilized to monitor patients at remote sites specially for monitoring chronic conditions like, cardiac failure,⁷ cerebral stroke, bronchial asthma, hypertension etc. A Patient data management system (PDMS)⁸ is also available to automatically retrieve data such as from bedside patient monitor, ventilator, intravenous pump etc.⁹
- (E) Electronic incident reporting: is an automated webbased system to report safety events voluntarily. Such reporting may improve clinical processes and reduce medical errors. The incident report consists of only relevant factual details, date, time, location of the incident, witnesses and their statements regarding the incident. This also includes actions taken by all concerned during the immediate time frame, any observations related to the incident, record of associated injuries, presence of contributing environmental factors,

corrective action(s) accomplished and preventative measures identified and undertaken. Developing automated system for incident reporting management has eliminated the risk of duplication and differing reports since the paper is no longer used for reporting. It is an effective means of sharing the real time information with consistency and accuracy through drop-down menus generations. Moreover, tracking is also possible if required later on.¹⁰

- (F) Virtual reality sessions: are being used to help ease situations in a controlled environment such as for relieving pre-operative surgery anxiety, post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), phobias and in pain management. In addition, it is practical component of geriatric rehabilitation for patients with Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease etc.
- (G) Wearable medical devices: These are devices which the patient can easily worn such as exercise trackers, calorie trackers, biosensors for heart rate, respiratory rate and temperature measurements, sweat meters, oximeters, smart watches, blood pressure monitors, devices to determine the degree of the sickness of the user, long-term ECG having cardiac and circulatory problems, devices for measurement of weakness and risks of various age-dependent diseases, devices to predict changes in mood, stress, and health, measurement of alcohol content in the blood, assessment of athletic performance, etc.¹¹
- (H) Non-wearable medical devices: (a) 3-D printing: this additive manufacturing process that creates a physical object from a digital design. The process works by laying down thin layers of material liquid or powdered, plastic, metal or cement and then fusing the layers. This technology is facilitating many areas of surgery like total joint replacement, cranio-maxillofacial reconstruction etc. It is also helpful in development of specific patient-matched devices like prostheses. Printed casts are in use for broken bones that can open up allowing the wearer to scratch, wash and ventilate the damaged area. Production of 3D printed tablets is another use of this technique employed in the pharmaceutical industry (b) bio-printing: is used for tissue engineering applications to develop organs and body parts by use of inkjet techniques (c) Robotic surgery: also called robot-assisted surgery, allows surgeons freedom to perform the procedure with more accuracy and precision than the conventional means. It has the advantage of minimal invasiveness as procedures are performed after giving small incisions¹²

Technology outburst that has taken place in this century beyond doubt is improving patient care and safety around the globe. It is worth mentioning here that awareness must be created followed by initial investment, sufficient training

of users, gradual implementation and sincere gauging of pacing to build up and sustain a robust system based on technology. In Pakistan use of limited technology during covid-19 pandemic has shown a positive and significant impact on patient safety and quality of care. It has reduced the travelling cost, travelling time, helped for getting faster lab results, immediate accessibility of medical information to doctor and patient for timely diagnosis and start of therapy. The knowledge and awareness of people must be enhanced regarding the importance to adopt information technology.¹³ Some challenges prevailing in Pakistan are also recognized which include limited availability of internet facilities, cell phone ownership, network coverage, non-availability of regulatory frameworks, regulations for data protection and security,¹⁴accessibility, affordability and last but not the least the habit of using paper-based health records.¹⁵

Despite of all these challenges healthcare information technology must be adopted with an affordable and feasible framework suitable for our country to ameliorate the patient care and safety.

Healthcare and information technology professionals, pharmaceuticals and NGOs should play their role in developing this framework. Whereas due addressing by Governmental sectors in this context is the need of today in the vested health care interest of the people linked with economy of Pakistan.

Authors Contribution:

Nasim Karim: Substantial contributions to the conception criticaly evaluation of intellectual content, final approval of

the version to be published.

REFERENCES:

- MedicineNet. Medical Definition of Patient. Medical Editor: Melissa Conrad Stöppler. Reviewed on 3/29/2021. Accessed on 17 August 2021
- 2. Dorland's Illustrated Medical Dictionary, 28th ed., p. 269.
- Philip FK, Tosin AJ, Siobhan O, Petra AW, Joseph G, Christopher C, et.al. BMJ Open. 2019; 9 (3): e024722-:-26.
- 4. YK, F. The impact of health information technology on patient safety 2017; 38(12): 1173–80.
- Computerized Provider Order Entry. Agency for Healthcare Quality & Research. Available from: . Accessed on 18th August 2021.
- Clinical Decision Support (CDS). Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology. Available from: . Accessed on 18th August 2021.
- Klersy C, Boriani G, De Silvestri A, Mairesse GH, Braunschweig F, Scotti V, et al. Effect of telemonitoring of cardiac implantable electronic devices on healthcare utilization: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials in patients with heart failure. Eur J Heart Fail.2016;18:195-204.

- Cheung A, van Velden FHP, Lagerburg V, Minderman N. The organizational and clinical impact of integrating bedside equipment to an information system: a systematic literature review of patient data management systems (PDMS) Int J Med Inform.2015;84:155-165.
- 9. Daniel H, Sulmasy L S. Physicians for the H and PPC of the AC of Policy recommendations to guide the use of telemedicine in primary care settings: An American college of physicians position paper. Ann Intern Med.2015;163:787-789.
- Stavropoulou C, Doherty C, Tosey P. How effective are incident-reporting systems for improving patient safety? Milbank Q .2015;93:826-866.
- Christian H, Listya U, Budi RP, Brian Y, Setyo P, Syed SJZ et al. Review-The Development of Wearable Polymer-Based Sensors: Perspectives". Journal of the Electrochemical Society. 2020;167 (3): 037566. arXiv:2003.00956. doi:10.1149/1945-7111/ab697c.

- Vasilis Bouronikos. Importance of Technology in Healthcare.17 November, 2020. Institute of entrepreneurship development. Accessed 19th August 2021
- Ijaz F, Chaudhry NI. Impact of Health Information Technology Adoption and its Drivers on Quality of Care & Patient Safety in the Health Care Sector of Pakistan. Pak J Commer Soc Sci. 2021; 15 (1): 196-212
- Ud Din, I., Xue, M. C., Abdullah, Ali, S., Shah, T., & Ilyas, A. (2017). Role of information & communication technology (ICT) and e-governance in the health sector of Pakistan: A case study of Peshawar. Cogent Social Sciences, 3(1), 1308051.
- Kazi AM, Qazi SA, Ahsan N, Khawaja S, Sameen F, Saqib M et al. Current Challenges of Digital Health Interventions in Pakistan. J Med Internet Res 2020;22(9) :e21691- e21705

•••• ★••••

Transition from Conventional Teaching to Remote Setting in Health Education

Hajra Asghar, Kulsoom Fatima Rizvi

How to cite this Article:

Asghar H, Rizvi KF. Transition from Conventional Teaching to Remote Setting in Health Education J Bahria Uni Med Dental Coll. 2021; 11(4): 190. DOI: https://doi.org/10.51985/JBUMDC2021075

This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License (http:// creativecommons/org/licences/by-nc/4.0) which permits unrestricted non commercial use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Dear Editor,

The global pandemic has introduced uncertainty in almost all aspects of society; similarly it has caused a drastic transformation in the education field. The way student's learn and the way knowledge is being delivered to them has all changed, as a result, education has been affected dramatically.¹

Though this mode of online teaching results in healthy active interactions between students and their instructors contributing to critical thinking, problem solving attitude and hence better understanding of topics. The main advantage of this kind of hybrid learning is that students become selfdirected learners by high quality learning on their own irrespective of time. They are taking notes by their own and trying to get maximum benefits from this opportunity. With the distinctive rise of e-learning, everyone is striving to learn the technological transformation as to learn more efficiently in remote setting. On the other hand the slow learners have to work hard to understand the content which was available virtually. Furthermore despite of continuous access to presentations, course objectives, and recorded class debates round the clock, relatively weak student become more negligent towards attending and participating in remote setting. 2,3

When we talk about online classes and online assessment, we must consider those students who are unable to make it due to unforeseeable circumstances such as absence of technologies, access to internet in remote areas of Pakistan financial and economic reasons. ^{4, 5} This is a notable issue in rural neighborhoods or households where daily wages or monthly income is not enough to make ends meet. Besides this everyone is well aware of third world problems where there is lack of electricity, load-shedding even in urban areas, these situations are not in anyone's control. Thereby online education is a great challenge.

Hajra Asghar Lecturer, Department of Community Dentistry Email: haj.ra97@hotmail.com Bahria University Medical and Dental College, Karachi
Kulsoom Fatima Rizvi Professor Department of Community Dentistry Bahria University Medical and Dental College, Karachi
Received: 30-Sep-2021 Accepted: 10-Oct-2021
Received: 30-Sep-2021 Accepted: 10-Oct-2021

Though, technology has made educational process available at door steps during pandemic. In this regard, training of faculties and students had played significant role to make it more user friendly. It should not be forgotten that senior faculties who were not familiar with these educational innovations prior to pandemic, worked really hard to become well versed with latest gadgets as to deliver teaching effectively. To deliver the education in hybrid mode, it is utmost important to realize that clinical part of the curriculum which cannot be instructed in remote setting such as procedures being performed in real patient settings.³

In a nut-shell transition from conventional teaching method to online teaching has brought immense challenges for both teachers and students, each has its own pros and cons as one size does not fits all. We should not ignore the importance of clinical content which can only be delivered face to face. As undergraduate curriculum make today's learners to tomorrow's doctor. Consistent evaluation and continuous amendment is significant to make the remote teaching more effective in every aspect of curriculum.

Authors Contribution:

Hajra Asghar: Substantial contributions to the conception

Kulsoom Fatima Rizvi: Proofreading

REFERENCES:

- Alghamdi, A. A. (2021a). Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the social and educational aspects of Saudi university students' lives. PLOS ONE, 16(4), e0250026. DOI: https://doi .org/10.1371 /journal.pone.0250026
- Gopal, R., Singh, V., & Aggarwal, A. (2021). Impact of online classes on the satisfaction and performance of students during the pandemic period of COVID 19. Education and Information Technologies. Published. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10639-021-10523-1
- Chadwick, R., & McLoughlin, E. (2021). Impact of the COVID-19 crisis on learning, teaching and facilitation of practical activities in science upon reopening of Irish schools. Irish Educational Studies, 40(2), 197–205. DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.1080/03323315.2021.1915838
- Subramaniam, R., Singh, S. P., Padmanabhan, P., Gulyás, B., Palakkeel, P., & Sreedharan, R. (2021). Positive and Negative Impacts of COVID-19 in Digital Transformation. Sustainability, 13(16), 9470. DOI: https://doi.org/10.3390/ su13169470
- The Impact of COVID-19 Pandemic on Modes of Teaching Science in UAE Schools. (2020). Journal of Education and Practice. Published. DOI: https://doi.org/10.7176/jep/11-20-13

Author Index Volume 11

11(2):93-95 Abbasi MS, The Concepts of Complete Denture Occlusion amongst Dental Fraternity, 11(2):65-69 Abbasi SH, Comparison of Early Versus Delayed Showering on Post-Operative Wound Infections, 11(3):125-128 Ahmad A, Rectal Duplication Cyst Mimicking Rectal Prolapse, 11(1):44-45 Ahmad A, Intussusception Presenting as Rectal Prolapse, 11(3):136-137 Ahmad A, See Hussain SM, 11(4):165-167 Ahmad H, See Ali K, 11(4):184-186 Ahmad N, See Ahmed A, 11(1):44-45 Ahmad N, See Ahmad A, 11(3):136-137 Ahmed H, See Rasul S, 11(4):148-152 Ahmed N, See Saleem MKM, 11(1):35-39 Ahmed N, See Ahmed MS, 11(2):65-69 Ahmed N, See Jerani A, 11(2):70-75 Ahmed N, See Perveen K, 11(3):112-115 Ahmed S, See Zulfigar HM, 11(3):121-124 Ahmed SA, Evaluation of Quality of Root Canal Obturation, Coronal Restoration and Periapical Health in Failed Endodontically Treated Teeth, 11(2):54-59 Ahmed U, See Anwar E, 11(2):87-92 Ahmed Z, See Khan EB, 11(3):107-111 Alam M, See Alam M, 11(4):179-183 Alam SP, See Waheed A, 11(1):22-26 Ali AB, See Saeed S, 11(2):76-80 Ali H, See Munir M, 11(1):17-21 Ali K, Primary Renal Lymphoma – A Challenging Diagnosis, 11(4):184-186 Ali M, See Rasul S, 11(4):148-152

Α

Abbas B, See Abbas S, 11(3):140-141

Abbas S, Covid-19 Vaccination and

Immunization Barriers in Pakistan,

Abbasi H, Obturation of A Mandibular

2nd Molar with the Help of Ultrasonic

Irrigation to Clean the Lateral Canal,

11(3):140-141

Amin MS, See Shahid S, 11(1):27-30 Amir ZU, See Zulfiqar HM, 11(3):121-124 Anis A, See Saeed S, 11(2):76-80 Anvekar P, An Abridgement on Curcumin Potentials for Covid-19 Treatment- A Miracle Drug?, 11(3):138-139 Anwar E, The Impact of Religious and Cultural Beliefs Towards Immunization in Pakistan, 11(2):87-92 Anwar H, See Khan A, 11(1):04-08 Anwar S, See Ahmed SA, 11(2):54-59 Arif A, See Baqir SR, 11(1):46 Asghar H, Transition from Conventional Teaching to Remote Setting in Health Education, 11(4):190 Ashfaq S, See Alam M, 11(4):179-183 Azad AA, See Ahmed MS, 11(2):65-69

B

Bakhat S, Characteristic Features of SARS CoV-2, 11(3):129-135 Bana KF, Capacity Building Indicators for Faculty Development Programs, 11(2):47-49

Baqir SR, Online Learning is a Way Forward During Pandemic, 11(1):46 Baseer A, See Jerani A, 11(2):70-75 Basit A, See Abbassi SH, 11(3):125-128

Bhatt OA, See Heer E, 11(4):168-173 Bhutta MM, See Ali K, 11(4):184-186 Bukhari KHS, See Shahid S, 11(1):27-30 Bukhari S, See Khan MA, 11(1):09-12

С

Choudary OF, See Saleem J, 11(4):158-164

D

Daudpota H, See Ahmed MS, 11(2):65-69 Dawani S, See Rasul S, 11(4):148-152

Devi P, See Jerani A, 11(2):70-75 Draz MU, See Alam M, 11(4):179-183

E

Effendi FN, See Thaver I, 11(1):01-03 F

Fakhir SD, Is Covid-19 vaccine truly

the miracle drug the world was waiting for?, 11(2):96-98 Farhat A, See Khan A, 11(1):04-08 Farooq M, See Ahmed MS, 11(2):65-69 Farooq M, See Abbassi SH, 11(3):125-

128 Farooqui MA, See Zulfiqar HM, 11(3):121-124

Fatima RE, See Saleem J, 11(4):158-164

Fatima S, See Khan EB, 11(3):107-111

Fouad F, See Ahmed MS, 11(2):65-69

G

Gardezi SAB, See Gardezi SAB, 11(3):116-120 Ghandhi D, See Saleem MKM, 11(1):35-39 Gul I, See Kakar MS, 11(2):60-64

Η

Hameed A, See Fakhir SD, 11(2):96-98

Hameed M, See Jerani A, 11(2):70-75

Haq I, See Ahmed SA, 11(2):54-59 Harjani P, See Kumar N, 11(4):144-147

Heer E, Interest and Attitudes of Medical, Dental Students and Graduates Towards Pursuing Career in Basic Sciences, 11(4):168-173 Hoor T, See Bana KF, 11(2):47-49 Hoor T, See Ishrat S, 11(3):102-106 Hussain S, See Rasul S, 11(4):148-152 Hussain SM, Mirizzi Syndrome: An Experience in Laparoscopic Era, 11(4):165-167

Ι

Imran A, See Khattak SN, 11(4):174-178 Inayat A, See Zafar D, 11(2):99 Iqbal UA, See Zafar D, 11(2):99 Irfan AB, See Ahmed MS, 11(2):65-69

Irfan R, See Rashid M, 11(2):81-86 Irshad Z, See Gardezi SAB, 11(3):116-120 Ishrat S, Impact of Vitamin C as an Adjuvant Agent on Glycemic Indices in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus: Randomized Clinical Trial, 11(3):102-106

Ali S, See Rasul S, 11(4):148-152

Islam M, See Ali K, 11(4):184-186 Islam S, See Hussain SM, 11(4):165-167

J

Jafferi S, See Rasul S, 11(4):148-152 Jaffri MSA, See Ishrat S, 11(3):102-106

Jaffri SA, See Munir M, 11(1):17-21 Jalal U, See Kakar MS, 11(2):60-64 Jam I, See Naseeb S, 11(4):153-157 Jamal N, See Kazmi S, 11(1):40-43 Javed R, See Anwar E, 11(2):87-92 Jesrani A, Diagnostic Accuracy of Elastography in Differentiating Benign from Malignant Thyroid Nodules Taking Fine Needle Aspiration Cytology as Gold Standard, 11(2):70-75

Jouhar R, See Abbasi H, 11(2):93-95 Junejo S, See Ishrat S, 11(3):102-106

K

Kakar MS, The Emotional Burden of COVID 19 in Frontline Health Care Workers at A Tertiary Care Hospital in Pakistan, 11(2):60-64 Kamran S, Comparison of Andragogical and Traditional Teaching Methods in Forensic Medicine: on the Basis of Assessment Tools, 11(1):31-34

Karar E, See Ahmed A, 11(1):44-45 Karar E, See Saleem J, 11(4):158-164 Karim N, Ameliorate Patient Care and Safety with Technology, 11(4):187-189

Kazmi S, PD-L1 in Breast Cancers and its Prognostic Significance, 11(1):40-43

Khalid F, See Khan U, 11(2):50-53 Khan A, Phototherapy Induced Hypocalcemia in Neonates with Unconjugated Hyperbilirubinemia, 11(1):04-08

Khan EB, Impact of COVID-19 Lockdowns on Patients Undergoing Orthodontic Treatment, 11(3):107-111 Khan H, Correlation of Maternal Hemoglobin with Birth Weight: A Hospital Based Study, 11(1):13-16 Khan H, See Kamran S, 11(1):31-34 Khan HS, See Ali K, 11(4):184-186 Khan I, See Khan A, 11(1):04-08 Khan IA, See Waheed A, 11(1):22-26 Khan K, See Khan H, 11(1):13-16 Khan MA, Efficacy of Ahmed Glaucoma Valve and Trabeculectomy With Mitomycin-C in Pediatric Glaucoma, 11(1):09-12 Khan MA, See Khan MA, 11(1):09-12 Khan MS, See Kamran S, 11(1):31-34 Khan RI, See Shahid S, 11(1):27-30 Khan S, See Khan EB, 11(3):107-111 Khan U, Diagnostic Accuracy of High-Resolution CT in Early Diagnosis of COVID-19 Patients with Comparison to Reverse Transcriptase-PCR, 11(2):50-53 Khan WA, See Kakar MS, 11(2):60-64 Khan, , ZA, See Khan MA, 11(1):09-12 Khattak AL, See Shahid S, 11(1):27-30 Khattak MI, See Khattak SN, 11(4):174-178 Khattak SN, Outcomes of Gestational Diabetes Mellitus in Pakistani Mothers: An Experience of a Tertiary Care Hospital, 11(4):174-178 Khurshid IK, See Gardezi SAB, 11(3):116-120 Kumar M, See Anvekar P, 11(3):138-139 Kumar N, Clinical Effects of Amoxicillin-clavulanate to Calcium Hydroxide as Intracanal Medicament

Amoxicillin-clavulanate to Calcium Hydroxide as Intracanal Medicament on Inter appointment Pain in Cases of Symptomatic Apical Periodontitis, 11(4):144-147 Kumar R, See Kumar N, 11(4):144-

Kumar R, See Kumar N, 11(4):144-147

Kumari P, See Naseeb S, 11(4):153-157

L

Lal A, See Saleem MKM, 11(1):35-39 Lal A, See Abbasi H, 11(2):93-95 Lateef M, See Ishrat S, 11(3):102-106 Lohana P, See Anvekar P, 11(3):138-139

Μ

Mahar Y, See Anwar E, 11(2):87-92 Mansoor K, See Khattak SN, 11(4):174-178 Maqbool MS, Anaesthesia Concern in High-Risk Cases Under-Going

Ambulatory Laparoscopic Cholecystectomy, 11(4):179-183 Masood S, See Saleem MKM, 11(1):35-39 Mehmood T, See Perveen K, 11(3):112-115 Memon AN, See Khattak SN, 11(4):174-178 Memon KM, See Munir M, 11(1):17-21 Mengal M, See Khan MA, 11(1):09-12 Mooghal MMB, See Ahmad A, 11(3):136-137 Mughal MA, See Hussain SM, 11(4):165-167 Munir M, Effect of Ginger-Naproxen on Knee Osteoarthritis: A Clinical Study, 11(1):17-21 Mushtaque F, See Ali K, 11(4):184-186 Mustafa N, See Kamran S, 11(1):31-34

N

Naseeb S, An Audit of Maternal Mortality at a Tertiary Care Hospital, 11(4):153-157 Nezam S, See Waheed A, 11(1):22-26 Noor S, See Rashid M, 11(2):81-86

oor S, See Rashid M, 11(2):81-80

Р

Panezai AK, See Khan MA, 11(1):09-12

Panzai AK, See Khan MA, 11(1):09-12

Perveen K, Refractive Error in Juvenile Patients Presenting with Nystagmus at Tertiary Care Hospital of Karachi, 11(3):112-115

Perveen K, See Perveen K, 11(3):112-115

R

Ram H, See Waheed A, 11(1):22-26 Rashid H, See Khan U, 11(2):50-53 Rashid M, Dietary Habits, Perceptions and Barriers Among Government and Private College Intermediate Students in Karachi: A Cross-Sectional Survey, 11(2):81-86

Rasul S, Post-operative Pain Outcomes of Laparoscopic Ventral Hernia Repair (LVHR): An eight-year experience, 11(4):148-152

Rathore FA, See Saleem J, 11(4):158-

164

Rauf S, See Kakar MS, 11(2):60-64 Rehman A, See Khan U, 11(2):50-53 Rehman MU, See Khan A, 11(1):04-08

Riaz H, See Khan H, 11(1):13-16 Rizvi KF, See Bana KF, 11(2):47-49 Rizvi KF, See Asghar H, 11(4):190

S

Saadat S, See Heer E, 11(4):168-173 Saeed S, E-Learning Experience of Medical and Dental Students from Private Colleges of Karachi, During COVID-19, 11(2):76-80 Saeeduddin F, See Anwar E, 11(2):87-92

Sajjad B, See Saeed S, 11(2):76-80 Salam KA, See Rashid M, 11(2):81-86

Saleem I, See Ahmed A, 11(1):44-45 Saleem I, See Ahmad A, 11(3):136-137

Saleem I, See Hussain SM, 11(4):165-167

Saleem J,Assessment of Knowledge and Practices of Wearing Medical Masks and Respirators during COVID-19 Pandemic, 11(4):158-164

Saleem MKM, Perception of Halitosis among General Population, 11(1):35-39

Salman S, See Anwar E, 11(2):87-92 Saqib M, See Abbasi H, 11(2):93-95 Shah AH, See Khattak SN, 11(4):174-178 Shah B, See Saeed S, 11(2):76-80 Shah FH, See Abbassi SH, 11(3):125-

128 Shah M, See Khan EB, 11(3):107-111 Shahid A, See Saeed S, 11(2):76-80 Shahid A, See Alam M, 11(4):179-183 Shahid F, See Thaver I, 11(1):01-03 Shahid S, Asymptomatic Carotid Artery Stenosis among Patients with Type II Diabetes Mellitus, 11(1):27-30 Shaikh FM, See Saleem J, 11(4):158-164 Shaikh W, See Kamran S, 11(1):31-34 Shamim S, See Khan A, 11(1):04-08 Shams M, See Gardezi SAB, 11(3):116-120 Sharif S, See Khan U, 11(2):50-53 Shawana S, See Kazmi S, 11(1):40-43 Shawanna S, Diagnostic Pathology in the Era of Precision Medicine, 11(3):100-101 Shehzadi N, See Khan H, 11(1):13-16 Siddique A, See Rashid M, 11(2):81-86 Siddiqui JA, See Kamran S, 11(1):31-34 Sitai AA, See Saleem MKM, 11(1):35-39 Sunia, See Khan EB, 11(3):107-111

Suresh S, See Kumar N, 11(4):144-147

Т

Taj Y, See Shawana, 11(3):100-101 Taj Y, See Bakhat S, 11(3):129-135 Talpur MGA, See Waheed A, 11(1):22-26 Thaver I, COVID19 - A Daredevil or A Blessing In Disguise, 11(1):01-03

U

Udaipurwala IH, Covid-19: A New Cause for Taste and Smell Dysfunction, 11(4):142-143 Uddin R, See Shahid S, 11(1):27-30

W

Waheed A, Factors Associated with Sodomy Cases at a Tertiary Care Hospital of Karachi, 11(1):22-26

V

Yasmin H, See Naseeb S, 11(4):153-157

Z

Zafar D, Importance of Mobile Photography in Dental Practice, 11(2):99

Zahid S, See Rasul S, 11(4):148-152 Zareen S, See Gardezi SAB, 11(3):116-120

Zehra T, Frequency and Spectrum of Non-Malignant Lesions in Abdominal Hysterectomy Specimens, 11(3):116-120

Zulfiqar HM, Outcome of Early Removal of Urinary Catheter after Transurethral Resection of Prostate (TUR-P), 11(3):121-124

Subject Index Volume 11

Α

ABDOMINAL HYSTERECTOMY Frequency and Spectrum of Non-Malignant Lesions in Abdominal Hysterectomy Specimens, (Zehra T, et. al), 11(3):116-120 ABRIDGEMENT An Abridgement on Curcumin Potentials for Covid-19 Treatment- A Miracle Drug?, (Anvekar P, et. al), 11(3):138-139 ACCURACY Diagnostic Accuracy of Elastography in Differentiating Benign from Malignant Thyroid Nodules Taking Fine Needle Aspiration Cytology as Gold Standard, (Jesrani A, et. al), 11(2):70-75 ADVERSE Outcomes of Gestational Diabetes Mellitus in Pakistani Mothers: An Experience of a Tertiary Care Hospital, (Khattak SN, et. al), 11(4):174-178 AGENT Impact of Vitamin C as an Adjuvant Agent on Glycemic Indices in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus: Randomized Clinical Trial, (Ishrat S, et. al), 11(3):102-106 AMBULATORY Anaesthesia Concern in High-Risk Cases Under-Going Ambulatory Laparoscopic Cholecystectomy, (Maqbool MS, et. al), 11(4):179-183 AMELIORATE Ameliorate Patient Care and Safety with Technology, (Karim N, et. al), 11(4):187-189 ANAESTHESIA Anaesthesia Concern in High-Risk Cases Under-Going Ambulatory Laparoscopic Cholecystectomy, (Maqbool MS, et. al), 11(4):179-183 ANDRAGOGICAL Comparison of Andragogical and Traditional Teaching Methods in Forensic Medicine: on the Basis of Assessment Tools, (Kamran S, et. al), 11(1):31-34

ASYMPTOMATIC

Asymptomatic Carotid Artery Stenosis among Patients with Type II Diabetes Mellitus, (Shahid S, et. al), 11(1):27-30

ATTITUDES

Interest and Attitudes of Medical, Dental Students and Graduates Towards Pursuing Career in Basic Sciences, (Heer E, et. al), 11(4):168-173

B

BIRTH Correlation of Maternal Hemoglobin with Birth Weight: A Hospital Based Study, (Khan H, et. al), 11(1):13-16 BLESSING COVID19 - A Daredevil or A Blessing In Disguise, (Thaver I, et. al), 11(1):01-03 BREAST PD-L1 in Breast Cancers and its Prognostic Significance, (Kazmi S, et. al), 11(1):40-43 BUILDING Capacity Building Indicators for Faculty Development Programs, (Bana KF, et. al), 11(2):47-49 **BURDEN** The Emotional Burden of COVID 19 in Frontline Health Care Workers at A Tertiary Care Hospital in Pakistan, (Kakar MS, et. al), 11(2):60-64 С

CALCIUM

Clinical Effects of Amoxicillinclavulanate and Calcium Hydroxide as Intracanal Medicament on Inter appointment Pain among Symptomatic Apical Periodontitis Interappointment Pain in Cases of Symptomatic Apical Periodontitis, (Kumar N, et. al), 11(4):144-147 CANAL Obturation of A Mandibular 2nd Molar with the Help of Ultrasonic Irrigation to Clean the

Lateral Canal, (Abbasi H, et. al), 11(2):93-95

CANCERS

PD-L1 in Breast Cancers and its Prognostic Significance, (Kazmi S, et. al), 11(1):40-43 CHARACTERISTIC Characteristic Features of SARS CoV-2, (Bakhat S, et. al), 11(3):129-135 CHOLECYSTECTOMY Anaesthesia Concern in High-Risk Cases Under-Going Ambulatory Laparoscopic Cholecystectomy, (Maqbool MS, et. al), 11(4):179-183 **CLINICAL** Impact of Vitamin C as an Adjuvant Agent on Glycemic Indices in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus: Randomized Clinical Trial, (Ishrat S, et. al), 11(3):102-106 CONVENTIONAL Transition from Conventional Teaching to Remote Setting in Health Education, (Asghar H, et. al), 11(4):190 COVID 19 The Emotional Burden of COVID 19 in Frontline Health Care Workers at A Tertiary Care Hospital in Pakistan, (Kakar MS, et. al), 11(2):60-64 COVID-19 Diagnostic Accuracy of High-Resolution CT in Early Diagnosis of COVID-19 Patients with Comparison to Reverse Transcriptase-PCR, (Khan U, et. al), 11(2):50-53 COVID-19 E-Learning Experience of Medical and Dental Students from Private Colleges of Karachi, During COVID-19, (Saeed S, et. al), 11(2):76-80 COVID-19 Covid-19: A New Cause for Taste and Smell Dysfunction, (Udaipurwala IH, et. al), 11(4):142-143 COVID-19 Assessment of Knowledge and Practices of Wearing Medical Masks and Respirators during COVID-19 Pandemic, (Saleem J, et. al), 11(4):158-164

COVID-19

Is Covid-19 vaccine truly the miracle drug the world was waiting for?, (Fakhir SD, et. al), 11(2):96-98 COVID-19 Impact of COVID-19 Lockdowns on Patients Undergoing Orthodontic Treatment, (Khan EB, et. al), 11(3):107-111 COVID-19 An Abridgement on Curcumin Potentials for Covid-19 Treatment-A Miracle Drug?, (Anvekar P, et. al), 11(3):138-139 COVID-19 Covid-19 Vaccination and Immunization Barriers in Pakistan, (Abbas S, et. al), 11(3):140-141 CULTURAL The Impact of Religious and Cultural Beliefs Towards Immunization in Pakistan, (Anwar E, et. al), 11(2):87-

D

DAREDEVIL COVID19 - A Daredevil or A Blessing In Disguise, (Thaver I, et. al), 11(1):01-03

DELAYED

92

Comparison of Early Versus Delayed Showering on Post-Operative Wound Infections, (Abbasi SH, et. al), 11(3):125-128

DENTURE

The Concepts of Complete Denture Occlusion amongst Dental Fraternity, (Abbasi MS, et. al), 11(2):65-69 DEVELOPMENT Capacity Building Indicators for Faculty Development Programs, (Bana KF, et. al), 11(2):47-49

DIABETES

Asymptomatic Carotid Artery Stenosis among Patients with Type II Diabetes Mellitus, (Shahid S, et. al), 11(1):27-30

DIABETES

Impact of Vitamin C as an Adjuvant Agent on Glycemic Indices in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus: Randomized Clinical Trial, (Ishrat S, et. al), 11(3):102-106 DIABETES

Outcomes of Gestational Diabetes Mellitus in Pakistani Mothers: An Experience of a Tertiary Care Hospital, (Khattak SN, et. al), 11(4):174-178 DIAGNOSIS Primary Renal Lymphoma - A Challenging Diagnosis, (Ali K, et. al), 11(4):184-186 DIAGNOSTIC Diagnostic Accuracy of High-Resolution CT in Early Diagnosis of COVID-19 Patients with Comparison to Reverse Transcriptase-PCR, (Khan U, et. al), 11(2):50-53 DIETARY Dietary Habits, Perceptions and Barriers Among Government and Private College Intermediate Students in Karachi: A Cross-Sectional Survey, (Rashid M, et. al), 11(2):81-86 DISGUISE COVID19 - A Daredevil or A Blessing In Disguise, (Thaver I, et. al), 11(1):01-03 DRUG

An Abridgement on Curcumin Potentials for Covid-19 Treatment- A Miracle Drug?, (Anvekar P, et. al),

11(3):138-139 DUPLICATION

Rectal Duplication Cyst Mimicking Rectal Prolapse, (Ahmad A, et. al), 11(1):44-45

E

EARLY

Outcome of Early Removal of Urinary Catheter after Transurethral Resection of Prostate (TUR-P), (Zulfiqar HM, et. al), 11(3):121-124 EARLY Comparison of Early Versus Delayed Showering on Post-Operative Wound Infections, (Abbasi SH, et. al), 11(3):125-128 ELASTOGRAPHY Diagnostic Accuracy of Elastography in Differentiating Benign from Malignant Thyroid Nodules Taking Fine Needle Aspiration Cytology as Gold Standard, (Jesrani A, et. al), 11(2):70-75

E-LEARNING E-Learning Experience of Medical and Dental Students from Private Colleges of Karachi, During COVID-19, (Saeed S, et. al), 11(2):76-80 **ENDODONTICALLY** Evaluation of Quality of Root Canal Obturation, Coronal Restoration and Periapical Health in Failed Endodontically Treated Teeth, (Ahmed SA, et. al), 11(2):54-59 **ERA** Diagnostic Pathology in the Era of Precision Medicine, (Shawanna S, et. al), 11(3):100-101 ERROR **Refractive Error in Juvenile Patients** Presenting with Nystagmus at Tertiary Care Hospital of Karachi, (Perveen K,

et. al), 11(3):112-115

FORENSIC

Comparison of Andragogical and Traditional Teaching Methods in Forensic Medicine: on the Basis of Assessment Tools, (Kamran S, et. al), 11(1):31-34

F

FRATERNITY

The Concepts of Complete Denture Occlusion amongst Dental Fraternity, (Abbasi MS, et. al), 11(2):65-69 FREQUENCY

Frequency and Spectrum of Non-Malignant Lesions in Abdominal Hysterectomy Specimens, (Zehra T, et. al), 11(3):116-120

G

GESTATIONAL Outcomes of Gestational Diabetes Mellitus in Pakistani Mothers: An Experience of a Tertiary Care Hospital, (Khattak SN, et. al), 11(4):174-178 GINGER Effect of Ginger-Naproxen on Knee Osteoarthritis: A Clinical Study, (Munir M, et. al), 11(1):17-21 **GLAUCOMA** Efficacy of Ahmed Glaucoma Valve and Trabeculectomy With Mitomycin-C in Pediatric Glaucoma, (Khan MA, et. al), 11(1):09-12

GLAUCOMA

Efficacy of Ahmed Glaucoma Valve and Trabeculectomy With Mitomycin-C in Pediatric Glaucoma, (Khan MA, et. al), 11(1):09-12 GLYCEMIC Impact of Vitamin C as an Adjuvant Agent on Glycemic Indices in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus: Randomized Clinical Trial, (Ishrat S, et. al), 11(3):102-106 GOLD Diagnostic Accuracy of Elastography in Differentiating Benign from

Malignant Thyroid Nodules Taking Fine Needle Aspiration Cytology as Gold Standard, (Jesrani A, et. al), 11(2):70-75 GOVERNMENT

See Rashid M, (Noor S, et. al), 11(2):81-86 H

TOOLO

HALITOSIS Perception of Halitosis among General Population, (Saleem MKM, et. al), 11(1):35-39 HEALTH

The Emotional Burden of COVID 19 in Frontline Health Care Workers at A Tertiary Care

Hospital in Pakistan, (Kakar MS, et. al), 11(2):60-64

HEALTH EDUCATION

Transition from Conventional Teaching to Remote Setting in Health Education, (Asghar H, et. al), 11(4):190 HEMOGLOBIN

Correlation of Maternal Hemoglobin with Birth Weight: A Hospital Based Study, (Khan H, et. al), 11(1):13-16 HERNIA

Post-operative Pain Outcomes of Laparoscopic Ventral Hernia Repair (LVHR): An eight-year experience, (Rasul S, et. al), 11(4):148-152 HIGH-RISK

Anaesthesia Concern in High-Risk Cases Under-Going Ambulatory Laparoscopic Cholecystectomy, (Maqbool MS, et. al), 11(4):179-183 HOSPITAL

Correlation of Maternal Hemoglobin

with Birth Weight: A Hospital Based Study, (Khan H, et. al), 11(1):13-16 HYPERBILIRUBINEMIA Phototherapy Induced Hypocalcemia in Neonates with Unconjugated Hyperbilirubinemia, (Khan A, et. al), 11(1):04-08 HYPOCALCEMIA Phototherapy Induced Hypocalcemia in Neonates with Unconjugated Hyperbilirubinemia, (Khan A, et. al), 11(1):04-08 IMMUNIZATION The Impact of Religious and Cultural Beliefs Towards Immunization in Parkisten (Anwar E, et. al), 11(2):87

Beliefs Towards Immunization in Pakistan, (Anwar E, et. al), 11(2):87-92 I

a

INFECTIONS Comparison of Early Versus Delayed Showering on Post-Operative Wound Infections, (Abbasi SH, et. al), 11(3):125-128 INTUSSUSCEPTION Intussusception Presenting as Rectal Prolapse, (Ahmad A, et. al), 11(3):136-137

J

JUVENILE Refractive Error in Juvenile Patients Presenting with Nystagmus at Tertiary Care Hospital of Karachi, (Perveen K, et. al), 11(3):112-115

Κ

KARACHI

Factors Associated with Sodomy Cases at a Tertiary Care Hospital of Karachi, (Waheed A, et. al), 11(1):22-26 KNEE Effect of Ginger-Naproxen on Knee Osteoarthritis: A Clinical Study, (Munir M, et. al), 11(1):17-21

L

LAPAROSCOPIC

Post-operative Pain Outcomes of Laparoscopic Ventral Hernia Repair (LVHR): An eight-year experience, (Rasul S, et. al), 11(4):148-152

LAPAROSCOPIC

Mirizzi Syndrome: An Experience in Laparoscopic Era, (Hussain SM, et. al), 11(4):165-167

LAPAROSCOPIC

Anaesthesia Concern in High-Risk Cases Under-Going Ambulatory Laparoscopic Cholecystectomy, (Maqbool MS, et. al), 11(4):179-183 LEARNING Online Learning is a Way Forward During Pandemic, (Baqir SR, et. al), 11(1):46 LOCKDOWNS Impact of COVID-19 Lockdowns on Patients Undergoing Orthodontic Treatment, (Khan EB, et. al), 11(3):107-111 LYMPHOMA Primary Renal Lymphoma - A Challenging Diagnosis, (Ali K, et. al), 11(4):184-186

Μ

MANDIBULAR Obturation of A Mandibular 2nd Molar with the Help of Ultrasonic Irrigation to Clean the Lateral Canal, (Abbasi H, et. al),

Lateral Canal, (Abbasi H, et. al), 11(2):93-95

MATERNAL

Correlation of Maternal Hemoglobin with Birth Weight: A Hospital Based Study, (Khan H, et. al), 11(1):13-16 MATERNAL

An Audit of Maternal Mortality at a Tertiary Care Hospital, (Naseeb S, et. al), 11(4):153-157

MEDICINE

Comparison of Andragogical and Traditional Teaching Methods in Forensic Medicine: on the Basis of Assessment Tools, (Kamran S, et. al), 11(1):31-34

MEDICINE

Diagnostic Pathology in the Era of Precision Medicine, (Shawanna S, et. al), 11(3):100-101

MELLITUS

Asymptomatic Carotid Artery Stenosis among Patients with Type II Diabetes Mellitus, (Shahid S, et. al), 11(1):27-30

MELLITUS

Outcomes of Gestational Diabetes Mellitus in Pakistani Mothers: An Experience of a Tertiary Subject Index

Care Hospital, (Khattak SN, et. al), 11(4):174-178 MIMICKING **Rectal Duplication Cyst Mimicking** Rectal Prolapse, (Ahmad A, et. al), 11(1):44-45 MIRACLE Is Covid-19 vaccine truly the miracle drug the world was waiting for?, (Fakhir SD, et. al), 11(2):96-98 MIRIZZI Mirizzi Syndrome: An Experience in Laparoscopic Era, (Hussain SM, et. al), 11(4):165-167 MITOMYCIN-C Efficacy of Ahmed Glaucoma Valve and Trabeculectomy With Mitomycin-C in Pediatric Glaucoma, (Khan MA, et. al), 11(1):09-12 MOBILE Importance of Mobile Photography in Dental Practice, (Zafar D, et. al), 11(2):99 MORTALITY An Audit of Maternal Mortality at a Tertiary Care Hospital, (Naseeb S, et. al), 11(4):153-157 Ν **NEONATES** Phototherapy Induced Hypocalcemia in Neonates with Unconjugated Hyperbilirubinemia, (Khan A, et. al), 11(1):04-08 **NODULES** Diagnostic Accuracy of Elastography in Differentiating Benign from Malignant Thyroid Nodules Taking Fine Needle Aspiration Cytology as Gold Standard, (Jesrani A, et. al), 11(2):70-75 NON-MALIGNANT Frequency and Spectrum of Non-Malignant Lesions in Abdominal Hysterectomy Specimens, (Zehra T, et. al), 11(3):116-120 NYSTAGMUS **Refractive Error in Juvenile Patients** Presenting with Nystagmus at Tertiary Care Hospital of Karachi, (Perveen K, et. al), 11(3):112-115 0 OBTURATION Obturation of A Mandibular 2nd Molar with the Help of Ultrasonic Irrigation to Clean the Lateral Canal, (Abbasi H, et. al), 11(2):93-95 OCCLUSION The Concepts of Complete Denture Occlusion amongst Dental Fraternity, (Abbasi MS, et. al), 11(2):65-69 ORTHODONTIC Impact of COVID-19 Lockdowns on Patients Undergoing Orthodontic Treatment, (Khan EB, et. al), 11(3):107-111 OSTEOARTHRITIS Effect of Ginger-Naproxen on Knee Osteoarthritis: A Clinical Study, (Munir M, et. al), 11(1):17-21

Р

PAIN

Clinical Effects of Amoxicillinclavulanate and Calcium Hydroxide as Intracanal Medicament on Inter appointment Pain among Symptomatic Apical Periodontitis Interappointment Pain in Cases of Symptomatic Apical Periodontitis, (Kumar N, et. al), 11(4):144-147

PAIN

Post-operative Pain Outcomes of Laparoscopic Ventral Hernia Repair (LVHR): An eight-year experience, (Rasul S, et. al), 11(4):148-152 PANDEMIC

Online Learning is a Way Forward During Pandemic, (Baqir SR, et. al), 11(1):46

PANDEMIC

Assessment of Knowledge and Practices of Wearing Medical Masks and Respirators during COVID-19 Pandemic, (Saleem J, et. al), 11(4):158-164

PEDIATRIC

Efficacy of Ahmed Glaucoma Valve and Trabeculectomy With Mitomycin-C in Pediatric Glaucoma, (Khan MA, et. al), 11(1):09-12

PHOTOGRAPHY

Importance of Mobile Photography in Dental Practice, (Zafar D, et. al),

11(2):99

PHOTOTHERAPY

Phototherapy Induced Hypocalcemia in Neonates with Unconjugated Hyperbilirubinemia, (Khan A, et. al), 11(1):04-08

POPULATION

Perception of Halitosis among General Population, (Saleem MKM, et. al), 11(1):35-39 PRIMARY Primary Renal Lymphoma – A

Challenging Diagnosis, (Ali K, et. al), 11(4):184-186

PROGNOSTIC

PD-L1 in Breast Cancers and its Prognostic Significance, (Kazmi S, et. al), 11(1):40-43 PROSTATE

Outcome of Early Removal of Urinary Catheter after Transurethral Resection of Prostate (TUR-P), (Zulfiqar HM, et. al), 11(3):121-124

Q

QUALITY Evaluation of Quality of Root Canal Obturation, Coronal Restoration and

Periapical Health

in Failed Endodontically Treated Teeth, (Ahmed SA, et. al), 11(2):54-59

R

RECTAL PROLAPSE Intussusception Presenting as Rectal Prolapse, (Ahmad A, et. al), 11(3):136-137

RELIGIOUS

The Impact of Religious and Cultural Beliefs Towards Immunization in Pakistan, (Anwar E, et. al), 11(2):87-92

RESTORATION

Evaluation of Quality of Root Canal Obturation, Coronal Restoration and Periapical Health in Failed Endodontically Treated Teeth, (Ahmed SA, et. al), 11(2):54-59 ROOT CANAL

Evaluation of Quality of Root Canal Obturation, Coronal Restoration and Periapical Health in Failed Endodontically Treated Teeth, (Ahmed SA, et. al), 11(2):54-59

S

SMELL

Covid-19: A New Cause for Taste and Smell Dysfunction, (Udaipurwala IH, et. al), 11(4):142-143 SODOMY Factors Associated with Sodomy Cases

Factors Associated with Sodomy Cases at a Tertiary Care Hospital of Karachi,

(Waheed A, et. al), 11(1):22-26 SPECTRUM Frequency and Spectrum of Non-Malignant Lesions in Abdominal Hysterectomy Specimens, (Zehra T, et. al), 11(3):116-120 **STENOSIS** Asymptomatic Carotid Artery Stenosis among Patients with Type II Diabetes Mellitus, (Shahid S, et. al), 11(1):27-30 **STUDY** Correlation of Maternal Hemoglobin with Birth Weight: A Hospital Based Study, (Khan H, et. al), 11(1):13-16 **STUDY** Effect of Ginger-Naproxen on Knee Osteoarthritis: A Clinical Study, (Munir M, et. al), 11(1):17-21 SYMPTOMATIC APICAL Clinical Effects of Amoxicillinclavulanate and Calcium Hydroxide as Intracanal Medicament on Inter appointment Pain among Symptomatic Apical Periodontitis Interappointment Pain in Cases of Symptomatic Apical Periodontitis, (Kumar N, et. al), 11(4):144-147 Т TASTE Covid-19: A New Cause for Taste and Smell Dysfunction, (Udaipurwala IH, et. al), 11(4):142-143

TEACHING

Comparison of Andragogical and Traditional Teaching Methods in Forensic Medicine: on the Basis of

Assessment Tools, (Kamran S, et. al), 11(1):31-34 TECHNOLOGY Ameliorate Patient Care and Safety with Technology, (Karim N, et. al), 11(4):187-189 TEETH Evaluation of Quality of Root Canal Obturation, Coronal Restoration and Periapical Health in Failed Endodontically Treated Teeth, (Ahmed SA, et. al), 11(2):54-59 THYROID Diagnostic Accuracy of Elastography in Differentiating Benign from Malignant Thyroid Nodules Taking Fine Needle Aspiration Cytology as Gold Standard, (Jesrani A, et. al), 11(2):70-75 TRABECULECTOMY Efficacy of Ahmed Glaucoma Valve and Trabeculectomy With Mitomycin-C in Pediatric Glaucoma, (Khan MA, et. al), 11(1):09-12 TRADITIONAL Comparison of Andragogical and Traditional Teaching Methods in Forensic Medicine: on the Basis of Assessment Tools, (Kamran S, et. al), 11(1):31-34 TRANSCRIPTASE-PCR Diagnostic Accuracy of High-Resolution CT in Early Diagnosis of COVID-19 Patients with Comparison to Reverse Transcriptase-

PCR, (Khan U, et. al), 11(2):50-53

TRANSURETHRAL

Outcome of Early Removal of Urinary Catheter after Transurethral Resection of Prostate (TUR-P), (Zulfiqar HM, et. al), 11(3):121-124 U

ULTRASONIC

Obturation of A Mandibular 2nd Molar with the Help of Ultrasonic Irrigation to Clean the Lateral Canal, (Abbasi H, et. al), 11(2):93-95

v

VACCINATION Covid-19 Vaccination and Immunization Barriers in Pakistan, (Abbas S, et. al), 11(3):140-141 VITAMIN C Impact of Vitamin C as an Adjuvant Agent on Glycemic Indices in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus: Randomized Clinical Trial, (Ishrat S, et. al), 11(3):102-106

W

WEIGHT

Correlation of Maternal Hemoglobin with Birth Weight: A Hospital Based Study, (Khan H, et. al), 11(1):13-16 WOUND

Comparison of Early Versus Delayed Showering on Post-Operative Wound Infections, (Abbasi SH, et. al), 11(3):125-128

Instructions to Author

The Journal of Bahria University Medical and Dental College abbreviated as JBUMDC is a peer reviewed quarterly multidisciplinary biomedical journal of basic and clinical health sciences. It accepts manuscripts prepared in accordance with the "Uniform Requirements for Submission of Manuscripts for Biomedical Journals, updated December 2015", adopted by International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE) & PMDC guidelines for Medical & Dental journals. The Journal will encompass manuscripts from all fields of biomedical sciences in the form of Editorial (Invited/Editor), Original Article, Review Article (narrative reviews and systematic reviews), short communication, Commentary, case study, and letter to editor.

Peer Review Policy:

Every paper will be read by the editor and then will be sent to two reviewers, one internal and one external reviewer. If statistical analysis is included assessment by statistician will be carried out.

Plagiarism:

JBUMDC follows the ICMJE, PMDC and HEC guidelines. Each manuscript will be scrutinized. Plagiarism of the manuscript should be less than 18%.

Preparation of Manuscript:

Type the manuscript on ISO A4 (212×297 mm), with margins of at least 25 mm (1 inch). Type or print on only one side of the paper. Use double spacing throughout the manuscript. Number pages consecutively, beginning with the title page. Put the page number in the lower right-hand corner of each page.

Contents of Manuscript for submission:

Submission items include a Covering letter, letter of undertaking duly signed by all authors, Ethical Review Committee (ERC) Letter, Author's declaration on JBUMDC template stating authors contribution, Title page and the Manuscript [Abstract, Key words, Introduction, Methodology, Results, Discussion, Conclusion, Acknowledgement, Authorship, Conflict of interest, References, Tables, Figures]. Title page should have complete title of the manuscript, along with the short running title, the names of all authors with qualifications, their department, affiliation, telephone number, e-mail, corresponding author, address for correspondence, short running title, source of funding (grant/equipment/drugs), number of figures and tables, total word count, total number of pages. Original manuscript should be of 2500 words excluding abstract and references and the references should be at least 20-25 for original study.

1. Abstract

It should have no more than 150 words for unstructured abstracts or 250 words for structured abstracts. The structured

abstract should include:

Objective, 2) Study design and setting, 3) Methodology,
Result and 5) Conclusion.

[state the purpose of the study (objective), basic procedures (methodology with study design, subjects/animals, place & duration of study, drug/chemical/equipment, procedure or protocol), main findings (results) and conclusion (It should emphasize new and important aspects of the study.)]

Below the abstract provide, 3-10 key words that will assist indexers in cross-indexing the article. The key words should be in alphabetical order.

2. Introduction

State the purpose of the article and summarize the rationale for the study. Give only strictly pertinent references and do not include data or conclusions from the work being reported. At least 10 to 12 references should be included in the introduction. International and national literature review indicating the rational and objective of the study.

3. Methodology:

This section should include a statement indicating that the research was approved by independent local or regional or national review body(eg. Ethics committee, institutional review board) with ERC number. Clearly describe the type of study, selection of observational or experimental participants, including eligibility and exclusion criteria and a description of source population. Identify the age, gender and other characteristics of subjects. Mention the sample size and how it is calculated and the sample technique. Identify the methods, apparatus (give the manufacturer's name and address in parentheses), and procedures in sufficient detail to allow other workers to reproduce the results. Identify precisely all drugs and chemicals used, including generic name(s), dose(s), and route(s) of administration. For randomized clinical trials provide information on all major study elements, including the protocol (study population, interventions or exposures, outcomes, and the rationale for statistical analysis), assignment of interventions (methods of randomization, concealment of allocation to treatment groups), and the method of masking (blinding). Authors submitting review manuscripts should include a section describing the methods used for locating, selecting, extracting, and synthesizing data. These methods should also be summarized in the abstract. Describe statistical methods with enough detail to enable a knowledgeable person with access to the original data to judge its appropriateness for the study and to verify the reported results. When possible, quantify findings and present them with appropriate indicators of measurement error or uncertainty (such as confidence intervals). Define statistical terms, abbreviations, and most symbols. Specify the statistical software package(s) and versions used. Distinguish prespecified from exploratory analyses, including subgroup analyses.

4. Results

Present your results in logical sequence in the text, tables, and illustrations according to the objective of the study. Do not repeat in the text all the data in the tables or illustrations; emphasize or summarize only important observations. Describe appropriate indicators of measurement error or uncertainty such as confidence intervals, P values. Report complications of treatment and dropouts from a clinical trial. Specify any general-use computer programs employed for analysis.

5. Discussion and Conclusion

Emphasize the new and important aspects of the study and the conclusions that follow from them. Do not repeat in detail data or other material given in the Introduction or the Results section. Include in the Discussion section the implications of the findings and their limitations, including implications for future research. Relate the observations to other relevant studies. Link the conclusions with the goals of the study.

6. Acknowledgment

List all contributors who do not meet the criteria for authorship, such as a person who provided purely technical help, writing assistance, or a department chair who provided only general support. Financial and material support should also be acknowledged.

7. Authorship

Authorship credit is based only on the criteria laid down by International committee of Medical Journal Editors (http://www.icmje.org/recommendations/browse/roles-andresponsibilibies/defining-the-role-of-authore-andcontributors. html).1) substantial contributions to conception and design, or acquisition of data, or analysis and interpretation of data; 2) drafting the article or revising it critically for important intellectual content; and 3) final approval of the version to be published. 4) Agreement to be Accountable for all aspects of the work in ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved. All Conditions must be met. Authors should provide a description of what each contributed.

8. Conflict of interest

All authors have to disclose and submit any financial /personnel relationship that might bias and inappropriately influence their work.

9. References

Minimum 50% of the references must be from last five years. Local references must also be included. Vancouver style should be followed. Examples are:

a) Standard journal article

List the first six authors followed by et al. I) Less than 6 authors:

Vega KJ, Pina I, Krevsky B. Heart transplantation is associated with an increased risk for pancreato-biliary disease. Ann Intern Med 1996; 1;124 (11):980-3

II) More than six authors:

Parkin DM, Clayton D, Black RJ, Masuyer E, Friedl HP, Ivanov E, et al. Childhood leukaemia in Europe after Chernobyl: 5 year follow-up. Br J Cancer 1996;73:1006-12

b) Organization as author

The Cardiac Society of Australia and New Zealand. Clinical exercise stress testing. Safety and performance guidelines. Med J Aust 1996; 164: 282-4

c) No author given

Cancer in South Africa [editorial]. S Afr Med J 1994;84:15

d) Chapter in a book

Phillips SJ, Whisnant JP. Hypertension and stroke. In: Laragh

JH, Brenner BM, editors. Hypertension: pathophysiology, diagnosis, and management. 2nd ed. New York: Raven Press; 1995. p. 465-78

e) Newspaper

Hasan Mansoor. Excessive use of drugs creating resistance to antibiotics. The Dawn 2013, 24 June; sect. Metropolitan (col.1-4)

10. Tables

Type or print out each table with double spacing on a separate sheet of paper. Number tables consecutively in the order of their first citation in the text and supply a brief title for each. Give each column a short or abbreviated heading. Place explanatory matter in footnotes. Explain in footnotes all nonstandard abbreviations that are used in each table. Identify statistical measures of variations, such as standard deviation and standard error of the mean. Do not use internal horizontal and vertical rules.

11. Illustrations (Figures)

Figures should be professionally drawn and photographed. Photographic prints $127 \times 173 \text{ mm} (5 \times 7 \text{ inches})$. Photomicro-graphs should have internal scale markers. Symbols, arrows, or letters used in photomicro graphs should contrast with the background. If photographs of people are used, either the subjects must not be identifiable or their pictures must be accompanied by written permission to use the photograph.

Figures should be numbered consecutively according to the order in which they have been first cited in the text. If a figure has been published, acknowledge the original source and submit written permission from the copyright holder to reproduce the material.

Legends for Illustrations

Type or print out legends for illustrations using double spacing, starting on a separate page, with Arabic numerals corresponding to the illustrations. When symbols, arrows, numbers, or letters are used to identify parts of the illustrations, identify and explain each one clearly in the legend. Explain the internal scale and identify the method of staining in photomicrographs.

Units of Measurement

Measurements of length, height, weight, and volume should be reported in metric units. Temperatures in degrees Celsius, Blood pressure in millimeters of mercury and all hematologic and clinical chemistry measurements in the metric system in terms of the International System of Units (SI).

Abbreviations and Symbols

Use only standard abbreviations. Avoid abbreviations in the title and abstract. The full term for which an abbreviation stands should precede its first use in the text unless it is a standard unit of measurement.

Sending the Manuscript to the Journal

Submit manuscript by e-mail: editor.bumdc@bahria.edu.pk

All correspondence regarding submitted manuscripts will be via e-mail.

S No	Type of Article	Abstract type and word count	Key words	Total word	References	Tables	Figures (Max)
1	Editorial	-	-	1000-1500	10-12	-	-
2	Review Article	Unstructured (150)	3-6	3000-3500	40-60	4	2
3	Original Article	Structured (250)	3-10	2500-3000	20-30	4	3
4		1. Original Structured (250)	3-10	2500-3000	20-30	4	3
	Medical Education	2. Review Unstructured (150)	3-6	3000-3500	40-60	4	2
		3. Reproducible work (guide lines, questionnaire)	Mention Source, Accessed on, Retrieval date				
5	Short Communication /Commentary/ Opinions/ Perspective	-	-	1200-1500	15-20	2	1
		1. Original article Structured (250)	3-10	2500-3000	20-30	4	3
6	Student Corner	2. Views/Perspectives/ Opinions Unstructured (150)	3-6	1200-1500	8-10	1	1
7	Case Report	Unstructured (150)	3-5	1200-1300	10-12	1	5
8	Letter to Editor	-	-	400-500	1-5	-	-

JBUMDC Journal of Bahria University Medical & Dental College Peer Reviewed Multidisciplinary Quarterly Published Journal ISSN (print): 2220-7562, ISSN (online): 2617-9482, CODEN: JBUMB7 **Recognized by HEC** Online edition is available at URL: https://jbumdc.bahria.edu.pk, Indexed with Index Medicus for the Eastern Mediterranean Region (IMEMR), https://vlibrary.emro.who.int/journals/jbumdc-journal-of-bahria-university-medical-and-detal-college/ ROAD Directory of Open Access Scholarly Resources at https://portal.issn.org/resource/ISSN/2617-9482 Pakmedinet at www.pakmedinet.com/jbumdc, Google Scholar at https://scholar.google.com.pk/, Crossref at https://doi.org/10.51985/aluu2996 CiteFactor: https://www.citefactor.org/journal/index/27663/journal-of-bahria-universitymedical-and-dental-college#.YNwlqbDiuM8 IJIFACTOR: https://www.ijifactor.com/journaldetails.php?JOURNAL=JIF1318&NAME=Journal%20of%20 Bahria%20University%20Medical%20&%20Dental%20College Advance Science Index: https://journal-index.org/index.php/asi/article/view/9253 Bahira University DSpace Repository at http://111.68.99.22:8080/xmlui/handle/123456789/6388, Pakistan Scientific and Technological Information Center (PASTIC) at http://pastic.gov.pk/

Journal of Bahria University Medical & Dental College is an open access journal and is licensed under CC BY-NC 4.0. which permits unrestricted non commercial use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

To view a copy of this license, visit https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0





Journal of Bahria University Medical & Dental College

Published by Bahria University Medical & Dental College Adjacent PNS SHIFA DHA Phase II Karachi, Pakistan +92-21-35319491-9 ttp://jbumdc.bahria.edu.pk

ይ editor.bumdc@bahria.edu.pk

f https://www.facebook.com/jbumdc/, https://www.facebook.com/journal.bumdc.7